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CORPORATE INFORMATION

INDEPENDENT AUDITOR

Moore Stephens CPA Limited, Certified Public Accountants
Public Interest Entity Auditors

registered in accordance with

the Financial Reporting Council Ordinance

PRINCIPAL BANKERS

Bank of Communications (Hong Kong) Limited
Fubon Bank (Hong Kong) Limited

THE CAYMAN ISLANDS PRINCIPAL SHARE
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Grand Cayman, KY1-1110, Cayman Islands
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P.O. Box 2681, Grand Cayman,
KY1-1111, Cayman Islands

HEAD OFFICE AND PRINCIPAL PLACE OF

BUSINESS IN HONG KONG
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Kwai Chung, Hong Kong

HONG KONG BRANCH SHARE REGISTRAR AND
TRANSFER AGENT

Tricor Investor Services Limited
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183 Queen’s Road East,

Hong Kong

STOCK CODE
932

COMPANY’S WEBSITE
www.shunten.com.hk
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FINANCIAL HIGHLIGHTS
bk 5 1BE 22

HIGHLIGHTS B B

2022
Y-~y
HK$000
T#0
Continuing operations TR R
Revenue i £ 162,993 223,147
Gross profit EBA 112,546 161,448
Loss for the year attributable to owners EN/NEIE ZEWN X ITREEDN] o3
of the Company (43,888) (127,377)

Loss per share attributable to owners of the AN A HEA AL B R 1B
Company (expressed in HK cents per share) (DL s 31 7 )
From continuing and discontinued operations R ASE R O T

Basic HA (1.53) (4.97)

Diluted 7 (1.53) (4.97)
From continuing operations LREEST k- 7

Basic HAR (1.53) (4.91)

Diluted i v (1.53) (4.91)

2022

TR 4R

HK$°000

T

Financial position B R U

Total assets B 246,773 208,328
Shareholders’ equity J HRORE 4 105,159 21,054
Net assets value per share (HK$) & A FE (o) 0.03 0.01
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SHARE INFORMATION

Board lot size

INFORMATION FOR INVESTORS

4,000 shares

As at the last trading day of the financial year ended 31 March 2022:

* Shares outstanding
* Market capitalisation

* Closing share price

KEY DATES

» Latest time for lodging transfer documents for
registration in order to qualify for attending
and voting at 2022 annual general meeting

* Closure of register of members
for 2022 annual general meeting

e 2022 annual general meeting

INVESTOR RELATION CONTACT

Address : 27/F., The Galaxy, 313 Castle Peak Road
Kwai Chung, Hong Kong

Telephone : (852) 3700 7300

Fax : (852) 3700 7301

E-mail : ir@shunten.com.hk

Website : www.shunten.com.hk

SHAREHOLDER ENQUIRIES

3,107,893,440 shares

HK$522,126,098
HK$0.168

4:30 pm, 19 August 2022

22-25 August 2022

25 August 2022

Any matters relating to your shareholding, e.g. transfer of shares, change of

name or address, lost share certificate and dividend warrants, should be sent in

writing to:

Tricor Investor Services Limited

Address : Level 54, Hopewell Centre
183 Queen’s Road East
Hong Kong
Telephone : (852) 2980 1333
Fax : (852) 2810 8185
E-mail : is-enquiries @hk.tricorglobal.com
Website : http://www.tricoris.com
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CHAIRMAN’S STATEMENT
e

Dear Shareholders,

On behalf of the board (the “Board”) of directors (the “Directors”) of Shunten
International (Holdings) Limited (the “Company”, together with its
subsidiaries, the “Group”), I would like to announce the annual results of the
Group for the financial year ended 31 March 2022 (“FY2021/22”).

In FY2021/22, the COVID-19 pandemic continued to rage across the world.
Hong Kong was hit hard by the fifth wave of the pandemic in a massive
outbreak in early 2022, which dwarfed previous waves with tens of thousands
of infections each day. Consumption sentiment in the city was weakened amid
stricter social distancing measures, posing unprecedented challenges to the

retailing industry in Hong Kong.

However, the emergence of the pandemic has raised the public’s awareness of
their own health and increased the demand for health products. In addition to
prevention, the fifth wave of the pandemic has led to a surge in the demand
for health supplements to relieve “long COVID”. As one of the leading
Chinese medicine and health care product companies in Hong Kong for many
years, the Group’s “Royal Medic” brand has become a household name of
Chinese medicine and health care products. Despite the complex and evolving
pandemic, the Group has seized market opportunities by making timely
adjustments to its product portfolio and marketing, which rendered record sales
of the Group’s flagship products “Royal Medic No.l Chinese Cs-4” and “RM

Broken Ganoderma Spore” in April this year.

In the face of the unpredictable business environment, the Group reduced costs
through effective cost control and streamlined structure, and at the same time,
adjusted its product portfolio and launched new products with competitive
market edge in a timely manner to enhance product mix. While consolidating
the market position of our existing flagship products, we also expanded into
other age groups by launching co-branded products with well-known

intellectual properties to attract new users.

The Group’s total revenue from continuing operations for FY2021/22
amounted to approximately HK$162,993,000 (2021: HK$223,147,000),
representing a decrease of 26.96% as compared to the same period last year.
Excluding the fifth wave of the pandemic which forced the regular annual
product sales promotion in March to be postponed to April, resulting in the
sales not being recorded in the financial year as it was in the past, the
Group’s total revenue from continuing operations for FY2021/22 maintained

relatively stable as compared to the same period last year.
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CHAIRMAN’S STATEMENT

2022 marked a significant milestone of Royal Medic’s 20th anniversary of
establishment. The Group will continue to “protect your health” while we
strengthen our business development. In addition to expanding our product
portfolio by developing new products and attracting new customers to increase
sales revenue, we also strive to expand our offline sales channels and increase
our market share by increasing the number of points of sales, and we plan to
expand the “Royal Medic” brand beyond Hong Kong, such as the People’s
Republic of China (the “PRC”) and the neighboring Southeast Asia region, to
expand our sales presence. Furthermore, we will integrate our existing
customer data resources to upgrade customer service experience, so as to
provide customers with quality pre-sales and post-sales services anytime and
anywhere. Moreover, the Group will continue to follow up on the cooperation
plan with Shijiazhuang Yiling Pharmaceutical Co., Limited (“Shijiazhuang
Yiling Pharmaceutical”) to further expand the Group’s business scope by
introducing “Royal Medic” products to the PRC for online and offline sales
through Shijiazhuang Yiling Pharmaceutical’s high-coverage pharmacy network
in the PRC, and by organizing a medical service center to provide remote

medical and health consultation services.

Finally, on behalf of the Group and the Board, I would like to thank all the
investors, Shareholders, product clients and employees for their support and
confidence in the Group over the past 20 years. Entering the next 20 years, we
are committed to doing our part by providing quality products for public
health, rewarding investors and Shareholders for their support with good
performance and scaling new heights upon healthy business development with
our staff, such that the “medicine box not only serves as a jewelry box”, but

helps us “Level Up”.

By order of the Board

Wang Xihua
Acting Chairman
Hong Kong

30 June 2022
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

o PHL R W w5200

BUSINESS AND FINANCIAL REVIEW

The Group is principally engaged in the sales, marketing and distribution
of health and beauty supplements and products in Hong Kong and
provision of e-commerce promotion business. During the year ended
31 March 2022 (the “Reporting Period”), we had been facing a very
challenging year in Hong Kong which had been affected by the deteriorate
economic environment in Hong Kong since the outbreak of novel
coronavirus (“COVID-19”) globally in first quarter of 2020.

During the Reporting Period, the Group recorded revenue from
continuing operations of approximately HK$163.0 million (2021:
HK$223.1 million), representing a decrease of approximately HKS$60.1
million or 26.9% when compared to the corresponding period of last year.
Revenue from the core business, health and beauty supplements and
products segment, contributed approximately HK$155.6 million.
Meanwhile, E-commerce promotion business contributed approximately

HK$7.4 million to the revenue of the Group for the Reporting Period.

The gross profit margin of the continuing operation of the Group for the
Reporting Period was approximately 69.0% (2021: 72.4%), representing a
decrease of approximately 3.4 percentage points over the corresponding

period of last year.

2020 till 2022 had been very tough years in human history. The new waves
of epidemic mutation from December 2021 in Hong Kong has contributed
to HKSAR economic slump and most of the territory’s retail chains has
been locked down in March 2022 due to widespread infection.
Traditionally, March, being the annual top sales month, has been
postponed to April this year causing an unprecedent drop in both our top

line and bottom line for the health segment recorded in the financial year.

However, our discount sales event in April exhibited strong and
record-breaking rebound showing our hero products and core business of

Chinese medicine and health supplements are still on the right track.
Cross border consumption figures continue to drop at historic low level

given the Hong Kong Compulsory Quarantine Arrangement for inbound

travelers is fully implemented since first quarter of 2020.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

Health and beauty supplements and products segment

Revenue of health and beauty supplements and products segment

As at 31 March 2022, the Group sold and distributed 68 (2021: 73) health
supplements and 12 (2021: 11) beauty supplements and products under its
proprietary brands; 58 (2021: 56) health supplements under the
distribution facilitator’s private label brands; and 12 (2021: 15) health
supplements under trading of goods.

The following table sets forth the breakdown of revenue by product

categories for the two years ended 31 March 2022:

o BELJE s 5243 e

PRAGE Je 5 25 Al i B i 3

1R T 525 0 iy J 3 s 7 B WK 2
REFE D TEZAZ s A S B
68K (28— 4F ¢ 73K BUAT ML M 7 i %
123K (B =4 113K0) B4 528 254 &
B S8EK (L L —4F 1 563 A AL HLEY B
T MR 5 2 (ZF 4 1580
b B AR

TRESEE F__F=H=1+—HILHMH
A S 7 U B 23 1) Wi 2 WA

2022
RO TH

% of total

HK$°000 revenue

Al 8 W 25

T#7T [Epg#
Health supplements R A 7 123,603 79.4% 164,803 78.3%
Beauty supplements and products S B 32,036 20.6% 45,262 21.5%
Others oAt = = 396 0.2%
Total Mk 155,639 100.0 % 210,461 100.0%

The health and beauty supplements and products segment recorded a
revenue of approximately HK$155.6 million for the Reporting Period
(2021: HKS$210.5 million),
HK$54.9 million or 26.1% when compared to the previous year.

representing a decrease of approximately

Revenue attributable to health supplements decreased by approximately
HK$41.2 million or 25.0% to approximately HK$123.6 million (2021:
HKS$164.8 million), while revenue attributable to beauty supplements and
products decreased by approximately HKS$13.3 million or 29.4% to
approximately HK$32.0 million (2021: HKS$45.3 million). It is mainly
caused by postpone of discount sales event from March to April 2022.

For the Reporting Period, the top 4 best-selling products were Royal
Medic No.l Chinese Cs-4, RM Broken Ganoderma Spore, Melty Enzyme
and Royal Medic Pure Chicken Essence, which in aggregate contributed
approximately HK$83.1 million or 53.4% of the segment’s total revenue.

T BT R B 55 25 Al i L 43 B R AT Uk
25 #1155,600,000 4% 7T (— % — —4F 1 210,500,000
) o A D 954,900,000 7T 526.1% ©

Mt it RE A Ui 25 2 041,200,000 7 JCE25.0%
% #7123,600,000% 76 (— % = —4E 1 164,800,000
W 0) o T 3% A A A B S A i g B e D &Y
13,300,000 JC 529.4% 2 #)32,000,000% JC (-
F T4 1 45,300,0009 00) o EE RN F
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Shunten International (Holdings) Limited N % B B (¥ %) 45 PR 2 7] 9



MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

o BELJE w5203 e

For the year ended 31 March 2021, the top 4 best-selling products were
Royal Medic No.l Chinese Cs-4, RM Broken Ganoderma Spore, Melty
Enzyme and Royal Medic Pure Chicken Essence, which in aggregate
contributed approximately HK$121.2 million or 57.6% of the segment’s
total revenue.

Revenue by sales and distribution channels

The following table sets forth the breakdown of the health and beauty
supplements and products segment’s revenue by distribution channels for
the two years ended 31 March 2022:

BECE - AEZ A S HIRSEE S R
JEE i 2 50 B A 5 A R TR A B Cs-4 ~ T BB B RE
B2 AT IR S BE A W R ARG
7 Y A5 618 28 A A 2 38 Bl 45 49 121,200,000
W6 E57.6% °

W (1558 B R 5 51 3 %) 4)
TEREFIEE —F - HE A=+ HIEWAE
JRE e 4 B R ) 0 (R A R 35 A o B i 40
% M WAAN -

2022
TR
% of total
HK$’000 revenue
Al 48 0 2
THT A4
Shelves in the Distribution Facilitator’s A4 B ACHEE B Y
stores j=gud 107,529 69.1% 161,352 76.7%
SDCs located in the Distribution A 73 8 A B 7 Y B
Facilitator’s stores e E ML 35,359 22.7% 39,432 18.7%
Other distribution channels (Note 1) oAt - B S5 (B sE 1) 4,239 2.7% 8,687 4.1%
Hong Kong Brands and Products Expo ik Tre 8,512 5.5% 594 0.3%
Others (Note 2) Hopth (Bt 5E2) — — 396 0.2%
Total HEk 155,639 100.0% 210,461 100.0%
Note 1: “Other distribution channels” mainly includes online channel, the Wisdom Club, BffeEd o THEAY S84 IR | EE AL EIEE - B it
wholesalers, and Royal Medic Chinese Medicine Clinics. T % B A op R v B Yy o
Note 2:  “Others” mainly represents service income. FiaE2 © A ) FZ R IRBIRA -

As at 31 March 2022, the Group had 25 (2021: 23) Royal Medic SDCs
and 25 (2021: 34) Health Proof SDCs in distribution facilitators’ stores in
Hong Kong.

Revenue by geographical locations
100.0% of the revenue during the Reporting Period was contributed by the
Hong Kong market.

100.0% of the revenue during the year ended 31 March 2021 was
contributed by the Hong Kong market.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
B 2L i B 5 T

Results of health and beauty supplements and products segment
The following table sets forth the breakdown of the health and beauty
supplements and products segment’s gross profit and gross profit margin

by operating segments for the two years ended 31 March 2022:

1R fEE e FE 75 1l 1y JR 7 1ty 4 8 A
TERHESEE T _F=A =T H I mE
A JEE 9 KE 7 S ) 0 R A S 5% 2 4 ot B b
BB A B B A AT

For the year ended 31 March
BE=ZH=1T—HILFEE

2022 2021
e~ R A
HK$°000 % HK$’000 %
T % T¥#70 %
Health supplements R A 7
Proprietary brands B 74,429 73.5% 104,311 74.7%
Private label brands B % 8 12,719 62.6% 15,427 69.2%
Trading of goods i 801 38.4% 2,112 72.4%
87,949 71.2% 121,850 73.9%
Beauty supplements and products S S
Proprietary brands HH 8 20,110 62.8% 31,360 69.3%
Others HoAth — — 359 90.9%
Total HEE 108,059 69.4% 153,569 73.0%

Owing to the decrease in the segment turnover, the gross profit of the
health and beauty supplements and products segment for the Reporting
Period was approximately HK$108.1 million (2021: HK$153.6 million),
representing a decrease of 29.6% over the previous year. The gross profit
margin of the health and beauty supplements and products segment for
the Reporting Period decreased to 69.4% (2021: 73.0%). The decrease in
gross profit margin was mainly attributed to the change in sales

composition.

The selling and distribution expenses principally consist of (i) advertising
and promotion expenses for advertisements through various channels
including traditional marketing media, digital marketing through KOLs
(key opinion leaders) as well as engagement of artistes to endorse the
Group’s products as brand ambassadors; (ii) commission paid to sales
promoters; and (iii) exhibition expenses. The selling and distribution
expenses decreased by approximately HKS$9.6 million or 24.3% to
approximately HK$29.9 million for the Reporting Period (2021: HK$39.5
million). Such decrease was in line with the decrease in segment turnover

during the Reporting Period.
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The administrative expenses of this segment also decreased sharply by
approximately HKS$21.9 million or 27.4% to approximately HKS$58.1
million for the Reporting Period (2021: HK$80.0 million) which was
primarily due to continuous cost control measures by the Group, such as
reduce the number of SDCs in order to reduce the related rental expenses

over the last year.

Segment reporting
The particulars of segment revenue, results, assets and liabilities are set
out in note 6 to the audited consolidated financial statements in this

annual report.

Equity-settled share-based payments

During the Reporting Period, the Group recognised a total expense of
approximately HK$0.1 million (2021: HK$4.9 million) in relation to the
share options granted by the Company.

Impairment losses

An independent professionally qualified valuer was engaged to perform
impairment assessments on the goodwill and the interest in an associate.
During the Reporting Period, the Group recorded impairment losses on
goodwill and intangible assets in amounted of approximately HK$Nil and
HK$4.9 million (2021: HK$26.6 million and HK$1.7 million), respectively,
of which approximately HK$4.2 million mainly come from H365 Group
due to the continuous negative impact on the business performance
brought by COVID-19. The remaining impairment loss on intangible
assets of approximately HKS$0.7 million is arising from e-commerce

promotion business.

Loss for the year

As a result of the foregoing factors, the Group’s loss amounted to
approximately HKS$44.4 million during the Reporting Period (2021:
HK$125.7 million). The Group’s loss attributable to the owners of the
Company amounted to approximately HK$43.9 million for the Reporting
Period (2021: HK$127.4 million).

Disclaimer

Save for Royal Medic No.l Chinese Cs-4, none of the Group’s products is
registered under the Pharmacy and Poison Ordinance (Chapter 138 of the
Laws of Hong Kong) and the Chinese Medicine Ordinance (Chapter 549
of the Laws of Hong Kong). Any claim made by those products has not
been subject to evaluation for such registration. Those products are not

intended to diagnose, treat or prevent any disease.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

INTANGIBLE ASSETS AND GOODWILL

As at 31 March 2022, the intangible assets and goodwill of the Group
amounted to approximately HK$2.2 million (2021: HK$8.4 million) and
HKS$Nil (2021: HKS$Nil), respectively. Intangible assets mainly include
brand name, sales distribution channel, customer relationship, product
development rights and club membership. Goodwill has arisen upon the
Group’s acquisition. Please refer to notes 20 and 21 to the audited

consolidated financial statements in this annual report respectively.

FINANCIAL POSITION AND LIQUIDITY

As at 31 March 2022, cash and bank balances of the Group amounted to
approximately HK$35.3 million (2021: HK$36.7 million) and the current
ratio (current assets divided by current liabilities) of the Group was
approximately 0.5 times as at 31 March 2022 (2021: 0.7 times). The
Group’s gearing ratio, representing total borrowings divided by total
equity, was approximately 115.9% as at 31 March 2022 (2021: 798.1%).
The decrease in gearing ratio was primarily due to the increase in total
equity during the Reporting Period. In view of the Group’s current level
of cash and bank balances, funds generated internally from operations and
the unutilised banking facilities available, the Board is confident that the
Group will have sufficient resources to meet its financial needs for its
operations. As at 31 March 2022, the Group had unutilised general
banking facilities of approximately HKS$1.0 million (2021: HKS$1.2

million).

Convertible Bonds

Use of Proceeds from issue of convertible bonds

On 4 October 2019, the Group issued convertible bonds in the aggregate
principal amount of HK$180.0 million (the “2019 Convertible Bonds”). The
net proceeds from the placing of the 2019 Convertible Bonds amounted to
approximately HK$178.1 million. The intended and actual use of the net
proceeds are as follows: (i) approximately 50.0% of the net proceeds in the
amount of approximately HK$89.1 million were used to redeem the
outstanding principal amount of the convertible bonds issued on 12
October 2017; (ii) approximately 40.0% of the net proceeds in the amount
of approximately HK$71.2 million were used to enhance and further
develop the formulating, marketing, sale and distribution of health and
beauty supplements and products in Hong Kong and the PRC; and (iii)
approximately 10.0% of the net proceeds in the amount of approximately
HK$17.8 million were used to replenish the Group’s general working
capital. All net proceeds from the placing of the 2019 Convertible Bond
has been utilised as at 31 March 2022.
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Redemption of 2019 Convertible Bonds

On 31 March 2020, 11 May 2020, 17 June 2020, 17 July 2020,
4 February 2021, 15 March 2021, 1 April 2021, 10 June 2021, 30 June
2021, 3 August 2021 and 30 September 2021, the Company partially
redeemed the 2019 Convertible Bonds in the aggregate principal amount of
HK$85.0 million, HK$23.0 million, HK$8.0 million, HK$8.0 million,
HK$2.0 million, HK$3.0 million, HK$5.0 million, HK$5.0 million,
HK$27.0 million, HK$6.0 million and HKS$3.0 million (the “Partial
On 4 October 2021,
principal amount of the 2019 Convertible Bonds is HK$5.0 million were
matured and fully repaid to the bondholders. As at 31 March 2022, the
Company does not have any outstanding convertible bonds. Please refer to

Redemption”), respectively. all the outstanding

the announcements of the Company dated 16 September 2019,
17 September 2019, 4 October 2019, 31 March 2020, 11 May 2020,
17 June 2020, 17 July 2020, 4 February 2021, 17 March 2021, 1 April
2021, 10 June 2021, 2 July 2021, 3 August 2021 and 30 September 2021
for the details relating to the 2019 Convertible Bonds.

The particulars of 2019 Convertible Bonds is set out in note 34 to the

audited consolidated financial statements in this annual report.

CAPITAL MANAGEMENT

The Group’s objectives in managing capital are to ensure that entities in
the Group will be able to continue as a going concern while maximising
the return to the shareholders through the optimisation of the debt and
equity balance. The management reviews the capital structure by
considering the cost of capital and the risks associated with each class of
capital. In view of this, the Group will balance its overall capital structure
through the payment of dividends, new share issues as well as the issue of
new debt or the redemption of existing debt as it sees fit and appropriate.
The Group also monitors capital on the basis of the net gearing ratio. The
Group’s overall strategy remains unchanged throughout the Reporting
Period.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

EMPLOYEE INFORMATION

As at 31 March 2022, the Group had 152 employees (2021: 188). For the
Reporting Period, staff costs including directors’ remuneration from
continuing operations was approximately HK$59.8 million (2021: HK$87.8

million).

REMUNERATION POLICY

The Group’s Directors and senior management receive compensation in
the form of salaries, benefits in kind and discretionary bonuses with
reference to salaries paid by comparable companies, time commitment and
the performance of the Group. The Group also reimburses them for
expenses, which are necessarily and reasonably incurred for the provision
of services to the Group or executing their functions in relation to the
operations of the Group. In addition, the Company adopted a share
option scheme as an incentive to Directors and eligible participants, the
particulars of which are set out in note 45 to the audited consolidated
financial statements in this annual report. The Group regularly reviews
and determines the remuneration and compensation package of the
Group’s Directors and senior management, by reference to, among other
things, market level of salaries paid by comparable companies, the
respective responsibilities of the Group’s Directors and the performance of

the Group.

KEY RELATIONSHIPS WITH EMPLOYEES,
CUSTOMERS AND SUPPLIERS

The Group considers its employees the key to sustainable business growth and
also recognises its employees as its valuable assets. The Group considers that
it is crucial to maintain a competitive remuneration package and fringe
benefits for our potential and existing employees. In this regard, the Group
provides comprehensive remuneration package includes salary, discretionary
bonuses and other cash subsidies to attract, motivate and retain appropriate
and suitable employees to serve the Group. In general, the Group determines
employee salaries based on each employee’s qualifications, position and
seniority. The Group has designed an annual review system to assess the
performance of our employees, which forms the basis of our decisions with
respect to salary raises, bonuses and promotions. The Group also provides
on-the-job training and development opportunities to enhance its employees’

career development and learning.

The Group is committed to providing high-quality products and services to its
customers. Through on-site visits and major customers satisfaction surveys, the
Group reaches out for its existing and prospective customers to understand
their needs and collect their feedback for identifying areas of improvement

and advancing the Group to achieve excellence.
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The Group values mutually beneficial long-term relationships with its
suppliers. Their steady supply of raw materials and products in high quality
are crucial for the Group. The Group is committed to developing stable and

sustainable partnership among its suppliers.

OUTLOOK

Health and beauty supplements and products segment

The ongoing COVID-19 pandemic continued to hamper spending and
tourism, and have imposed devastating impact on the local retail market.
In view of the above status, the Group continues to adopt more measures
on cost control and strengthen our partnerships with distribution channels

for seaming and improving our performance in coming financial years.

The recurrent new waves of epidemic mutation posted uncertainties of
when mainland free individual traveler consumption will return to boost
up our SDCs sales. In view of this, the management is proactively
planning for cross border and online solutions to explore the retail market

in other regions in Asia.

As the Group is going to celebrate our 20th Years Anniversary, the launch
of new product lines and brand building revitalization exercises will be
fully implemented by second half of 2022. The management is planning to
launch new product lines with solid clinical proof to cater for different
needs of end users in the second half of 2022. The Royal Medic Group
will continue to uphold our mission of applying new and modern scientific
research technology, modified formulations infused into manufacture
traditional Chinese medicine. We are the guardian of our customers’
health. Throughout our global supply chain network together with our
R&D capacities, high standard of production and safety, the Group will
further enhance supreme quality of medical and health supplement,

cosmetic products to our customers in both local and overseas markets.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

NEW DEVELOPMENT ON MARKET AND
CHANNEL DIVERSIFICATION

Mitigation on single market and single channel risks has been concerns of
the Management for years. Starting from April 2022, trial run of
penetration into local department stores and supermarkets has been

started.

Traditionally, the Group’s focus target end users are Chinese community
in Hong Kong. The Management is proactively seeking for diversification
to overseas Chinese population throughout Asia. Due to the recurrent new
waves of epidemic mutation from January 2022 onwards, our planning has

been deferred to fourth quarter of this year.

Southeast Asia and mainland China will be our focus this year for market
proliferation. In the mainland China market, the Group will collaborate
closely with our strategic alliance, Shijiazhuang Yiling Pharmaceutical Co.
Ltd. to secure the mutual markets by third quarter of this year.
MEMBERSHIP FORTIFICATION AND SMART
RETAIL DIRECTION

The Group has been seeking for more potential sales channels in the

market.

The Group is currently distributing its health products through certain
distribution channels, among which include one of the leading health and
beauty products retail chains in Hong Kong, counter sales and sales via
member base, and these sales platforms have incurred significant
transportation costs to deliver variety of products to the locations as
requested by the customers. As a result, the management of the Group
have been actively seeking and identifying new distribution channels, in
order to diversify its existing distribution channels and lower logistics

costs.
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The Management will promote an innovative retail platform that enhanced
with artificial intelligence, which create a novel shopping experience for
business and customers. The smart kiosk solution can help the Group to
build a member-based system during the expos and other outdoor
promotion events that will be participated by the Group. The smart
vending solution can help the customers to purchase certain selected
products in specific locations where the vending machines located. The
smart logistics solution will provide the e-locker services so that the
customers can pick up the products in the locations near their home or
office in which they may pass through everyday after online purchases.
After the implementation of the smart kiosk, smart vending and smart
logistics solutions, the management will manage the solutions through the
cloud database. This innovative retail platform may start deployment by
second half of 2022.

The Management believes that deployment of the IT Solutions and Cloud
Hosting Services Agreement will allow the Group to build an innovative
retail platform that enlarge the membership base of the Group in the
Hong Kong market, which in return help the Group establishes a new
distribution channel for its existing health products to the general public

customers.

Collaboration with universities, research and development,

quality assurance and internal compliance

As it is the Group’s tradition of using its own research and development
resources to develop our proprietary intellectual property products since its
listing on the Stock Exchange in 2013, we are collaborating closely with
The Chinese University of Hong Kong to create intellectual property
products and commercialise our health products chain. Under such a
tripartite relationship, the Hong Kong government and the Group jointly
funded the research and the Group controlled the commercialization and
owned the intellectual property. Our research and development lab in the
Hong Kong Science Park conduct stringent and regular internal
compliance tests on our existing products further to guarantee our
capabilities of quality control. Currently, every batch of our major key

products are tested before launch to the market.
The Group had research projects with the Hong Kong University of

Science and Technology R and D Corporation Limited to focuses on the

evaluation on functions of existing products.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

Collaboration with universities, research and development and

quality assurance

The Group attaches great importance to the quality standard of products,
including the strict selection of suppliers to require their plants to meet
international standards. The Group owns proprietary Chinese medicine and
food manufacturing plants, and wholesaler/retailer licences in Chinese herbal
medicines and proprietary Chinese medicines. The management system of the
food manufacturing plants has obtained 1SO22000 and HACCP certifications,
with stringent regulations over plant construction, production process,

employee training, pest control, product testing, etc., to ensure food safety.

In respect of research and development, Royal Medic Research and
Development Centre (hereafter, the “R&D Centre”), located at the Hong Kong
Science Park, was established in 2017 and has been committed to improving
the quality control standard of existing products, assisting in the research and
development of new products and promoting academic exchange between
Royal Medic and local universities. The primary scope of business of the
R&D Centre covers chemical analysis of product ingredients, which develops
rapid and accurate ingredient testing methods utilising an advanced chemical
analysis platform to improve product safety and reliability. To further verify
the effectiveness of products, the R&D Centre has been endorsed by the
HKSAR government and received funding by the Innovation and Technology
Fund — Research Talent Hub Programme of the Innovation and Technology
Commission. Currently, the R&D Centre is focusing on the development of the

following research projects:

i. to study the inhibitory effects on lipid accumulation and fat cell
proliferation of our products with the adipocyte model as the

experimental basis

ii. to examine the immunomodulating effects of our products with the

macrophage model as the experimental basis

iii.  to study the use of liposome technology to wrap up the active ingredients
of our products to reduce oxidation of the active ingredients, thereby

enhancing the effect of our products
iv. to assess the anti-glycation effect of our products
V. to examine the Yin-nourishing and Yang-invigoration effect of our

products and assess their synergy with our other products when used in

combination
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Meanwhile, we have been organising academic exchange meetings with
professors and researchers from the Institute of Chinese Medicine of the
Chinese University of Hong Kong on a regular basis to share insights on
Chinese medicines and product development; we have also proactively
participated in several research projects of the Institute of Chinese Medicine of
the Chinese University of Hong Kong. We also cooperated with Professor Ko
Kam Ming from the Division of Life Science of the University of Science and
Technology to complete a pharmacological research of Royal Medic No.l
Chinese Cs-4 in treating allergic rhinitis and shortness of breath in 2019, and
tests for the antioxidizing and immunity boosting effect on human body of
Royal Medic No.l Chinese Cs-4 and Pure Chicken Essence in 2020,
respectively, with outstanding results, which provide direct and convincing

scientific evidence for the benefits of our products.

MATERIAL ACQUISITIONS OR DISPOSALS

Save as disclosed in notes 13, 23 and 38 to the audited consolidated
financial statements and elsewhere in this annual report, there was no
other material acquisition and disposal of subsidiaries, associated

companies and joint ventures during the Reporting Period.

CONTINGENT LIABILITIES

The Group did not have material contingent liabilities as at 31 March
2022.

CAPITAL COMMITMENT

Save as disclosed in note 39 to the audited consolidated financial
statements in this annual report, the Group did not have significant

capital commitment as at 31 March 2022.

FOREIGN EXCHANGE EXPOSURE

Presently, the Group does not have a hedging policy with respect to the
foreign exchange exposure. The Group is exposed to currency risk
primarily through sales and purchases, which give rise to receivables and
payables and cash balances that are denominated in foreign currencies,
other than the functional currency of the operations to which the
transactions relate. The currencies giving rise to this risk are primarily
United States dollar (“US$”) and Renminbi (“RMB”). In order to manage
and minimise the foreign currency risk, the management will continue to
manage and monitor the foreign currency exposure to ensure appropriate

measures are implemented in a timely and effective manner.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

CHARGES ON ASSETS

As at 31 March 2022, the Group had secured bank loans and term loans
of approximately HK$86.7 million (2021: HK$62.3 million) and HK$Nil
(2021: HK$9.0 million), respectively. The banking facilities and term loans
are secured by the Group’s leasehold land and buildings, having carrying
amount of approximately HK$68.9 million as at 31 March 2022 (2021:
secured by the Group’s leasehold land and buildings and account

receivable, having carrying amount of approximately HK$74.5 million).

EVENTS AFTER REPORTING PERIOD

Save as the events as disclosed in note 48 to the audited consolidated
financial statements and elsewhere in this annual report, there is no other
significant event occurring after the Reporting Period up to the date of

this annual report.

PRINCIPAL RISKS AND UNCERTAINTIES

Based on the Group’s risk management system, the Group has examined
all of the possible risks and uncertainties that might affect the Group and
considered that the most important risks and uncertainties would include:

Regulatory risks

The health supplement industry in Hong Kong generally believes that
changes in regulatory policies and laws in respect of the monitoring and
control of food and health supplement products which include Chinese
medicinal ingredients may be proposed and implemented by the authorities
concerned in the coming years. Significant effect may impact on the future
development of health supplements as well as the food industry. If the
Group fails to keep up and comply with these changes, such factors would
affect the Group’s success.

The Group has closely monitored the regulatory changes, strengthened its
interpretation and analysis capability of regulatory policies and would
adjust strategies in advance to cope with the ever-changing operating

environment.
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Prolonged economic downturn

The Group’s health and beauty supplements and products business is
closely related to the economic conditions of Hong Kong. Slowing
economic growth or a recession may affect consumers’ preferences and
spending which in turn could have a material adverse effect on the
Group’s business, operating results and financial conditions. In response
to these challenges, the Group will closely monitor the changing economic
conditions and also actively implement effective measures to control the
administration and production costs. The Group will also continue to roll
out more new products and open up more distribution channels, and

diversify its business to improve the Group’s overall performance.

Failure to introduce successful new products

Owing to the rapid changing nature of the health and beauty supplements
and products markets in Hong Kong, if the Group fails to anticipate
market trends and develop new products to respond to such trends in a
timely manner, it will adversely affect its business in the long term. In
addition to the Group’s own product development and collaboration with
external research partners, such as with CUCAMed to promote and sell
products developed by CUCAMed under the brand “LEGEND”, the
Group is also actively looking for opportunities to collaborate with
different reputable universities to conduct researches for the purpose of
developing new products. Besides researches, the Group will also continue
to place strong emphasis on a multifaceted market strategy through
utilising various media and channels to promote its brands and products.
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EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Mr. Wang Xihua, aged 55, is an executive director, acting chairman and
authorised representative of the Company. He joined the Group on 24 October
2016. Mr. Wang has over 20 years of commercial experience in business
development and enterprise management in the People’s Republic of China
(“PRC”) and 5 years of teaching experience in the chemical engineering
profession. Mr. Wang graduated from the Faculty of Chemical Engineering at
T T S 8 e (Wuhan Institute of Iron and Steel, currently called Wuhan
University of Science and Technology) in 1989. In addition, Mr. Wang
completed a graduate program in business administration from the Guanghua
School of Management of Peking University in 2003. Mr. Wang is primarily
responsible for exploring investment opportunities to expand the business of
the Group. Mr. Wang was an executive director and non-executive director of
Elife Holdings Limited (formerly known as Sino Resources Group Limited)
(“Elife Holdings”) (Stock Code: 223), the shares of which are listed on the
Main Board of The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock
Exchange”), from 11 March 2013 to 31 January 2014 and 1 February 2014
to 22 September 2015, respectively. Mr. Wang was an executive director of
Fortis Mining (Hong Kong) Limited from 1 February 2014 to 23 May 2015, a
Hong Kong subsidiary of Kazakhstan Potash Corporation Limited, a company
listed in the Australian Securities Exchange Limited (ASX stock code: KPC).

Mr. Cheung Siu Fai, aged 52, is an executive director of the Company. Mr.
Cheung joined the Group on 24 January 2022. Mr. Cheung holds a Master
Degree in Business Administration from The Chinese University of Hong
Kong and a Bachelor Degree in Electronic Engineering from The Hong Kong
Polytechnic University. Mr. Cheung founded Hammer Capital Group Limited
in 2013. Prior to founding Hammer Capital Group Limited, he was the
Director in Capital Markets of Merrill Lynch (Asia Pacific) Limited (“Merrill
Lynch”). Prior to his position at Merrill Lynch, Mr. Cheung was the Head of
Strategic Equity Solutions of Asia Pacific of Citigroup Global Markets Asia
Limited. Mr. Cheung had also held key positions in various major investment
banks in Asia Pacific such as Calyon Corporate & Investment Bank (presently
known as Crédit Agricole Corporate & Investment Bank) and Jardine Fleming
Holdings Limited (a member of JPMorgan Chase & Co.).

HWiTE S

EFHESEA - 55K > ARATES - ARME RA
N FREAC SR o B BN A U H
AALEE o FoeAAEpaE NRILFE (T ) 1
TS8R A FE A Sy T M A AR AR
B o N H A AAF ML TS0 B ES - Tk
Az — JLNJUAE s iR S S 22 B (B AR R
KE)VL LRARRZE o o - ERER -FFE
AR A TR Bl T A BB I S i T P A BELE AR
AR - BT EAESRREHE » HRA
LM ED - ToRESIN -F—=4F=A+—
HE-Z—NOFE—H=+—H K _F—OFE_H
—HEE—AFNA T B ESEEERE
BR S ) (AN R 4 BA BR A RD) (5 Ao
B D) R A 5% < 223 5 H B4y A B Wk B 6 38 5 BT
HIRA A (TR P ) T4 Bl 8T = &
FHATHESE - ERAGE_F-UE_H—-HE
ZF—HAFEAH 1 = H i} Fortis Mining (Hong
Kong) Limited dE AT - M2 A S5 A TR KR
uE R J7 3¢ %) B it MY Kazakhstan Potash
Corporation Limited #Y 7 i Fff 8 24 ) (28 il £y
R85 - KPC) -

WRAHESA: > 5258 > MANFRATEDS  SRAEE
HTERTTAE A T HMARER - RAEAE
TR 7 o P SCOR B T A B B S A s P T
REFFTRE LB o RFEAR T — =44
SERISEAREIA AT o BRI RIS EAE M
AR FIHI 5 e bk (FR) A BRA T (384K )
PR M o SRIATE RAMATIRAT > 1508 (1€
TR R < L Y A IR 2 ) SR 5 2 T ST K [
T o BRIGAEING AE B K W 2 ] TG AT
AT ZE B > n ik B Oy FE PR SR AT (B Crédit
Agricole Corporate & Investment Bank) }Jardine
Fleming Holdings Limited (AR 4 42 [ % & 2

_)o

Shunten International (Holdings) Limited M i 2 B (45 1) 4 FR 2 W] 23



BIOGRAPHICAL DETAILS OF DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT

3 N AR B R R

Mr. Cheung was an executive director of Asia Coal Limited (“Asia Coal”)
between 15 May 2014 and 18 June 2019, the shares of Asia Coal were
delisted from the Main Board of the Stock Exchange on 18 June 2019. Mr.
Cheung was also an executive director of CT Environmental Group Limited
(“CTEG”) between 3 August 2020 and 10 November 2020 and was appointed
as an executive director again and the chief executive officer of CTEG
between 19 April 2021 and 19 January 2022, and the shares of CTEG were
delisted from the Main Board of the Stock Exchange with effect from 10
September 2021. He is currently the chairman and executive director of Great
Wall Terroir Holdings Limited (stock code: 524), the shares of which are
listed on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange.

Mr. Lam Wai Tong, aged 41, is an executive director and a co-chief
executive officer of the Company. Mr. Lam joined the Group on 6 May 2022.
Mr. Lam is mainly responsible for the human resources management,
administrative function, internal control review function as well as the

financial reporting and treasury functions of the Group.

Mr. Lam has extensive experience in corporate finance, business management
and internal control. Mr. Lam began his career working at Cinda International
Holdings Limited (formerly known as Hantec Investment Holdings Limited) (a
company listed on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange) (stock code: 111)
as a management trainee from August 2005 to June 2007 and subsequently the
corporate sales desk officer from June 2007 to October 2007. He then worked
at Shenyin Wanguo (H.K.) Limited (now known as Shenwan Hongyuan (H.K.)
Limited (a company listed on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange) (stock
code: 218), as a corporate finance executive from October 2007 to May 2010,
where he was responsible for provision of financial advisory services. From
June 2010 to June 2011, Mr. Lam worked at Partners Capital International
Limited, a company engaged in providing merger and acquisition strategy and
financial advisory services as an assistant manager. From July 2011 to August
2012, he returned to Shenyin Wanguo Enterprises (H.K.) Limited as a
corporate finance manager, where he was responsible for provision of financial
advisory services. From February 2013 to May 2014, Mr. Lam was the chief
operating officer of Haohai Industry (Group) Limited, a property developer in
the PRC, where he was responsible for overseeing its business operations in
Hong Kong such as mergers and acquisitions as well as human resources
management and internal control. From December 2014 to August 2016, Mr.
Lam joined True Eminent Development (Holdings) Limited, a property
developer in the PRC, as an executive director and subsequently the chief
executive officer where he was responsible for providing oversight of the
group’s investment decision, internal control, corporate development, direct
investment and finance. From January 2017 to October 2021, Mr. Lam ran his

own business to provide business consultancy services to both private and
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listed companies. Mr. Lam was also an executive director of CTEG from 29
October 2020 to 18 April 2021. Since 19 April 2021, Mr. Lam has
transitioned from an executive director of CTEG to a member of the senior
management where he was responsible for overseeing the business operations,
internal control and finance and the shares of CTEG was delisted from the
Main Board of the Stock Exchange with effect from 10 September 2021. Mr.
Lam is currently an executive director of MIE Holdings Corporation (a
company listed on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange) (stock code: 1555)
with effect from 4 April 2022.

Mr. Lam graduated from the City University of Hong Kong with a bachelor’s
degree in business administration (human resources management) in 2004. He
also obtained a master’s degree in finance (investment management) from the
Hong Kong Polytechnic University in 2009. He was admitted as a member of
the Institute of Public Accountants and the Institute of Certified Management

Accountants (Australia) in March 2014 and July 2014, respectively.

Mr. Chen Man Lung, aged 56, is an executive director, a co-chief executive
officer and chief financial officer of the Company. Mr. Chen joined the Group
on 1 April 2018, he is mainly responsible for the overall business operation
and development functions as well as the financial reporting and treasury

functions of the Group.

Mr. Chen has over 28 years of finance and investment related work
experience. Prior to joining the Group, Mr. Chen held senior management
positions as executive director, independent non-executive director, chief
operating officer and chief financial officer of several Hong Kong and
overseas listed companies in various industries. Mr. Chen was an executive
director of China Bio Cassava Holdings Limited (subsequently known as
Cloud Investment Holdings Limited (“Cloud Investment”)) from 29 May 2007
to 18 June 2012 (the shares of Cloud Investment was delisted from the GEM
of the Stock Exchange with effect from 26 March 2019). From 22 October
2009 to 16 April 2018, Mr. Chen was also an executive director of
Culturecom Holdings Limited (a company listed on the Main Board of the
Stock Exchange) (stock code: 343) from 22 October 2009 to 16 April 2018
and an independent non-executive director of OPES Asia Development
Limited (subsequently known as China Internet Investment Finance Holdings
Limited) (a company listed on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange) (stock
code: 810) from 29 September 2006 to 21 April 2011.

Mr. Chen holds a Bachelor of Arts degree in Sociology and a Master of Arts
degree in Chinese Studies from The Hong Kong Baptist University and The

Hong Kong University of Science and Technology, respectively.
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Mr. Lai Wei Lam, William, aged 49, is an executive director. He joined the
Group on 1 July 2017. He has solid commercial experience in international
and China business development and merge and acquisition before joining the
Company. Mr. Lai has a certificate in google android application development
awarded by Unisoft Education Centre in 2011. Mr. Lai is primarily
responsible for the e-commerce promotion business of the Group. Mr. Lai has

resigned as an executive director with effect from 1 July 2022.

INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS
Mr. Leung Winson Kwan Yau, aged 36, is an independent non-executive
director, the chairman of audit committee, a member of nomination committee
and remuneration committee of the Company. He joined the Company on
24 October 2016 and was appointed as the chairman of audit committee of the
Company on 6 December 2016. Mr. Leung is currently a director of Global
Business Development at TMF Group, a leading global services provider of
high-value business services to clients operating and investing globally. Before
joining TMF Group, he served as the financial controller of an international
investment management company focusing on the market of the Greater
China. Mr. Leung has worked for different international audit firms including
KPMG and PricewaterhouseCoopers over the past eight years from October
2008. Mr. Leung obtained Bachelor of Commerce (Accounting and Finance)
degree from Monash University in Australia in 2008 and has been a member
of the CPA Australia since 2011.

Mr. Tam Kin Yip, aged 48, is an independent non-executive director, the
chairman of nomination committee and remuneration committee and a member
of audit committee of the Company. He joined the Company on 7 March
2017. Mr. Tam is a practicing Barrister-At-Law in Hong Kong and has over
19 years’ experience in litigation. Mr. Tam is currently an independent non-
executive director of Jutal Offshore Oil Services Limited (a company listed on
the Main Board of the Stock Exchange) (stock code: 3303).

Mr. Leung Man Loon, aged 44, is an independent non-executive director, a
member of audit committee, nomination committee and remuneration
committee of the Company. He joined the Company on 11 September 2017.
He is currently employed as general manager of a company in catering
industry and is responsible for the managerial works and monitoring the
overall business. He worked with Bank of China (Hong Kong) Limited in
business strategies and management. Mr. Leung has extensive experience
focusing in banking industries. Mr. Leung obtained a degree of Bachelor of
Arts in Finance Services from Edinburgh Napier University in United
Kingdom. Mr. Leung has been a Certified Financial PlannerCM (CFPCM)
since 2010 and designated a Fellow, Life Management Institute from Life

Office Management Association in the United States since 2006.
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Ms. So Tsz Kwan, aged 40, was an independent non-executive director and
a member of the audit committee, nomination committee and remuneration
committee of the Company. Ms. So joined the Company on 24 January 2022
and resigned with effect from 23 June 2022. Ms. So has 17 years of experience
in audit and investment management. Since 2018, Ms. So has been serving
as a vice president at Ruima Hong Kong Limited (“Ruima”), which provides
customized structured financing and corporate solutions to clients. Prior to
So worked at NWS Infrastructure Management (HK)
Limited, a subsidiary of NWS Holdings Limited (a company listed on the
Main Board of the Stock Exchange) (stock code: 659), from 2011 to 2018 as

a manager, who is responsible for project management of the water sector. She

joining Ruima, Ms.

had also previously worked at Grant Thornton and PricewaterhouseCoopers for
over 6 years. Ms. So was graduated from the Hong Kong Baptist University
with a Bachelor’s Degree in Business Administration (Accounting) in 2004 and
has been a member of the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants
since 2010. Ms. So was also an independent non-executive director of MIE
Holdings Corporation (a company listed on the Main Board of the Stock
Exchange) (stock code: 1555) from 31 August 2021 to 4 April 2022.

Mr. Yeung Yat Chuen, aged 39, is an independent non-executive director and
a member of the audit committee, nomination committee and remuneration
committee of the Company. He has over 17 years of experience in corporate
finance and listed companies management. Mr. Yeung joined the Company on
6 May 2022. Prior to joining the Group, he has been the chief financial
officer of Changyou Alliance Group Limited (a company listed on the Main
Board of the Stock Exchange) (stock code: 1039) since November 2020. Mr.
Yeung was the chief financial officer of a private Hong Kong company where
he was in charge of pre-IPO group restructuring and fundraising for the period
from June 2019 to November 2020. He was the financial controller of
Creation Chance Limited, a wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company for the
period from December 2018 to June 2019, where he was mainly in charge of
monitoring financial and development of its Hong Kong business. For the
period from September 2014 to August 2018, he was the chief financial
officer of PPS International (Holdings) Limited (a company listed on the GEM
of the Stock Exchange) (stock code: 8201) (“PPS”), and was further appointed
as an executive director of PPS during the period from February 2018 to July
2018, where he was responsible for the diversification of the group’s business
and establishment of the PRC branch. Mr. Yeung was an independent non-
executive director of North Mining Shares Company Limited (a company
listed on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange) (stock code: 433) for the
period from July 2019 to June 2020. From November 2005 to September
2014, Mr. Yeung was engaged by several corporate finance companies, where
he was responsible for several IPO projects and acted as the financial adviser,
independent financial adviser and compliance advisers to a large number of
listed companies. Mr. Yeung is currently an independent non-executive
director of MIE Holdings Corporation (a company listed on the Main Board of
the Stock Exchange) (stock code: 1555) with effect from 4 April 2022.
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SENIOR MANAGEMENT

Mr. Cheng Tze Kit Larry, aged 65, is the chief investment officer of the
Group. Mr. Cheng joined the Group on 20 March 2018. He is responsible for
overseeing the investment functions of the Group. Mr. Cheng has over 29
years of experience in real estate development and mergers and acquisitions in
Hong Kong, Canada and the PRC. He holds a Bachelor of Science (Hons) in
Engineering and a Master of Business Administration. Mr. Cheng is a
Chartered Engineer of United Kingdom. Mr. Cheng was served as an
executive director, non-executive director and chief investment officer of serval

Hong Kong listed companies.

Ms. Chan Yuk Chi, aged 35, is the company secretary and authorised
representative of the Company. She is responsible for overseeing the corporate
governance matters and company secretarial affairs of the Group. Ms. Chan
joined the Group on 3 April 2018 and she was previously the senior finance
manager of the Group supervising the financial reporting and financial
management functions of the Group before being promoted as the company
secretary and authorised representative of the Company with effect from 21
October 2021. Ms. Chan has over 14 years of professional experience in
auditing, accounting, financial management and company secretarial matters.
Prior to joining the Group, Ms. Chan worked in an international audit firm
from June 2008 to April 2018 and her last position was audit manager. During
her time as an external auditor, Ms. Chan was responsible for various audit of
listed companies, merger and acquisition and initial public offering
assignments. Ms. Chan is a practising member of The Hong Kong Institute of
Certified Public Accountants and an associate member of The Institute of
Chartered Accountants in England and Wales. She is also a Chartered
Secretary, a Chartered Governance Professional and a fellow member of both
The Hong Kong Chartered Governance Institute (formerly known as The Hong
Kong Institute of Chartered Secretaries) and The Chartered Governance
Institute (formerly known as The Institute of Chartered Secretaries and
Administrators) in the United Kingdom. Ms. Chan obtained a Bachelor of
Business Administration degree in accounting from Lingnan University in
2008 and a Master of Corporate Governance degree from The Hong Kong
Polytechnic University in 2020.

Mr. Tsang Chi Wai Rock, aged 58, is the chief compliance officer of the
Company. He is responsible for overseeing the compliance function of the
Group. Mr. Tsang joined the Group on 3 May 2022. Mr. Tsang obtained a
master degree in professional accounting from the Hong Kong Polytechnic
University in 2001. Mr. Tsang is an associate member of the Hong Kong
Institute of Certified Public Accountants and a fellow member of The
Association of Chartered Certified Accountants. Mr. Tsang has over 30 years’
experience in the accounting and finance sector including an international

accounting firm and companies listed on the Stock Exchange.
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Ms. Chong Siu Yu, aged 48, is the sales director of the Company. Ms. Chong
joined the Group on 1 June 2022 and is responsible for overseeing the sales
affairs of the Group. Ms. Chong has been in the sales industry since 1992 and
has 23 years of experience in leading and managing retail teams. Prior to
joining the Group, Ms. Chong worked as a sales manager in a Hong Kong
company established more than a century ago and was involved in

administrative work.

Ms. Wong Suet Yin, aged 42, is the marketing director of the Company. Ms.
Wong joined the Group on 16 May 2022 and is responsible for the promotion
and marketing of the Group’s product brands, which include “Royal Medic”,
“H365” and “Legend”. Ms. Wong has over 20 years of experience in public
relations and has worked for a number of reputed state-owned and Hong Kong
listed companies in planning and facilitating investor and media relations and
coordinating a number of large-scale corporate events. Ms. Wong also has
extensive experience in marketing, having coordinated and implemented large-
scale marketing and promotional events, brand launches, media campaigns and
online celebrity collaborations for various well-known brands, banks and

organisations.

Ms. Yeung Wun Ting, aged 39, is the commercial director of the Group.
Ms. Yeung joined the Group on 1 June 2022, and she is responsible for key
accounts and developing new and potential business channels. Ms. Yeung
worked for a few well-known and branded department stores for over 13
years, and she has extensive experience in managing, coordinating a number
of broad-scale refurbishment projects and leading in various key brands mixes
in the projects. Prior to joining the Group, Ms. Yeung has worked as a
Business Development Manager in a popular Food & Beverage Company who
operating in Chain Stores scale in Hong Kong from mid 2019 to mid 2022,
she has rich experience in planning and implementing multiple new business

channels and activities for different brands in the Company.

Mr. Fung Chin Yeung, aged 34, is the supply chain senior manager of the
Group. Mr. Fung joined the Group on 28 May 2012, and he is responsible for
overseeing and leading all levels of supply chain functions. Mr. Fung holds a
Bachelor of Science in Food and Nutritional Sciences Programme and a
Master of Science in Operation and Supply Chain Management, and he is a
member of the Beta Gamma Sigma, the International Business Honor Society.
Prior to joining the Group, Mr. Fung worked in a well-known food company
from 2010 to 2012, and he was responsible for quality management. Mr. Fung
has over 12 years of experience in research and development procurement,

production and quality assurance, in food and Chinese medicine industry.
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The directors of the Company (the “Director(s)”’) present the report and the
audited consolidated financial statements of the Company and its subsidiaries
(collectively, the “Group”) for the year ended 31 March 2022.

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES

The Group is principally engaged in the sale, marketing and distribution of
health and beauty supplements and products in Hong Kong and the People’s
Republic of China (the “PRC”) and provision of e-commerce promotion
business. There was no significant change in nature of the Group’s principal

activities during the year ended 31 March 2022.

BUSINESS REVIEW AND PERFORMANCE

A fair review of the business of the Company and a discussion and analysis of
the Group’s performance during the year ended 31 March 2022 as required by
the Schedule 5 to the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance (Chapter 622 of the
Laws of Hong Kong), including a discussion of the principal risks and
uncertainties facing the Group and indication of likely future development of
the Group’s business, the material factors underlying its results and financial
position, are provided in the “Chairman’s Statement” from pages 6 to 7 and
“Management Discussion and Analysis” from pages 8 to 22, particulars of
important events affecting the Company that have occurred since the end of
the financial year ended 31 March 2022, if any, can also be found in the
abovementioned sections and the “Notes to the Consolidated Financial
Statements”, the outlook of the Company’s business is discussed throughout
this Annual Report including the “Chairman’s Statement” and “Management
Discussion and Analysis” of this annual report, all these sections form part of

this report of the Directors.

SUBSIDIARIES
Details of the Company’s principal subsidiaries as at 31 March 2022 are set
out in note 46 to the audited consolidated financial statements in this annual

report.

RESULTS AND APPROPRIATIONS
For the year ended 31 March 2022, the results and the state of affairs of the
Group are set out in the audited consolidated financial statements in this

annual report on pages 81 to 84.
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FINAL DIVIDEND

The board of Directors (the “Board”) does not recommend the payment of a
final dividend for the year ended 31 March 2022 (2021: Nil) in accordance
with the dividend policy of the Company.

CLOSURE OF REGISTER OF MEMBERS

For the Entitlement of the Attendance of 2022 AGM

The register of members of the Company will be closed from Monday, 22
August 2022 to Thursday, 25 August 2022 (both dates inclusive), for the
purpose of determining the eligibility of shareholders of the Company (the
“Shareholders”) to attend and vote at the annual general meeting of the
Company to be held on Thursday, 25 August 2022 (the “2022 AGM”), during
which no transfer of shares of the Company will be effected. In order to
qualify for attendance at the 2022 AGM,

accompanied by the relevant share certificates of the Company must be lodged

all completed transfer forms

with the Company’s branch share registrar and transfer agent, Tricor Investor
Services Limited, at Level 54, Hopewell Centre, 183 Queen’s Road East, Hong
Kong (if prior to 15 August 2022) or at 17/F, Far East Finance Centre, 16
Harcourt Road, Hong Kong (with effect from 15 August 2022), not later than
4:30 p.m. on Friday, 19 August 2022.

FINANCIAL SUMMARY

A summary of the results and assets and liabilities of the Group for the past
five financial years is set out on page 236 of this annual report. This summary
does not form part of the audited consolidated financial statements of the

Group in this annual report.

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT
Details of movements in the property, plant and equipment of the Group
during the year ended 31 March 2022 are set out in note 17 to the audited

consolidated financial statements in this annual report.
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SHARE CAPITAL AND SHARE OPTIONS
Details of movements in the share capital of the Company during the year
ended 31 March 2022 are set out in note 37 to the audited consolidated

financial statements in this annual report.

Particulars of the share options of the Company (the “Share Option(s)”) and
details of movements in the Share Options during the year ended 31 March
2022 are set out in note 45 to the audited consolidated financial statements in

this annual report.

CONVERTIBLE BONDS

Pursuant to a placing agreement dated 16 September 2019 entered between a
placing agent and the Company, the Company issued unsecured redeemable
convertible bonds in an aggregate principal amount of HK$180.0 million
which bear interest at 10% per annum with maturity on the second
anniversary of date of issue (i.e. 4 October 2021), which could be converted
into a total number of 416,666,666 fully paid up shares (the “Conversion
Share”) at an initial conversion price of HK$0.432 per Conversion Share
commencing from 4 October 2019 to the second anniversary of date of issue
(the “2019 Convertible Bonds”). Principal amounts of HK$85.0 million,
HK$23.0 million, HK$8.0 million, HK$8.0 million, HK$2.0 million, HK$3.0
million, HK$5.0 million, HK$5.0 million, HK$27.0 million, HK$6.0 million
and HK$3.0 million of the 2019 Convertible Bonds were redeemed by the
Company on 31 March 2020, 11 May 2020, 17 June 2020, 17 July 2020, 4
February 2021, 15 March 2021, 1 April 2021, 10 June 2021, 30 June 2021, 3
August 2021 and 30 September 2021 respectively, and the principal amounts
of HK$5.0 million were matured and fully repaid on 4 October 2021.
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The net proceeds from the issue of 2019 Convertible Bonds amounted to
approximately HK$178.1 million, of which (i) approximately HK$89.1 million
was used to redeem the outstanding principal amount of the convertible bonds
issued on 12 October 2017; (ii) approximately HK$71.2 million was used to
enhance and further develop the formulation, marketing, sale and distribution
of health and beauty supplements and products in Hong Kong and the PRC;
and (iii) approximately HK$17.8 million was used to replenish the Group’s
general working capital. For details of the 2019 Convertible Bonds, please
refer to the announcements of the Company on 16 September 2019, 17
September 2019, 4 October 2019, 31 March 2020, 11 May 2020, 17 June
2020, 17 July 2020, 4 February 2021, 17 March 2021, 1 April 2021, 10 June
2021, 2 July 2021, 3 August 2021 and 30 September 2021 respectively,
together with note 34 to the audited consolidated financial statements in this

annual report.

PURCHASE, REDEMPTION OR SALE OF
LISTED SECURITIES OF THE COMPANY

Neither the Company nor any of its subsidiaries had purchased, redeemed or
sold any of the Company’s listed securities during the year ended 31 March
2022 (2021: Nil).

PRE-EMPTIVE RIGHTS

There are no provisions for pre-emptive rights under the Company’s articles of
association (the “Articles and Association”) and the Companies Act of the
Cayman Islands, which would oblige the Company to offer new Shares on a

pro-rata basis to the existing Shareholders.

EQUITY-LINKED AGREEMENT

Save as disclosed in the above respective paragraph regarding
“CONVERTIBLE BONDS”, “SHARE CAPITAL AND SHARE OPTIONS”
and others, if any, as disclosed in this annual report, there was no other
equity-linked agreement entered into by the Group during the year ended 31

March 2022.

RESERVES

Details of movements in the reserves of the Group and the Company during
the year ended 31 March 2022 are set out in the audited consolidated
statement of changes in equity on pages 85 to 86 and note 47 to the audited

consolidated financial statements in this annual report, respectively.
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DISTRIBUTABLE RESERVES

As at 31 March 2022, the Company’s reserves available for distribution to the
Shareholders, calculated in accordance with the provisions of Cayman Islands’
legislation, is nil (2021: Nil).

PARTICULARS OF BANK AND OTHER
BORROWINGS

Particulars of bank and other borrowings of the Group as at 31 March 2022
are set out in note 32 to the audited consolidated financial statements in this

annual report.

DIRECTORS
The Directors during the year ended 31 March 2022 and up to the date of this

annual report were:

Executive Directors

Mr. Wang Xihua (Acting Chairman)'

Mr. Lai Wei Lam, William

Mr. Cheung Siu Fai?

Mr. Lam Wai Tong (Co-chief Executive Officer)"?
Mr. Chen Man Lung (Co-chief Executive Officer)"?

Independent Non-executive Directors
Mr. Leung Winson Kwan Yau

Mr. Tam Kin Yip

Mr. Leung Man Loon

Ms. So Tsz Kwan>*

Mr. Yeung Yat Chuen’

1. Mr. Wang Xihua is the acting chairman and acting chief executive officer since 1 April
2019, and following the appointments of Mr. Lam Wai Tong and Mr. Chen Man Lung
as co-chief executive officers which has been taken effect from 19 May 2022, the
executive responsibilities of Mr. Wang Xihua has changed and he remains as the acting

chairman of the Company.

2. Mr. Cheung Siu Fai and Ms. So Tsz Kwan were appointed as an executive director and
an independent non-executive director of the Company respectively on 24 January
2022.

3. Mr. Lam Wai Tong, Mr. Chen Man Lung and Mr. Yeung Yat Chuen were appointed as
an executive director, an executive director and an independent non-executive director

of the Company respectively on 6 May 2022.

4. Ms. So Tsz Kwan resigned as an independent non-executive director with effect from
23 June 2022.

The biographical details of the Directors are set out on pages 23 to 27 of this

annual report.
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DIRECTORS’ ROTATION AND RE-ELECTION
Mr. Leung Winson Kwan Yau, being the independent non-executive Director,
will retire by rotation from the Board at the 2022 AGM and being eligible,
offer himself to be re-elected as Director by the Shareholders in the 2022
AGM in accordance with the Articles of Association and the Rules Governing
the Listing of Securities (the “Listing Rules”) of the Stock Exchange of Hong
Kong Limited (the “Stock Exchange”). Mr. Tam Kin Yip and Mr. Leung Man
Loon will also retire by rotation from the Board at the 2022 AGM but will
not offer themselves for re-election and therefore will cease to be Directors
upon conclusion of the 2022 AGM.

Mr. Cheung Siu Fai was appointed as an executive Director by the Board on
24 January 2022 and Mr. Lam Wai Tong, Mr. Chen Man Lung and Mr.
Yeung Yat Chuen were appointed as an executive Director, an executive
Director and an independent non-executive Director by the Board respectively
on 6 May 2022. All of them shall retire from the Board in accordance with
Article 83(3) of Articles of Association of the Company at the 2022 AGM.
All of the retiring Directors, being eligible, offer themselves for re-election in
the 2022 AGM.

DIRECTORS’ SERVICE AGREEMENTS

The Company entered into service agreements with each of the executive
Directors and independent non-executive Directors for a term of three years.
Their terms of offices are also subject to retirement by rotation from the
Board and re-election at the annual general meeting of the Company in

accordance with the Articles of Association and the Listing Rules.

No Director being proposed for re-election at the 2022 AGM has a service
contract with the Company which is not determinable by the Company within

one year without payment of compensation, other than statutory compensation.

CONFIRMATION OF INDEPENDENCE

The Company received written confirmations of independence from all
independent non-executive Directors, namely, Mr. Leung Winson Kwan Yau,
Mr. Tam Kin Yip, Mr. Leung Man Loon and Ms. So Tsz Kwan, respectively
for the year ended 31 March 2022 pursuant to the Listing Rules. The Board
and the nomination committee of the Company considered and agreed all the
current independent non-executive Directors are independent pursuant to Rule

3.13 of the Listing Rules, amended from time to time.
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CHANGES TO INFORMATION OF DIRECTORS

The changes in Directors’ information as required to be disclosed pursuant to
Rule 13.51B(1) of the Listing Rules are set out below:

. Mr. Tam Kin Yip has served as an independent non-executive director
of Jutal Offshore Oil Services Limited (HKEx stock code: 3303) since
18 August 2021.

. Mr. Cheung Siu Fai was appointed as an executive Director since
24 January 2022.

. Ms. So Tsz Kwan was appointed as an independent non-executive
Director and member of each of the audit committee (the “Audit
Committee”), remuneration committee (the “Remuneration
Committee”) and nomination committee (the “Nomination

Committee”) of the Company since 24 January 2022.

. Ms. So Tsz Kwan resigned as an independent non-executive Director of
MIE Holdings Corporation (HKEx stock code: 1555) with effect from
4 April 2022.

. Mr. Lam Wai Tong, Mr. Chen Man Lung and Mr. Yeung Yat Chuen
were appointed as an executive Director, an executive Director and an
independent non-executive Director of the Company respectively since
6 May 2022.

. Mr. Lam Wai Tong and Mr. Chen Man Lung were appointed as the

co-chief executive officers of the Company since 19 May 2022.

. On 6 May 2022, the Board approved (as recommended by the
Remuneration Committee of the Company) the adjustment of Director’s
fee of Mr. Cheung Siu Fai from HKS$1,200,000 per annum to
HK$240,000 per annum with effect from 6 May 2022.

. Ms. So Tsz Kwan resigned as an independent non-executive Director and
member of each of the Audit Committee, Remuneration Committee and
Nomination Committee of the Company with effect from 23 June
2022.

Save for the information disclosed above, there is no other information

required to be disclosed pursuant to Rule 13.51B(1) of the Listing Rules.
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PERMITTED INDEMNITY PROVISION

Pursuant to the Articles of Association, the Directors shall be indemnified
against all losses and liabilities which they may incur in connection with their
duties. The Company has arranged appropriate directors’ and officers’ liability
insurance coverage for the directors and officers of the Group.

DIRECTORS’ AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT’S
REMUNERATION AND FIVE INDIVIDUALS
WITH THE HIGHEST EMOLUMENT

Details of the emoluments of the Directors and the five individuals with the
highest emoluments disclosed on a named basis and/or by band respectively,
are set out in notes 10 to 11 to the audited consolidated financial statements
in this annual report, respectively.

Details of the remuneration of the senior management disclosed by band are
set out under the paragraph headed “Remuneration Committee” under section
headed “Board Committees” in Corporate Governance Report in this annual
report.

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN SHARES,
UNDERLYING SHARES AND DEBENTURES

As at 31 March 2022, the interests of the Directors in the shares, underlying
shares and debentures of the Company or any of its associated corporations
(within the meaning of Part XV of the Securities and Futures Ordinance
(Chapter 571 of the Laws of Hong Kong) (the “SFO”)) which (i) are required
to be notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant to Divisions
7 and 8 of Part XV of the SFO (including interests and short positions which
they are taken or deemed to have under such provisions of the SFO); (ii) were
recorded in the register required to be kept under Section 352 of the SFO; or
(iii) were required to be notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange
pursuant to Model Code for Securities Transactions by Directors of Listed
Issuers (the “Model Code”) as set out in Appendix 10 to the Listing Rules
were as follows:
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Note:

1. Mr. Cheung Siu Fai is interested in 736,194,000 shares of the Company, of which he
is (i) the beneficial owner of 12,952,000 shares of the Company and (ii) deemed to be
interested in 723,242,000 shares of the Company through Hammer Capital Private
Investments Limited, an entity where Mr. Cheung is a director and having a security

interest in the shares of the Company.

Save as disclosed above and the interests as disclosed under the section
headed “DIRECTORS’ RIGHTS TO ACQUIRE SHARES AND
DEBENTURES” below, as at 31 March 2022, none of the Directors or the
chief executive of the Company had any interest or short positions in any
shares, underlying shares or debentures of the Company or any of its
associated corporations (within the meaning of Part XV of the SFO) which (i)
are required to be notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant
to Divisions 7 and 8 of Part XV of the SFO (including interests or short
positions which they are taken or deemed to have under such provisions of the
SFO); or (ii) were recorded in the register required to be kept under Section
352 of the SFO; or (iii) were required to be notified to the Company and the
Stock Exchange pursuant to the Model Code.

DIRECTORS’ RIGHTS TO ACQUIRE SHARES
AND DEBENTURES

As at 31 March 2022, the number of outstanding Share Options granted by the
Company under the share option scheme adopted on 24 September 2013 (the
“Share Option Scheme”) for the Directors to subscribe for the shares of the
Company, as recorded in the register required to be kept under section 352 of
the SFO or as otherwise notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange
pursuant to the Model Code is set out in the sections headed “SHARE
CAPITAL AND SHARE OPTIONS” and in the note 45 to the audited

consolidated financial statements in this annual report.

CODE FOR SECURITIES TRANSACTIONS BY
DIRECTORS

The Company has adopted the Model Code, amended from time to time. All
the Directors have confirmed they have complied with the required standards
set out in the Model Code throughout the year ended 31 March 2022.
Employees of the Company, who are likely to be in possession of unpublished
inside information, have been requested to comply with provisions of the
Model Code.
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DIRECTORS’ MATERIALS INTERESTS IN
TRANSACTIONS, ARRANGEMENTS OR
CONTRACTS

Save as disclosed in note 44 to the audited consolidated financial statements
in this annual report and under the section headed “CONNECTED
TRANSACTION AND RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS?”, if any, in this
report, no Director or any entities connected with the Director had a material
interest, either directly or indirectly, in any transactions, arrangements or
contract of significance to the business of the Group to which the Company,
or any of its subsidiaries, its fellow subsidiaries or its holding companies was
a party subsisted at the end of the year or at any time during the year ended
31 March 2022.

SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS’ INTERESTS

As at 31 March 2022, according to the register of interests kept by the
Company under Section 336 of the SFO, the interest of the persons, other than
the Directors or the chief executive of the Company, in the shares and
underlying shares of the Company which were notified to the Company and
the Stock Exchange pursuant to Divisions 2 and 3 of Part XV of the SFO and
entered in the register maintained by the Company pursuant to Section 336 of

the SFO, or otherwise notified to the Company were as follows:

Long positions in shares of the Company
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Mr. Chan Yan Tak!
(“Mr. Chan”)
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Interest of controlled corporation
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Able Island Group Limited!
(“Able Island™)

Able Island Group Limited!
(T'Able Island )

Beneficial owner

A A 38

Hammer Capital Private Person having a security

interest in shares

FEA B0 B £ w6 i 19 A

Investments Limited?
Hammer Capital Private o

Investments Limited?

Ordinary shares

Ordinary shares

Ordinary shares

733,568,000 23.60%
723,242,000 23.27%
723,242,000 23.27%
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Mr. Cheung Siu Fai? Interest of controlled corporation Ordinary shares 723,242,000 23.27%

R MR S R Z P R 2 7

Mr. Cheung Siu Fai® Beneficial owner Ordinary shares 12,952,000 0.42%

[ 3e et WA A W A

Mr. Tsang Ling Kay Rodney? Interest of controlled corporation Ordinary shares 723,242,000 23.27%
(“Mr. Tsang”)

WA HEAE (T4 ) Z PV TR 48 Ik

Symphony Holdings Limited* Interest of controlled corporation Ordinary shares 512,982,240 16.51%
(“Symphony”)

AR AT IR A R P v TR 48 7
([

Cosmo Group Holdings Beneficial owner Ordinary shares 512,982,240 16.51%
Limited* (“Cosmo”)

Cosmo Group Holdings ErEa A -4

Limited* ([ Cosmo /)

Ms. Leung Lisa® Interest of controlled corporation  Ordinary shares 205,821,793 6.62%

RREH £ 1o S Y T 1 R I

Prosper Rich Investments Beneficial owner Ordinary shares 205,821,793 6.62%
Limited® (“Prosper Rich”)

Prosper Rich Investments Ea A A o 5

Limited® ([ Prosper Rich])

* The percentage has been adjusted, if any, based on the total number of shares of the — * HAORWBEEBREBEAARAR _F _“HF=H=+—H
Company in issue as at 31 March 2022 (i.e. 3,107,893,440 shares). B 3547 B 17 40 9 (BP3,107,893,440 %) {1 H 7% (41
H) e
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Notes:

1. Based on the public information of disclosure of interest from the website of the Stock
Exchange (http://www.hkexnews.hk/di/di.htm), 723,242,000 shares and 10,326,000
shares of the Company were held by Able Island and Nice Day Investment Company
Limited respectively, both of which are wholly-owned by Mr. Chan. As such,
Mr. Chan is deemed to be interested in the shares held by these companies by virtue
of the SFO. With reference to the notice of disclosure of interests of Able Island and
Mr. Chan filed with the Stock Exchange on 9 September 2021, the shares of the

Company where Mr. Chan deemed to be interested in were pledged as security.

2. Based on the public information of disclosure of interest from the website of the Stock
Exchange (http://www.hkexnews.hk/di/di.htm), with reference to the notice of the
disclosure of interests of Hammer Capital filed with the Stock Exchange on 28 April
2022, 723,242,000 shares of the Company have been secured in favour of Hammer
Capital, a company which is wholly-owned by Mr. Tsang, and Mr. Cheung Siu Fai, an
executive director of the Company, is also a director of Hammer Capital. As such,
Mr. Tsang and Mr. Cheung Siu Fai are deemed to be interested in the shares held by

these companies by virtue of the SFO.

3. Mr. Cheung Siu Fai, an executive director of the Company, is a beneficial owner of
12,952,000 shares of the Company.

4. Based on the public information of disclosure of interest from the website of the Stock
Exchange (http://www.hkexnews.hk/di/di.htm), with reference to the notices of
disclosure of interests of Cosmo Group and Symphony filed with the Stock Exchange
on 2 September 2021, 512,982,240 shares of the Company were held by Cosmo
Group, a wholly-owned subsidiary of Symphony. As such, Symphony is deemed to be
interested in the shares held by Cosmo Group by virtue of the SFO.

5. Based on the public information of disclosure of interest from the website of the Stock
Exchange (http://www.hkexnews.hk/di/di.htm), with reference to the notices of
disclosure of interests of Prosper Rich and Ms. Leung Lisa filed with the Stock
Exchange on 20 December 2021, 205,821,793 shares of the Company were held by
Prosper Rich, a wholly-owned subsidiary of Ms. Leung Lisa. As such, Ms. Leung Lisa
is deemed to be interested in the shares held by Prosper Rich by virtue of the SFO.

Save as disclosed above, as at 31 March 2022, the Company had not been
notified by any persons (other than the Directors or the chief executives of the
Company) who had interests or short positions in the shares or underlying
shares of the Company which would fall to be disclosed to the Company
under the provisions of Divisions 2 and 3 of Part XV of the SFO, or which
were recorded in the register required to be kept by the Company under
Section 336 of the SFO.
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COMPETING INTEREST

For the year ended 31 March 2022, save as disclosed, the Directors were not
aware of any business or interest of the Directors and their respective close
associates that compete or may compete, either directly or indirectly, with the
business of the Group and any other conflict of interest which any such

person has or may have with the Group.

PUBLIC FLOAT

Based on the information that is publicly available to the Company and within
the knowledge of the Directors, during the year ended 31 March 2022 and up
to the date of this annual report, there is sufficient public float of the

Company’s securities as required under the Listing Rules.

MAJOR CUSTOMERS AND SUPPLIERS

For the year ended 31 March 2022, the aggregate sales attributable to the
Group’s five largest customers and the largest customer taken together
accounted for approximately 68.9% and 65.9% of the Group’s total sales for

year, respectively.

For the year ended 31 March 2022, the aggregate purchases attributable to the
Group’s five largest suppliers and the largest supplier taken together
accounted for approximately 58.3% and 20.5% of the Group’s total purchases

for the year, respectively.

As far as the Directors are aware, neither the Directors, their close associates,
nor those Shareholders (which, to the best knowledge of the Directors, own
more than 5% of the Company’s issued share capital) had any beneficial

interest in any of the Group’s five largest customers or suppliers.

MANAGEMENT CONTRACT

No contract concerning the management and administration of the whole or
any substantial part of the business of the Company was entered into or
existed during the year ended 31 March 2022.
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REPORT OF THE DIRECTORS

CONNECTED TRANSACTION AND RELATED
PARTY TRANSACTIONS

Details of the Group’s related party transactions are set out in note 44 to the
audited consolidated financial statements in this annual report. Save for the
transactions disclosed under note 44(b) which are continuing connected
transactions that are exempt from annual reporting requirements under Chapter
14A of the Listing Rules, such related party transactions do not fall under the
definition of connected transaction or continuing connected transaction under
the Listing Rules.

Saved as disclosed above, there were no other transactions which are required
to be disclosed as continuing connected transactions in accordance with the
requirements of the Listing Rules. The Board confirms that the Company has
complied with the applicable disclosure requirements in accordance with
Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules.

STAFF

As at 31 March 2022, the Group had approximately 152 employees. Salaries
of employees and directors are determined with reference to their duties and
responsibilities in the Group and are maintained at competitive levels and
bonuses are fixed on a discretionary basis. Other employee benefits include
provident fund, insurance, medical cover, subsidized educational and training

programmes as well as the Share Option Scheme.

PENSION SCHEMES

The pension schemes of the Group are primary in the form of contributions to
Hong Kong’s Mandatory Provident Fund and the PRC statutory public welfare
fund respectively. Details are set out in note 16 to the audited consolidated

financial statement in this annual report.

DONATIONS

During the year, the Group did not make any charitable and other donations
(2021: Nil).

ENVIRONMENTAL POLICY

The Group is committed to sustainable development and delivering our high
quality products in a manner that minimal impact is created by our business
activities to the environment. The Company has engaged professional advisers
to review and advise on the environmental, social and governance policies of
the Group, and the Group has committed to formulate, review and evaluate the
performance of its environmental protection policies from time to time. More
details on the relevant policies and the performance of the Group will be
disclosed in the environmental, social and governance report for the year
ended 31 March 2022.
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COMPLIANCE WITH LAWS AND REGULATIONS

Compliance procedures are in place to ensure adherence to applicable laws,
rules and regulations in particular, those have significant impact on the Group.
The Board review and monitor the Group’s policies and practices on
compliance with legal and regulatory requirements on a regular basis. Any
changes in the applicable laws, rules and regulations are brought to the

attention of relevant employees and relevant operation units from time to time.

During the financial year ended 31 March 2022, to the best of the Company’s
knowledge, save as disclosed in the “Corporate Governance Report” on page
46 of this annual report, the Company has complied with the requirements
under the memorandum of association and articles of association of the
Company, the Listing Rules, the SFO, Companies Act of the Cayman Islands
and other law applicable to the Company. Details of the Company’s
compliance with the code provisions set out in the Corporate Governance
Code and Corporate Governance Report contained in the Listing Rules are
provided in the “Corporate Governance Report” from pages 46 to 73 of this

annual report.

To protect the privacy of its employees and clients of its products and to
safeguard the interests of its employees, the Group has complied with the
requirements of the Personal Data (Privacy) Ordinance, the Employment
Ordinance, the Minimum Wage Ordinance and ordinances relating to
disability, sex, family status, race discrimination and occupational safety

through established internal policies and/or procedures.

EVENTS AFTER THE REPORTING DATE
Details of a significant event occurring after the reporting date are set out in

note 48 to the audited consolidated financial statement in this annual report.
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REPORT OF THE DIRECTORS

AUDITOR

Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu (“Deloitte”) has resigned as the auditor of the
Company with effect from 22 April 2022 as the Company and Deloitte could
not reach a mutual agreement in respect of the audit fee for the financial year
ended 31 March 2022. In this connection, Moore Stephens CPA Limited
(“Moore Stephens”) has been appointed by the Board as the auditor of the
Company in place of the resignation of Deloitte as the auditor of the
Company with effect from 25 April 2022. The financial statements for the
year ended 31 March 2022 were audited by Moore Stephens, they hold office
until the conclusion of the 2022 AGM and a resolution of the re-appointment
of Moore Stephens as auditor of the Company for the forthcoming year by the
Shareholders would be proposed in the 2022 AGM.

On behalf of the Board

Shunten International (Holdings) Limited

Wang Xihua
Acting chairman
Hong Kong, 30 June 2022
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE PRACTICES

The Company recognises the importance of good corporate governance to the
Company’s growth and has devoted considerable efforts to identifying and
formulating corporate governance practices appropriate to the Company’s
needs. The Company has adopted the code provisions set out in the Corporate
Governance Code (amended from time to time, the “Code”) contained in
Appendix 14 to the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities (the “Listing
Rules”) on The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock
Exchange”). As far as the Code is concerned, during the year ended
31 March 2022 and up to the date of this annual report, the Company has
complied with all applicable Code provisions as set out in the Code contained
in the Appendix 14 to the Listing Rules except the deviation from the Code
provision C.2.1 (former Code provision A.2.1) during the period from 1 April
2021 to 18 May 2022, which stipulates that the roles of chairman of the
Board (the “Chairman”) and chief executive officer (“CEQ”) of the Company
should be separated, details of the deviation is elaborated below under the

paragraph headed “Chairman and Chief Executive Officer” in this report.

The Company has complied with the memorandum of association and the
Articles of Association, the Companies Act of the Cayman Islands, the
Securities and Future Ordinance and the Listing Rules as well as other laws

applicable to the Company.

The Board has conducted an annual review of its corporate governance duties
in accordance with the Code, and considered that the Company’s (i) policies
and practices on corporate governance; (ii) the training and the continuous
professional development of the Directors and senior management of the
Company; (iii) policies and practices on compliance with legal and regulatory
requirements; (iv) the code of conduct and compliance manual (if any)
applicable to employees and the Directors; and (v) the compliance with the
Code and disclosure in this report, are adequate and appropriate for the
Company in light of its current corporate strategy. The Company did and will
review of its corporate governance duties in light of the changing legal and

regulatory requirements as well as the Code from time to time.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT

THE BOARD

Board Composition

As at the date of this report, the Board comprises nine (9) Directors, all with

professional backgrounds and/or extensive expertise for the direction and

oversight of the Group’s strategic priorities and public responsibilities. During
the year ended 31 March 2022 and up to the date of this report, the

composition of the Board comprises the following Directors:

Executive Directors

Mr. Wang Xihua (Acting Chairman)'

Mr. Lai Wei Lam, William

Mr. Cheung Siu Fai?

Mr. Lam Wai Tong (Co-chief Executive Officer)"?
Mr. Chen Man Lung (Co-chief Executive Officer)" 3

Independent Non-executive Directors

Mr. Leung Winson Kwan Yau
Mr. Tam Kin Yip

Mr. Leung Man Loon

Ms. So Tsz Kwan**

Mr. Yeung Yat Chuen®

Notes:

Mr. Wang Xihua is the acting chairman and acting CEO during the year ended 31 March
2022, and following the appointments of Mr. Lam Wai Tong and Mr. Chen Man Lung
as Co-CEOs which has been taken effect from 19 May 2022, the executive
responsibilities of Mr. Wang Xihua has changed and he remains as the acting chairman

of the Company.

Mr. Cheung Siu Fai and Ms. So Tsz Kwan were appointed as an executive director and
an independent non-executive director of the Company respectively on 24 January
2022.

Mr. Lam Wai Tong, Mr. Chen Man Lung and Mr. Yeung Yat Chuen were appointed
as an executive director, an executive director and an independent non-executive

director of the Company respectively on 6 May 2022.

Ms. So Tsz Kwan resigned as an independent non-executive director with effect from
23 June 2022.

The composition, experience, balance of skills, qualifications and diversity on

the Board are regularly reviewed by nomination committee of the Company to

ensure that the Board retains a core of members with longstanding and deep

knowledge of the Group alongside new Directors who bring fresh perspectives

and diverse experience to the Board.
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The biographical details of all the Directors are set out under the section
headed “BIOGRAPHICAL DETAILS OF DIRECTORS AND SENIOR
MANAGEMENT” in this annual report, which demonstrate a diversity of
skills, expertise, experience and qualifications of the Board members. A list of
Directors identifying their roles, functions and titles is available on the
websites of the Stock Exchange (www.hkexnews.hk) and the Company
(www.shunten.com.hk). The names of all the Directors did and be disclosed in

all corporate communications of the Company.

Save as disclosed above and other information disclosed in this annual report,
if any, there is no financial, business, family or other material and/or relevant

relationship between the Board members.

Directors’ Rotation and Re-election

Pursuant to the Articles of Association, at least one-third of the Directors for
the time being shall retire by rotation from the Board at the conclusion of
each of annual general meeting of the Company as well as each Director shall
be subject to retirement at the annual general meetings of the Company at
least once every three years under the Articles of Association and the Listing
Rules. The Directors to retire in every year shall be those who have been the
longest in office since their last re-election in the annual general meeting of
the Company. Any Director appointed to fill a casual vacancy to the Board
during the year is subject to retirement at the first general meeting of the
Company to be held after his/her appointment by the Board and then
re-election by the shareholders (the “Shareholders”) at the same meeting in

accordance with the Listing Rules and the Articles of Association.

Mr. Leung Winson Kwan Yau, being the independent non-executive Director,
will retire by rotation from the Board at the conclusion of the annual general
meeting of the Company to be held on 25 August 2022 (the “2022 AGM”)
and, being eligible, offer himself to be re-elected as Directors by the
Shareholders in the 2022 AGM in accordance with Article 84(1) of the
Articles of Association and the Listing Rules. Mr. Tam Kin Yip and
Mr. Leung Man Loon, being the independent non-executive Directors, will
also retire by rotation from the Board but will not offer themselves for
re-election at the 2022 AGM, and will cease to be Directors upon conclusion
of the 2022 AGM.

Mr. Cheung Siu Fai was appointed as the executive Director by the Board on
24 January 2022 and Mr. Lam Wai Tong, Mr. Chen Man Lung and
Mr. Yeung Yat Chuen were appointed as an executive Director, an executive
Director and an independent non-executive Director by the Board respectively
on 6 May 2022. All of them shall retire from the Board in accordance with
Article 83(3) of Articles of Association of the Company at the 2022 AGM.
All of the retiring Directors, being eligible, offer themselves for re-election in
the 2022 AGM.
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Changes of Board Composition

Mr. Lam Wai Tong and Mr. Chen Man Lung have been appointed as
Co-CEOs of the Company with effect from 19 May 2022. Following the
appointments of Mr. Lam Wai Tong and Mr. Chen Man Lung as the
Co-CEOs, the executive responsibilities of Mr. Wang Xihua will be changed
from executive Director, Acting Chairman, Acting CEO and authorised
representative of the Company to executive Director, Acting Chairman and

authorised representative of the Company.

Service Agreements with the Company

The Company entered into service agreements with each of the Directors for a
term of three years, respectively. Their terms of office are also subject to (i)
retirement by rotation from the Board at least once every three years at the
conclusion of annual general meeting; (ii) at least one-third of the Directors
for the time being shall retire by rotation from the Board at the conclusion of
each annual general meeting; and (iii) Director(s) appointed by the Board to
fill a casual vacancy during the year shall hold office until the conclusion of
the first general meeting of the Company to be held and then be re-appointed
by the Shareholders at the same meeting in accordance with the Articles of

Association and/or the Listing Rules.

For any independent non-executive Director who has served the Company for
more than nine years, his/her further appointment will be subject to a separate
resolution to be approved by the Shareholders at the annual general meeting
and the papers to the Shareholders accompanying that resolution will include
the reasons why the Board believes he/she is still independent and should be
re-elected under the Listing Rules. The respective appointment dates of all
independent non-executive Directors (all have served the Company less than

nine years) are set out below:

Mr. Leung Winson Kwan Yau was appointed on 24 October 2016.

Mr. Tam Kin Yip was appointed on 7 March 2017.

Mr. Leung Man Loon was appointed on 11 September 2017.

Ms. So Tsz Kwan was appointed on 24 January 2022 and resigned with effect
from 23 June 2022.

Mr. Yeung Yat Chuen was appointed on 6 May 2022.
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Directors’ Responsibilities and Delegation

The overall management of the Company’s business is vested in the Board.
The Board has delegated the day-to-day management, administration and
operation of the Company’s business to the senior management of the
Company and the delegated functions and work tasks have been formalised
and periodically reviewed by the Board. Approval has to be obtained from the
Board prior to any significant transactions, arrangements and/or contracts
entered into by the senior management of the Company and the Group. The
Board focuses its attention on matters affecting the Company’s overall
strategic policies, corporate governance, finance and the Shareholders,
including financial statements, dividend policy, significant changes in
accounting policy, annual operating budget, certain material contracts,
strategies for future growth, major financing arrangements and major
investments, corporate governance functions, risk management system, treasury
policies and fare structures. The Board has the full support of its senior

management to discharge its responsibilities.

Chairman and Chief Executive Officer

Code provision C.2.1 (former Code provision A.2.1) stipulates that the roles of
Chairman of the Board and CEO should be separated and should not be
performed by the same individual. During the year ended 31 March 2022 and
for the period from 1 April 2022 to 18 May 2022, Mr. Wang Xihua has been
both the Acting Chairman of the Board and the Acting CEO of the Company.

During the period from 1 April 2021 to 18 May 2022, Mr. Wang Xihua, the
Acting Chairman of the Board and the Acting CEO of the Company, is
responsible for providing leadership to the Board in terms of establishing
policies and business directions. He ensures that the Board discharges its
responsibilities effectively and all key issues are discussed by the Board
timely. Mr. Wang is also responsible for the overall operation and the
executive responsibilities of the Group and the full implementation of the
directions and policies established by the Board. Although Mr. Wang served
as both the Chairman and CEO of the Company which is a deviation from
Code Provision C.2.1 (former Code provision A.2.1), given Mr. Wang’s
extensive experience in the business of the Group, the Board considered
during the period in which Mr. Wang was performing both roles of Acting
Chairman and Acting CEO, the efficiency of the Company’s business
development and management could be enhanced, and would not impair the
balance of power and authority between the Board and the management of the
Company. Moreover, all other members of the Board have the experience and
expertise to ensure balance of power and authority so that the power is not
concentrated in any one individual.

Since the appointment of Mr. Lam Wai Tong and Mr. Chen Man Lung as the
Co-CEOs of the Company with effect from 19 May 2022, the roles of
Chairman and CEO are separated and the Company has not deviated from

Code provision C.2.1 (former Code provision A.2.1).
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Independent Non-executive Directors

The independent non-executive Directors take an active role in Board
meetings and committees of the Board, contribute to the development of
strategies and policies and make sound judgement in various aspects. They
take lead when potential conflicts of interest arise. Independent board
committee of the Company comprising all independent non-executive
Directors will be formed to advise the independent Shareholders on those
connected transactions to be approved by the independent Shareholders at the
extraordinary general meeting of the Company in accordance with the Listing
Rules. The independent non-executive Directors are also members of various
Board Committees and devote sufficient time and attention to the affairs of the

Company.

“BIOGRAPHICAL DETAILS OF
DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT?” in this annual report, Mr. Lam
Wai Tong holds cross-directorship with Mr. Yeung Yat Chuen since they

As disclosed in the section headed

serve on the boards of the Company and MIE Holdings Corporation (a
company listed on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange with stock code
1555). However, the Company considers that such cross-directorship would not
undermine the independence of Mr. Yeung Yat Chuen with respect to his
directorship at the Company given that (i) Mr. Yeung Yat Chuen is not
involved in any day-to-day operation of the Company as an independent
non-executive director, and (ii) he has complied and followed with the
Company’s guidelines on declaration and conflicts clearances. Meanwhile,
Mr. Yeung Yat Chuen will act with integrity and exercise objectivity in the

conduct of serving the Company.

Directors’ Induction and Development

The Company provides a comprehensive, formal and tailored induction
programme for newly appointed Directors to enhance their knowledge and
understanding of the key areas of business operations and practices of the
Group as well as the general and specific responsibilities and duties of
Directors under the Articles of Association, the Companies Act of the Cayman
Islands, the Listing Rules and relevant applicable regulatory requirements in

Cayman Islands and Hong Kong.

An induction programme covering the roles of a Director from group
structure, Board procedures, business management and operation of the
Company, duties under the Listing Rules, the SFO, as well as the essence of
corporate governance and the trends in these areas, have therefore arranged for

all newly appointed Directors from the time to time.
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Continuous professional development and training of Directors is an ongoing
process to ensure the continued enhancement of their skills and knowledge.
The company secretary of the Company (the “Company Secretary”) regularly
circulates information and materials related to roles, functions and duties of
listed company directors, business research and development, updated rules
and regulations, economic, environmental and social topics to develop and
refresh knowledge and skills of the Directors. All Directors are encouraged to
attend relevant training courses provided by external bodies at the Company’s
expense. During the year ended 31 March 2022, the record of the trainings of

the Directors, on named basis, is set out in the table below:

Frigt e R R EI R AN B e > BE
ANB B R AR o AN T Z A FIRLE
(TA RG] 22 B R 5L 1 i 20 R 2 F 9 6
T BE MM ~ SERSIREE ~ JE R 14 45 ) KR 9] LA
R - B Rk G LA B Y EORL B b R AR
JEE T B S 2 I G S B R o AR T A B
H NGBS M B G RIRR AR - B A
INFRYE M E R - AE = A = F—H LA
JE o T R R R i ik 4 SRR A R N R

Executive Directors H 1T

Mr. Wang Xihua PG EE S A

Mr. Lai Wei Lam, William AR MRS AR
Mr. Cheung Siu Fai [ 30 e
Independent Non-executive Directors W IEH LT H
Mr. Leung Winson Kwan Yau S

Mr. Tam Kin Yip A e

Mr. Leung Man Loon PICHE A

Ms. So Tsz Kwan WIS /N

AN

AR NRNIN

All Directors are required to provide the Company with their training records
on an annual basis, and such records are maintained by the Company
Secretary of the Company for regular review by the nomination committee of
the Company. The training records of the Directors were reviewed by the

nomination committee of the Company in June 2022.
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Board and Board Committees Proceedings

The Directors attend quarterly Board meetings and meets at other times as and
when required. All Directors have full and timely access to relevant
information of the Company and may take independent professional advice at
the Company’s expense, if necessary, in accordance with the approved

procedures.

Notice to regular Board meeting is served to all Directors at least 14 days
before the meeting. For other Board and committees of the Board (“Board

Committee(s)”’) meetings, reasonable notice is generally given.

The draft agendas for Board and Board Committees meetings are prepared by
the Company Secretary of the Company and approved by the Chairman and
Board Committees. Directors are advised to inform the Chairman and Board
Committees or the Company Secretary not less than one week before the
relevant Board and Board Committees meeting if they wish to include a
matter in the agenda of the meeting. The agendas together with Board and
Board Committees papers are sent at least three days before the intended date
of the Board and Board Committees meeting. To facilitate the
decision-making process, the Directors and Committee members are free to
have access to the management for enquiries and to obtain further information
and have unrestricted access to the advice and services of the Company

Secretary when required.

The Chairman has encouraged all Directors to make full and active
contributions to the Board’s affairs and take the lead to ensure that the Board
acts in the best interest of the Company and the Shareholder as a whole. He
has promoted a culture of openness and debate by facilitating the effective
contribution of independent non-executive Directors and ensuring constructive
relations between executive Directors and independent non-executive
Directors. Accordingly, the Board operates in a functional manner with clearly

defined objectives, strategies and responsibilities.

All Directors are required to comply with their duty to act in the best
interests of the Company and have particularly regard to the interest of the
Shareholders as a whole. Amongst others, all Directors are required to declare
the nature and extent of their interests, if any, in any transaction, arrangement,
contract or other proposal to be considered by the Board at Board meetings.
Unless specifically permitted by the Articles of Association, a Director cannot
cast a vote on any contract, transaction, arrangement or any other proposal in

which he/she has or any of his/her close associates is materially interested.
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Monthly financial and operational information is provided to the Directors by
the Company Secretary to discharge their duties and acknowledge the
development of the Company from time to time. Other regular and ad hoc
reports are also prepared for the Board and Board Committees, to ensure that
the Directors and member of the Board Committees are supplied with all the

requested information in a timely and appropriate manner.

Directors’ Attendance Records at Meetings

The individual attendance record of each Director at meetings of the Board as
well as the annual general meeting of the Company during the year ended
31 March 2022 are as follows:

O3 FIRL A T SR (A B R R
SEIRATHB T AN TR ALN T 28R - IR i
FE N R G2 B RO R R
DA QR 2 55 J 30 -6 2 B8 R T R 5 T
RS TR — DVER

O e e

HE-E - F=HA=+—HILFE  FEFH
I 6 S e SR o ) I RO AR K o 22 A Al R Bk
#HEmE

Attendance/Number of meetings during

the Directors’ tenure of office

RN R
Annual
general meeting Board
&SN HHE
Number of Meeting(s) B IR 1 13
Executive Directors HATHF
Mr. Wang Xihua SR e /1 13/13
Mr. Lai Wei Lam, William T AR /1 13/13
Mr. Cheung Siu Fai' ik D S A N/AR 7 2/2
Independent Non-executive Directors P IEB AT HEF
Mr. Leung Winson Kwan Yau BB e A 1/1 13/13
Mr. Tam Kin Yip R S A /1 13/13
Mr. Leung Man Loon PEICHE SR 1/1 12/13
Ms. So Tsz Kwan'"? WEIE A /N2 N/AA 212
Notes: FRFRE
1. Mr. Cheung Siu Fai and Ms. So Tsz Kwan were appointed on 24 January 2022. 1. e B R R M R A= =
HERAT -

2. Ms. So Tsz Kwan resigned with effect from 23 June 2022. 2. BRIEH/DNMEBHAT R —F - " FANA -+ =Hi#E4
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Directors are expected to devote sufficient time and attention in performing
their duties and responsibilities towards the Company. The high attendance
record at the Board meetings and Board committees meetings for the year
ended 31 March 2022, which was reviewed by the nomination committee of
the Company in June 2022, demonstrated the Directors’ strong commitment to

the Company.

The minutes of Board and Board committees meetings are currently prepared
by the Company Secretary with details of the matters considered by the Board
and Board committees and decisions reached, including any concerns raised by
the Director(s) and members of Board committees or dissenting views
expressed (if any). The draft minutes are circulated to all members of the
Board and Board committees for their comment within a reasonable time after

the meeting.

Statutory Confirmations

The Company has received written annual confirmations of independence from
all independent non-executive Directors for the year ended 31 March 2022 in
accordance with rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules, amended from time to time.
The nomination committee of the Company has assessed their independence
and concluded that all the independent non-executive Directors are
independent within the definition of the Listing Rules and continues to

consider each of them is independent.

According to the Code, each Director should ensure that he/she can give
sufficient time and attention to the affairs of the Company and make
contribution to the development of the Company’s strategy and policies
through independent, constructive and informed comments. The Chairman held
a meeting with the non-executive Directors without the other executive

Director during the year.

Regarding disclosure of the number and nature of offices held by the
Directors in public companies or organisations and other significant
commitments as well as their identity and the time involved (the
“Commitments”) to the Company, all Directors have agreed to confirm/
update their Commitments to the Company in a timely manner and confirm
his/her other directorships, major appointments and interests to the Company

twice a year.
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Directors’ Insurance

Directors’ and Officers’ liability insurance has been arranged for all Directors,
including company securities, employment practices, regulatory crisis event,
investigation, litigation, tax liabilities and public relation, etc. The Company
has conducted an annual review of the Company’s Directors’ and Officers’
liability insurance policy with reference to recent trends in the insurance
market and other relevant factors. The review compared the amount of

coverage against other similar policies purchase by other companies.

Directors’ Securities Transactions

The Company has adopted the required standard of dealings the “Model Code
for Securities Transactions by Directors of Listed Issuers” (“Model Code”) as
set out in the Appendix 10 of Listing Rules as the code of conduct regarding
Directors’ securities transactions in the securities of the Company. Upon the
Company’s specific enquiry, each Director has confirmed that they have fully
complied with the Model Code under the Listing Rules, and there is no event
of non-compliance. Employees of the Company, who are likely to be in
possession of unpublished inside information of the Company, have been

requested to comply with the provisions of the Model Code.

COMPANY SECRETARY

Ms. Chan Yuk Chi is the Company Secretary of the Company since 21
October 2021. The biographical details of Ms. Chan Yuk Chi are set out
under the section headed “BIOGRAPHICAL DETAILS OF DIRECTORS
AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT?” in this annual report.

The Company Secretary of the Company is a full-time employee of the
Company and is appointed by the Board. The Company Secretary reports to
the Acting Chairman of the Board and Co-CEOs of the Company and is
responsible for ensuring sound information flow and communication among
the members of the Board, senior management and the Shareholders as well as
advising the Board on corporate governance matters. All Directors have access
to the advice and services of the Company Secretary to ensure that Board

procedures as well as all applicable laws, rules and regulations are followed.

Ms. Chan Yuk Chi has confirmed that she has taken no less than 15 hours of
relevant professional training in compliance with Rule 3.29 of the Listing
Rules for the financial year ended 31 March 2022.
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BOARD COMMITTEES

As an integral part of good corporate governance, the Board has established a
total of three Board committees, namely, the audit committee, the
remuneration committee and the nomination committee, to oversee particular
aspects of the Company’s affairs. Each of these Board committees is governed
by its respective terms of reference (amended from time to time) which are
available on the both websites of the Company (www.shunten.com.hk) and the

Stock Exchange (www.hkexnews.hk).

All Board committees are provided with sufficient resources to discharge their
duties and are able to seek independent professional advice in appropriate

circumstances, at the Company’s expense, to perform their responsibilities.

Audit Committee

The audit committee of the Company (“Audit Committee”) has been
established by the Board, it comprises a minimum of three members, at least
one of whom is an independent non-executive Director with appropriate
professional qualifications or accounting or related financial management
expertise as required under the Rule 3.10(2) of the Listing Rules. The
majority of the Audit Committee members should be independent
non-executive Directors. The Audit Committee should be chaired by an
independent non-executive Director in compliance with the Rule 3.21 of the

Listing Rules.

As at 30 June 2022, the Audit Committee consists of four (4) members, they
are all independent non-executive Directors, namely Mr. Leung Winson Kwan
Yau (chairman of Audit Committee), Mr. Tam Kin Yip, Mr. Leung Man Loon
and Mr. Yeung Yat Chuen. None of the members of the Audit Committee is

or was a former partner of the Company’s existing external auditor.

Duties of Audit Committee

The primary duties of the Audit Committee, among other things, are to make
recommendation to the Board on the appointment, re-appointment and removal
of the external auditor; review the financial statements and material advice (if
any) in respect of financial reporting system; and oversee internal control
system and risk management system of the Company.
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Work Performed by Audit Committee
During the year ended 31 March 2022, the Audit Committee held four (4)

meetings. The attendance of each member at meetings is as follows:

HHZ R G EAT TAF
WE-Z-HFEA=+HILHFE  FHER
TRAT T @R G - & H HE el s
nE

Mr. Leung Winson Kwan Yau (Chairman) PHULSE A (T ) 4/4
Mr. Tam Kin Yip S 4/4
Mr. Leung Man Loon P 4/4
Ms. So Tsz Kwan (appointed on 24 January 2022 and BRIEAE /NIE (=2
resigned with effect from 23 June 2022) —H A A EZF - H B
H ZF T TAEAN] A = AR 1/1

In accordance with its terms of reference, the Audit Committee performed,
inter alia, the following work during the year ended 31 March 2022 and up to
the date of this report:

1. reviewed, approved and recommended the draft audited financial
statements and unaudited financial statements, the interim and final
dividend (if any) and the draft results announcements of the Company,
including any changes in accounting policies and practices; major
judgmental areas; compliance with accounting and auditing standards;
and compliance with the listing requirements on the Listing Rules and
legal requirements in relation to financial reporting prior to

recommending them to the Board for approval.

2. reviewed, approved and recommended the report in relation to the
evaluation of the adequacy and effectiveness and of the internal control
system and the risk management system of the Group and the relevant

report prior to recommending them to the Board for approval.
3. reviewed, assessed and commented relationship with the external auditor
and independence and the level of support and co-operation given by

the Group’s management.

4. reviewed, approved and recommended the changes, re-appointment and

remuneration of the external auditor.
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5. reviewed, assessed and commented the adequacy of resources,
qualifications and experience of the staff of the Group’s accounting and

financial reporting function and their training programmes and budget.

Remuneration Committee

The remuneration committee of the Company (“Remuneration Committee”)
has been established by the Board, it should be chaired by an independent
non-executive Director and comprising a majority of independent

non-executive Directors in compliance with Rule 3.25 of the Listing Rules.

As at 30 June 2022, the Remuneration Committee consists of four (4)
members, they are all independent non-executive Directors, namely Mr. Tam
Kin Yip (chairman of Remuneration Committee), Mr. Leung Winson Kwan
Yau, Mr. Leung Man Loon and Mr. Yeung Yat Chuen.

Duties of Remuneration Committee

The primary duties of the Remuneration Committee are to make
recommendations to the Board on the overall remuneration policy and
structure relating to all the Directors and senior management of the Group;
review performance-based remuneration; and ensure none of the Directors
determine their own remuneration. The Remuneration Committee also makes
recommendation to the Board with respect to share options granted and to be
granted to Director and/or senior management of the Group under the share
option scheme of the Company. When the remuneration package of an

individual Director is under review, such Director will abstain from voting.

Work Performed by Remuneration Committee
During the year ended 31 March 2022, the Remuneration Committee held two

(2) meetings. The attendance of each member is as follows:
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Attendance/No. of
meetings during the
members tenure

of office

RiYiRVe (0

Name of members B B k4 AL INE - € 3

Mr. Tam Kin Yip (Chairman) AR () 2/2

Mr. Leung Winson Kwan Yau BEEUES A 212

Mr. Leung Man Loon ZESCHE SR 2/2
Ms. So Tsz Kwan (appointed on 24 January 2022 and BRI /NME (o = —4F

resigned with effect from 23 June 2022) —HZ A EZE - BT
H == ZAEANH =+ = H#BAER) 0/0
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In accordance with its terms of reference, the Remuneration Committee

performed, inter alia, the following work during the year ended 31 March

2022 and up to the date of this report:

BEE T THE A= HIEEERE EANK
HH AR M E R e ET
(R 4&) AR LAE -

reviewed, commented and/or approved the policy and structure for the

remuneration of Directors and senior management of the Group.

reviewed, commented and approved the procedures for fixing the

remuneration packages.

reviewed and made recommendation on the remuneration packages with
reference to comparable companies, time commitment, responsibilities
and employment conditions of the respective Directors and the senior

management of the Group and/or other matters.

reviewed, approved and recommended the respective Directors’ service

agreement.

considered and approved the salary increment and bonus arrangement, if

any, for certain Directors and senior management of the Group.

revised, approved and recommended the grant of share options to senior

B~ R B S I R A A ] R AR
A HIL I 1) 357 R T S o

TR~ R S 1 BN AL A R
AN NGNS VN Y
B 4% A B R TH] ~ S5 AT B A IR I B, B
oA B B AL A > 6 U 10 4
R

R~ EE R R R E RS A
5 1 T e T A o R AR S T R AR

BRI B AE AL B (n ) o

ERT ~ v IR T R AR BEE R B

management/employee.

Details of the Directors’ remuneration for the year ended 31 March 2022 are
set out in note 10 to the audited consolidated financial statements in this
annual report. In addition, pursuant to the Code provision E.1.5 (former Code
provision B.l1.5), the annual remuneration of the senior management of the
Group by bands for the year ended 31 March 2022 is set out below:

g P

BWE TR T TS S H IR AR TR
5 O A AR AT A A A B IR M R 10« 1L
Hb o MREESF IR SCHE. 1.5 M (T SF IR SCHEBL1LS
) BMEF D CE=EA =T HIER S
S ] ) 22 A A1 [ o 9 A LR 2 A M A 4

T
Number of individuals
Remuneration to the senior management by bands o B ) 43 2 v AR LI S T ANB
HK$1 to HK$500,000 1% 7T %2 500,000 7C

HK$500,001 to HK$1,000,000
HK$1,000,001 to HK$1,500,000
HK$1,500,001 to HK$2,000,000
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Nomination Committee

The nomination committee of the Company (“Nomination Committee”) has
been established by the Board, it should be chaired by the Chairman or an
independent non-executive Director and comprises a majority of independent

non-executive Directors.

As at 30 June 2022, the Nomination Committee currently consists of four (4)
members, they are all independent non-executive Directors, namely Mr. Tam
Kin Yip (chairman of Nomination Committee), Mr. Leung Winson Kwan Yau,
Mr. Leung Man Loon and Mr. Yeung Yat Chuen.

Duties of Nomination Committee

The primary function of the Nomination Committee is to make
recommendations to the Board regarding appointment of Directors and
candidates to fill vacancies on the Board and to assess the independence of

each independent non-executive Director.

Board Diversity Policy

The Company has adopted a board diversity policy, amend from time to time,
(“Diversity Policy”) which sets out the approach to achieve diversity of Board
members. The objective of the Diversity Policy stated that selection of
candidates be based on a range of diversity perspectives, including but not
limited to gender, age, cultural and educational background, ethnicity,
professional experience, skills, knowledge and length of service, the summary

of which are set out below:

(a) With a view to achieving a sustainable and balanced development, the
Company sees increasing diversity at the Board level as an essential
element in supporting the attainment of its strategic objectives and its

sustainable development.

(b)  In order to provide Board members with diverse views and perspectives,
in designing the Board’s composition, the Company’s policy is to
consider a number of factors when deciding on the appointment and
renewal of directors, and does not discriminate on the grounds of
gender, age, cultural and educational background, race, professional
experience, skills, knowledge, job title and service term in other listed

companies.

(c) All Board appointments did and would be based on meritocracy, and
candidates did and would be considered against objective criteria,

having due regard for the benefits of diversity on the Board.

A8 56 B IR
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During the year ended 31 March 2021, the Board and the senior management
were unilaterally dominated by male members. During the year ended
31 March 2022, to achieve sustainable and balanced development of the
Group, the Board has invited female talents to join the Group. As at 31
March 2022, the Company has a female Director and a female senior
management member and as such achieved gender diversity in respect of the

Board and senior management respectively.

We will continue to strive to enhance the balance of gender representation and
achieve an appropriate balance of gender diversity with reference to the
Shareholders’ expectation and international and local recommended best
practices. We will also ensure that there is gender diversity when recruiting
staff at mid to senior level. As at the date of this report, the Company has
four female senior management members. A newly appointed female Director

will join the Company with effect from 1 July 2022.

As at the date of this report, the following chart shows the diversity profile of

the Board in terms of designation, gender and age group:

Board Composition

AR

BE-EZ - HEA =t —HIEEE Shgk

AR e R R R - BE T T

SAE PR B BOR SRR R

B RO AL IMAARLER -

FOTHEZAZT—H o ARF AR — 27

HRN A LEERERERE - ATEES G
R A B oy B BT MR 2T

FAM AR A AL T Y A - S LABCR A 391 2
B [ % B 3t 77 1 o e B ARG A E 255 BB
2 TCRA T o FAM IR AR AE AR I b e i B
THRH BYERIZ 5T AR H > AXRAN
ZAUMERBE RGN R - — &AM EERN LIS
EMERANT - H T LA HARER -

TAAEE H - DU [ 257 B B - PR
T ARt AL T Y S 2 2 e AL L

Designation

Tz

INED
WS IEATE S

Gender WEIE
R LR
Age 40 to 49
A 405% 495
| | | | | | | | |
0 1 2 3 4 5 6 7 8 9

ED: Executive Directors
ED: YT F
INED: Independent Non-executive Director

INED: % 7 JE T EH
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As at the date of this report, the following chart shows the diversity profile of A2 H I > DL R B 251 7 i 3 A M Al X% 4 %
the senior management in terms of gender and age group: A0 75 T A v A B 22 AL AR

Senior Management Composition

o A A B I ALK

Gender Female
PE R Eegiés
Age 30 to 39 40 to 49
G 305 2395 405K 495K
| | | J
0 1 2 3 4 5 6 7

The relevant gender diversity information and targets of the workforce of the AN B T AYAH BRI £ 0 &R & H A %
Group will be disclosed in the environmental, social and governance report for . _4F = H = — H IFFEN R - L& LER
the year ended 31 March 2022. s N
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Work Performed by Nomination Committee
During the year ended 31 March 2022, the Nomination Committee held two

(2) meetings. The attendance of each member is as follows:

15 Z A G ETTAF

BE-E - "H=A=+—HILEE  BELKEE
AT T (W G o £ R 8 RS a0
B

Mr. Tam Kin Yip (Chairman) A () 212
Mr. Leung Winson Kwan Yau PR S A 2/2
Mr. Leung Man Loon P 22
Ms. So Tsz Kwan (appointed on 24 January 2022 and BRIEAE /NIE (=2
resigned with effect from 23 June 2022) —H A A EZF - H B
H ZF T TAEAN] A = AR 0/0

In accordance with its terms of reference, the Nomination Committee
performed the following, inter alia, work during the year ended 31 March
2022 and up to the date of this report:

1. reviewed, assessed and commented, inter alia, the policy for the

nomination of Directors.
2. assessed the independence of each independent non-executive Director.

3. sourced and recommended individuals suitably qualified, if any, to

become Board members.
4. approved and recommended to the changes in the Board composition.

5. identified and recommended those Directors to be retired by rotation from
the Board and then be re-elected as Directors in the annual general
meeting of the Company in accordance with the Articles of Association

and the Listing Rules.
6. reviewed and assessed the structure, size and composition of the Board

and analysis the diversity of the Board with reference with the

Diversity Policy.
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Nomination Policy

The Company adopted the policy for nomination of Directors (including the

nomination procedures and criteria for selection and recommendation of

candidates for directorship) in accordance with the Code.

Selection Criteria

The factors listed below would be used as reference by the Nomination

Committee in assessing the suitability of a proposed candidate:

reputation for integrity;

accomplishment, experiences and/or knowledge in the principal business

of our Group;

commitment in respect of available time and relevant interest; and

diversity in all its aspects, including but not limited to gender, age (18

years or above), cultural and educational background, ethnicity,

professional experience, skills, knowledge and length of service.

These factors are for reference only, and not meant to be exhaustive and

decisive. The Nomination Committee has the discretion to nominate any

person, as it considers appropriate.

Nomination Procedures

1.

The Company Secretary shall call a meeting of the Nomination
Committee, and invite nominations of candidates from Board members,
if any, for consideration by the Nomination Committee prior to its
meeting. The Nomination Committee may also put forward candidates

who are not nominated by Board members.

For filling a casual vacancy, the Nomination Committee shall make
recommendations for the Board’s consideration and approval. For
proposing candidates to stand for election at a general meeting, the
Nomination Committee shall make nominations to the Board for its

consideration and recommendation.
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FINANCIAL REPORTING

The Directors acknowledge their responsibilities for preparing the accounts of
the Company and of the Group for the year ended 31 March 2022. The
accounts are prepared on a going concern basis and give a true and fair view
of the state of affairs of the Company and of the Group as at 31 March 2022,
and of the Group’s loss and cash flow for the year then ended. In preparing
the accounts for the year ended 31 March 2022, the Directors have selected
appropriate accounting policies and, apart from those new and amended
accounting policies as disclosed in the notes to the accounts for the year
ended 31 March 2022, have applied them consistently with previous financial
periods. Judgments and estimates have been made that are prudent and
reasonable. The reporting responsibilities of the external auditor are set out on

pages 78 to 80 of this annual report.

Internal Control System and Risk Management System

The Board is responsible for maintaining and reviewing the adequacy and
effectiveness of the Group’s system of internal controls and risk management,
(the “Systems”), which are designed to meet the Group’s particular needs and
to minimise the risks to which the Group is exposed, and are designed to
manage rather than eliminate the risks to achieve business objective and can
only provide reasonable and not absolute assurance against misstatements or
losses. The Group’s internal control framework covers (i) the setting of
objectives, budgets and targets; (ii) the establishment of regular reporting of
financial information, in particular, the tracking of deviations between actual
performances and budgets/targets; (iii) the delegation of authority; (iv) the
establishment of clear lines of accountability; and (v) review and evaluation of

the Systems.

On behalf of the Board,

prepared by external independent professional firm in respect of the adequacy

the Audit Committee has reviewed the report

and effectiveness of the Systems of the Group for the year ended 31 March
2022,

efficiency of operations,

including the reliability of financial reporting, effectiveness and
compliance with applicable laws and regulations,
effectiveness of risk management functions and the adequacy of resources,
staff qualifications and experience, training programmes of the Company’s
accounting and financial reporting function and budget. This is achieved
primarily through approving the scope of the annual internal audit plan,
reviewing the findings of internal audit work, the annual and interim financial
statements, and the nature, scope of work, and report of the external
independent professional firm. Base on the results of the annual review by the
Audit Committee, the Board considered that the Systems are effective and
adequate. There is no significant change in the nature and extent of risks and
the Company’s ability to respond to changes in its business and the external

environment since the last annual review.
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Subsequent to the end of the reporting period, the Group has established the
anti-corruption and risk management policies to enhance its internal control
systems. The Board will review the anti-corruption policy and risk

management policy annually.

Process Used to Identify, Evaluate and Manage Risks

The Board monitors the Group’s business risks, operating risk management
and internal controls. An external audit has been conducted to carry out the
internal audit functions to ensure proper compliance with the internal control
systems and risk management system to identify the potential risks which may
arise in the operation and financial of the Group’s business for
implementation of appropriate measures and policies on a continuing basis.
The scope of review and the audit programme of external audit company,
which are formulated based on a risk assessment approach and focuses on
areas with relatively higher perceived risks, are approved by the Audit
Committee at the end of the preceding financial year in conjunction with the
management. The external audit company executes their functions based on a
yearly plan and prepares reports for their assignments. These reports are
submitted to the management, the Board and the Audit Committee for review
on a regular basis. Such reports are also circulated to the external auditor on

an annual basis.

Handling and Dissemination of Inside Information

The Board has approved and adopted an Inside Information Disclosure Policy
(the “Disclosure Policy”) for the Company for monitoring inside information
to ensure compliance with the Listing Rules and the Securities and Futures

Ordinance.

The Disclosure Policy sets out the obligations, guidelines and procedures for
handling and dissemination of inside information to all Directors, senior
management and relevant employees. These guidelines and procedures to
ensure that the inside information of the Company is to be disseminated to the
public in equal and timely manner in accordance with the applicable laws and
regulations. The inside information should remain confidential until the
and the

dissemination of such information is efficiently and consistently made.

disclosure of such information is appropriately approved,

Disclosure must be made in a manner that the public can have an equal,
timely and effective access to the information available through the websites
of the Stock Exchange (www.hkexnews.hk) and the Company (www.shunten.
com.hk).
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COMMUNICATION WITH SHAREHOLDERS

The Company’s annual general meeting is one of the principal channels of
communication with its Shareholders. The Board and the management are
committed to use of annual general meetings of the Company as a forum to
meet with the Shareholders and to hear their views and answer their concerns
about the Group and its business. The Chairman, and each Board Committee’s
chairman or his alternate did and would attend annual general meetings of the

Company along with the external auditor to answer Shareholders’ concerns.

All Shareholders are encouraged to attend annual general meeting and exercise
their right to vote. Shareholders who are unable to attend annual general
meeting can appoint proxies to attend and vote at annual general meeting.
Completion and return of the form of proxy will not prevent Shareholders
from attending and voting in person at the annual general meeting, if

Shareholders so wish.

The Company did and would send the notice of the annual general meeting to
Shareholders at least 20 clear business days before the annual general
meeting. The Company did and would send meeting notice to Shareholders
not less than 10 clear business days before any extraordinary general meetings
of the Company. Shareholders are invited to raise concerns on the business of
the Company. Apart from usual business at the annual general meeting, the
Board did and would propose general mandates for the repurchase of shares

and the issue of shares of the Company at each annual general meeting.

Further details of business to be conducted at the annual general meeting did
and would be set out in the circular to the Shareholders to be sent together
with annual report and posted on the websites of the Company
(www.shunten.com.hk) and the Stock Exchange (www.hkexnews.hk). All
resolutions be passed by way of a poll conducted and verified by the
Company’s branch share registrar, Tricor Investor Services Limited, as an
independent scrutineer. The poll results of each of the proposed resolutions to
the Shareholders be published on the Stock Exchange (www.hkexnews.hk)
and the Company’s websites (www.shunten.com.hk) in due time after annual

general meeting and extraordinary general meeting of the Company held.
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SHAREHOLDERS® RIGHTS J% 3 RE A1)
Dividend Policy J BB SR

The distribution of any dividend by the Company is subject to the discretion AN FAMIRATAT AR S/ EF R H o - M#E
of the Board, which normally did/will take into account of the following & # % &M% B NN :
factors:

. The financial results of the Company; . AN T I BA S 2R

. Interests of the Shareholders; . SR ) 4

. General business conditions and strategies; . — M SR R TR
. The capital requirements of the Group; . A EAT K

. Contractual restrictions on the payment of dividends by the Company to A 7 ) ) J B sl B B 2 i 1) A 2 ] IR AT

the Shareholders or by the subsidiaries to the Company, if any; B4 H BRI ()
. Taxation considerations; . Biws % B R
. Possible effects on creditworthiness of the Company; . AL A AT REE A 2 SR
. Statutory and regulatory restrictions; and . E R AR &
. Any other factors the Board may deem relevant. . HE AT AR AL A AH B Y A Ao oA A R o

There is no assurance that any particular dividend amount, or any dividend at  HE/S 55 1 21€ B IR S IR ASHTAAT 4o 5 A S5, & B BUAT
all, will be declared and paid in the future. fa] {5,
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Procedures for making enquiries to the Board
Shareholders should direct their enquiries about their shareholdings to the
Company’s Hong Kong branch share registrar and transfer agent, namely,

Tricor Investor Services Limited, whose contact details are as follows:

Tricor Investor Services Limited

Address : Level 54, Hopewell Centre
183 Queen’s Road East
Hong Kong
Telephone : (852) 2980 1333
Fax 1 (852) 2810 8185
E-mail : is-enquiries @hk.tricorglobal.com
Website : http://www.tricoris.com
Attention : Board of Directors/Company Secretary

Shareholders and the investor community are welcome to send their enquiries

to the Board and the Company Secretary as follows:

Shunten International (Holdings) Limited

Address . 27/F., The Galaxy,
313 Castle Peak Road,
Hong Kong
Telephone : (852) 3700 7300
Fax : (852) 3700 7301
E-mail :  ir@shunten.com.hk
Website : www.shunten.com.hk
Attention : Board of Directors/Company Secretary

Shareholders may at any time make a request for the Company’s information

to the extent such information is publicly available.

70 Annual Report 2021/2022 4 $t

I 3 2 A R

P SHRORE B 1] 75 A0 0 5 6 R0 £ 6 5
R AT PR 7 988 S HCAT I 0 4 R PR T L LI
BanF

AL SRS RA AT
Hbhik e
25 KIEA 1835
& AL 54
Al ©(852) 2980 1333
e ©(852) 2810 8185
T * is-enquiries @hk.tricorglobal.com
441k ¢ http://www.tricoris.com
LELUN CEERG N RERE

e S B 4% S () oy S R AL E A o REAE
LU

JIE A [0 ¢ (422 J56) A BR 22

i ik L OFE

UL 531355

REE AL 27 4
A ©(852) 3700 7300
(LN ©(852) 3700 7301
7T © ir@shunten.com.hk
Rl © www.shunten.com.hk
QLN COHEERE A E R

e SR AT B I SRR 4 AR 308 B R o



CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT

Procedures for convening extraordinary general meeting on
requisition

One or more Shareholders holding, at the date of deposit of the requisition,
not less than one-tenth of the paid up capital of the Company carrying the
right of voting at general meetings of the Company shall at all times have the
right, by written requisition to the Board or the Company Secretary of the
Company (the “Requisition”) to require an extraordinary general meeting of
the Company to be called by the Board for the transaction of any business

specified in the Requisition.
The Requisition shall be made in writing to the Board or the Company
Secretary of the Company at the principal place of business in Hong Kong

and registered office of the Company in Cayman Islands as follows:

Principal place of business of the Company in Hong Kong

Address 27/F., The Galaxy,
313 Castle Peak Road,
Hong Kong
Attention Board of Director/Company Secretary

Registered office of the Company in Cayman Islands
Conyers Trust Company (Cayman) Limited

Address Cricket Square, Hutchins Drive
P.O. Box 2681, Grand Cayman
KY1-1111, Cayman Islands

Attention Board of Director/Company Secretary

Procedures for Shareholders to put forward proposals at
general meetings

Shareholders who wish to put forward proposals for the Company’s
consideration at the general meetings can send their proposals to the Company

Secretary at the principal place of business in Hong Kong as specified above.

A8 56 B IR

i R B M AR K A

— A B A R R R E H R A R AR
ARDIA A Ir 2 — M A EAE AR R CHROR & E 4R
P9 RS > TR AT AT B ] 1) 5 = B A W) 2 R B
AR R (R ) o R et B
AR A WA AT 55 4 B AR 2 m) AR TR

JL ) B B m A ) 2 R AR G A T R R
v 5 T S B AR O W B S B A 0 R A
HEFEE MR

AR T A v A 2 b
Hi ik s
HILA 31398
K027
gL IN HAE N A E

AR T B 2 I 0 S 1T 3 2

Conyers Trust Company (Cayman) Limited
4k Cricket Square, Hutchins Drive
P.O. Box 2681, Grand Cayman
KY1-1111, Cayman Islands
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INVESTOR RELATIONS

In order to develop and maintain a continuing investors’ relationship
programme to enable Shareholders and investors better understand the Group’s
business, the Company has established various channels of communication

with the Shareholders and the investor community:

1. Shareholders can raise any comments on the performance and suggestion
on future directions of the Company to the Chairman at the annual

general meeting.

2. The Company may arrange press and analysts’ conferences in relation
to the results announcements, at which the Chairman and/or the
Directors are available to answer enquiries regarding the Group’s

operational and financial performances.

3. The Company’s website at www.shunten.com.hk contains important
corporate information, annual and interim reports, as well as
announcements and circulars issued by the Company to enable the
Shareholders and the investor community to have timely access to

updated information about the Group.

4. The Board has established a Shareholders’ communication policy and

reviews it on a regular basis to ensure its effectiveness.

5. The Company has uploaded its memorandum and articles of association
of the Company on the Company’s website at www.shunten.com.hk

and the Stock Exchange’s website at www.hkexnews.hk.

CONSTITUTIONAL DOCUMENTS

The Company adopted the amended and restated Memorandum of Association
and Articles of Association of the Company by way of special resolution

passed on 7 September 2018, to comply with the Listing Rules in Hong Kong.

A copy of the amended and restated Memorandum of Association and Articles
of Association of the Company is posted on the Stock Exchange’s website at

www.hkexnews.hk and the Company’s website at www.shunten.com.hk.

During the year ended 31 March 2022, there has been no change in the

Company’s Memorandum of Association and Articles of Association.
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EXTERNAL AUDITOR

Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu (“Deloitte”) has resigned as the auditor of the
Company with effect from 22 April 2022 as the Company and Deloitte could
not reach a mutual agreement in respect of the audit fee for the financial year
ended 31 March 2022. In this connection, Moore Stephens CPA Limited
(“Moore Stephens”) has been appointed by the Board as the auditor of the
Company in place of the resignation of Deloitte as the auditor of the
Company with effect from 25 April 2022. The financial statements for the
year ended 31 March 2022 were audited by Moore Stephens, they hold office
until the conclusion of the 2022 AGM and a resolution of the re-appointment
of Moore Stephens as auditor of the Company for the forthcoming year by the
Shareholders would be proposed in the 2022 AGM.

In order to maintain Moore Stephens’s independence and objectivity and the
effectiveness of the audit process in accordance with applicable standards, the
Audit Committee reviewed all audit services to be provided by Moore
Stephens and discusses with Moore Stephens the nature and scope of their

audit and reporting obligations.

The Audit Committee also reviewed and approved the engagement of Moore
Stephens to provide any non-audit services for complying with relevant legal

requirements.

The fees paid/payable to Moore Stephens, the Company’s auditor, in respect
of audit services and non-audit services for the year ended 31 March 2022 are

analysed below:
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Fees paid/payable

Type of services provided by the external auditor A7 A 5 i 42 43t 2 R 75 8 oA #
Audit services RS

— audit fee in respect of annual audit — R EGE 1,100
Non-audit services I 58 1% iR 15 20
Total st 1,120
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K| MOORE

TO THE SHAREHOLDERS
(HOLDINGS) LIMITED
(Incorporated in the Cayman Islands with limited liability)

OF SHUNTEN INTERNATIONAL

OPINION

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of Shunten International
(Holdings) Limited (the “Company”) and its subsidiaries (collective referred
to as “the Group”) set out on pages 81 to 235, which comprise the
consolidated statement of financial position as at 31 March 2022, and
consolidated statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income,
consolidated statement of changes in equity and consolidated statement of cash
flows for the year then ended, and notes to the consolidated financial

statements, including a summary of significant accounting policies.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a true and fair view
of the consolidated financial position of the Group as at 31 March 2022, and
of its consolidated financial performance and its consolidated cash flows for
the year then ended in accordance with Hong Kong Financial Reporting
Standards (“HKFRSs”) issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public
Accountants (“HKICPA”) and have been properly prepared in compliance

with the disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.

BASIS FOR OPINION

We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong Standards on Auditing
(“HKSAs”) issued by the HKICPA. Our responsibilities under those standards
are further described in the Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the
Consolidated Financial Statements section of our report. We are independent
of the Group in accordance with the HKICPA’s Code of Ethics for
Professional Accountants (the “Code”), and we have fulfilled our other ethical
responsibilities in accordance with the Code. We believe that the audit
evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for

our opinion.
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KEY AUDIT MATTERS

B 37 A% B B e
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Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional judgment, were of Bl S 25 5] 25 TEUR MR PR FAM W BL2E 1117 > 58 A A
most significance in our audit of the consolidated financial statements of the — Hi%iH BB F M Bt i A BN FIH - 5 LbH
current period. These matters were addressed in the context of our audit of the T /ETE FAMEE w1 HE B 45 & WA S th 2L 2 FLIRE
consolidated financial statements as a whole, and in forming our opinion  HEFTHEEINY o FRAMAS O #H73 L6 5 I $2 4L B 1) 38

thereon, and we do not provide a separate opinion on these matters.

Key audit matter

I 2 7 it O

H o

How our audit addressed the key audit matter

B B 2 it T S B SR S SR AT ) B

Impairment assessment of trade receivables

o ek 9k L A

We identified impairment assessment of trade receivables as a key audit
matter due to the involvement of subjective judgement and management
estimates in evaluating the expected credit losses (“ECL”) of the Group’s
trade receivables at the end of the reporting period.
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As disclosed in note 4 to the consolidated financial statements, the
management of the Group assesses ECL of trade receivables with
significant balances individually, while the remaining trade receivables are
grouped based on shared credit risk characteristics by reference to the
Group’s past due status of respective trade receivables.

AN AR BB R M R A S B T A A S LA R A R ) B
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Estimated loss rates are based on historical observed default rates over
the expected life of the debtors and are adjusted for forward looking
information. The loss allowance amount of the credit impaired trade
receivables is measured as the difference between the asset’s carrying
amount and the present value of estimated future cash flows with the
consideration of expected future credit losses.

filrwet s 18 b 120 11 B AE B 15 09 005 N TR 0 2 0 T A A 3R > AR R
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As disclosed in note 42(b) to the consolidated financial statements, the
Group’s lifetime ECL on trade receivables as at 31 March 2022
amounting to approximately HK$828,000 in aggregate.
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Our procedures in relation to impairment assessment of
trade receivables included:
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. obtaining an understanding of how the
management estimates the credit loss allowance
for trade receivables;

. M A R ] A R SR K £ M 4R 3
s

. testing the accuracy of information used by the
management to assess ECL, including trade
receivables ageing analysis as at 31 March 2022,
on a sample basis, by comparing individual
items in the analysis with the relevant invoices;
and
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. challenging management’s basis and judgement
in determining credit loss allowance on trade
receivables as at 31 March 2022, including their
identification of credit impaired trade
receivables, which are assessed for ECL
individually, the reasonableness of management’s
grouping of the remaining trade receivables into
different categories in the provision matrix and/
or past due status of respective trade receivables,
and the basis of estimated loss rates applied in
each category under the groupings.
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KEY AUDIT MATTERS (CONTINUED)

Key audit matter

I 7 it O
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How our audit addressed the key audit matter
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Going concern assessment

P RSB REAN

During the year ended 31 March 2022, the Group incurred a net loss of
HK$44,385,000 and, as of that date, the Group had net current liabilities
of approximately HK$65,832,000. These conditions may create doubt
about the Group’s ability to continue as going concern.
WEE-_FZA=t IR - B4 M E AL i 1H 44,385,000
#ot . HIRE R > BRI E) & £ 465,832,000 7T < A B 6
PRI RES BRI AR T e IREE R -

The Group’s financial statements were prepared on a going concern basis.
The management assessment in respect of going concern is set out in
Note 3.1.

S AR I A1) B 5 R R D A A R R A A R o A R R A A O SR A
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The going concern assessment is identified as a key audit matter as
significant management judgement is involved in determining whether a
material uncertainty exists and in estimating the Group’s future cash
flows and funding requirements.
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Our procedures in respect of the management

assessment of going concern included:
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Obtaining an understanding of the inputs and key
assumptions of the cash flow projections
prepared for the purpose of the going concern
assessment;

R DR AT A AR A A T A Y B 0 R T
T A B T2 AR Rk

Challenging the inputs and assumptions used in
the cash flow projections by benchmarking them
against historical trends and data and observable
external economic data;
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Assessing the availability of unused banking
facilities during the forecast periods by
inspecting relevant documentation and evaluating
whether the facilities were sufficient to meet the
Group’s funding needs with reference to the cash
flows projections;
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Performing sensitivity analysis on the cash flow
projections;

B U B T AT BURE AT

Challenging the management assessment that
there was not a material uncertainty in relation to
going concern based on our understanding of the
Group’s expected liquidity requirements during
the forecast period; and

WREFAFE S FTE TR0 A T R B
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Assessing the appropriateness of the disclosures
included in note 3.1 to the consolidated financial
statements.
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OTHER MATTER

The consolidated financial statements of the Group for the year ended 31
March 2021 were audited by another auditor, who expressed an unmodified

opinion on those statements on 29 June 2021.

OTHER INFORMATION

The directors of the Company are responsible for the other information. The
other information comprises all the information included in the annual report,
but does not include the consolidated financial statements and our auditor’s

report thereon.

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does not cover the other

information and we do not express any form of assurance conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial statements, our
responsibility is to read the other information and, in doing so, consider
whether the other information is materially inconsistent with the consolidated
financial statements or our knowledge obtained in the audit or otherwise
appears to be materially misstated. If, based on the work we have performed,
we conclude that there is a material misstatement of this other information, we

are required to report that fact. We have nothing to report in this regard.

RESPONSIBILITIES OF DIRECTORS AND
THOSE CHARGED WITH GOVERNANCE FOR
THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS

The directors of the Company are responsible for the preparation of the
consolidated financial statements that give a true and fair view in accordance
with HKFRSs issued by the HKICPA and the disclosure requirements of the
Hong Kong Companies Ordinance, and for such internal control as the
directors determine is necessary to enable the preparation of consolidated
financial statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to

fraud or error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the directors are responsible
for assessing the Group’s ability to continue as a going concern, disclosing, as
applicable, matters related to going concern and using the going concern basis
of accounting unless the directors either intend to liquidate the Group or to

cease operations, or have no realistic alternative but to do so.

Those charged with governance are responsible for overseeing the Group’s

financial reporting process.
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AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE
AUDIT OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the
consolidated financial statements as a whole are free from material
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s report
that includes our opinion solely to you, as a body, in accordance with our
agreed terms of engagement, and for no other purpose. We do not assume
responsibility towards or accept liability to any other person for the contents
of this report. Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a
guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with HKSAs will always
detect a material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise from
fraud or error and are considered material if, individually or in the aggregate,
they could reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions of

users taken on the basis of these consolidated financial statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with HKSAs, we exercise professional

judgment and maintain professional skepticism throughout the audit. We also:

. Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the consolidated
financial statements, whether due to fraud or error, design and perform
audit procedures responsive to those risks, and obtain audit evidence
that is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The
risk of not detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud is
higher than for one resulting from error, as fraud may involve
collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the

override of internal control.

o Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order
to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but
not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the

Group’s internal control.
. Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the

reasonableness of accounting estimates and related disclosures made by

the directors.
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AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE
AUDIT OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

Conclude on the appropriateness of the directors’ use of the going concern
basis of accounting and, based on the audit evidence obtained, whether
a material uncertainty exists related to events or conditions that may
cast significant doubt on the Group’s ability to continue as a going
concern. If we conclude that a material uncertainty exists, we are
required to draw attention in our auditor’s report to the related
disclosures in the consolidated financial statements or, if such
disclosures are inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our conclusions are
based on the audit evidence obtained up to the date of our auditor’s
report. However, future events or conditions may cause the Group to

cease to continue as a going concern.

Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the
consolidated financial statements, including the disclosures, and whether
the consolidated financial statements represent the underlying

transactions and events in a manner that achieves fair presentation.

Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the financial
information of the entities or business activities within the Group to
express an opinion on the consolidated financial statements. We are
responsible for the direction, supervision and performance of the group

audit. We remain solely responsible for our audit opinion.

We communicate with those charged with governance regarding, among other

matters, the planned scope and timing of the audit and significant audit

findings, including any significant deficiencies in internal control that we

identify during our audit.

We also provide those charged with governance with a statement that we have

complied with relevant ethical requirements regarding independence, and to

communicate with them all relationships and other matters that may

reasonably be thought to bear on our independence, and where applicable,

actions taken to eliminate threats or safeguards applied.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT
38 7 A B B e o

AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE
AUDIT OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

From the matters communicated with those charged with governance, we
determine those matters that were of most significance in the audit of the
consolidated financial statements of the current period and are therefore the
key audit matters. We describe these matters in our auditor’s report unless law
or regulation precludes public disclosure about the matter or when, in
extremely rare circumstances, we determine that a matter should not be
communicated in our report because the adverse consequences of doing so
would reasonably be expected to outweigh the public interest benefits of such

communication.

Moore Stephens CPA Limited
Certified Public Accountants

Registered Public Interest Entity Auditors

Lai Hung Wai
Practising Certificate Number: P06995

Hong Kong, 30 June 2022
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF PROFIT OR LOSS AND OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME
A 7 TR A B LAt 42 i WAL ik

For the year ended 31 March 2022 #( 2 — & " " 4E=H =+ —H L4

2022 2021
TR - ey
Notes HK$°000 HK$’000
fitak Tt T
CONTINUING OPERATIONS: TR R 2R
REVENUE [V En 5 162,993 223,147
Cost of sales B A (50,447) (61,699)
GROSS PROFIT B 112,546 161,448
Other income, gains or losses HAbuse A~ i sk sl B 7 4,914 20,037
Selling and distribution expenses 5 K 43 i BH 52 (29,867) (39,500)
Administrative expenses AT BB 32 (86,525) (120,395)
Share of profit/(loss) of an associate JREAG — P BN W 1 (R 48) 23 349 (11,689)
Reversal of/(impairment loss) under TE A B0 TR T IR A iR 2k S
expected credit loss model on trade and HC Al B kg 3 T B8 1 (i
other receivables 5 45) 958 (1,422)
Gain on disposal of promissory note receivable i IS K 5i 5245 1) IR 45 26 25,000 —
Loss on modification of promissory note 165 A I Wi B B 9 s 4R
receivable — 2,275)
Fair value change of the Company’s shares A A — [ W 7 2 B T R AT AR
issued in relation to acquisition of an A AR 2 o~ 2 )
associate 23 (55,402) =
Fair value change of an investment property WEWEN TS — (2,000)
Fair value change of contingent consideration B &K FE it - {2 23 1 (B 5 )
receivable — (28)
Reversal of/(impairment loss) on promissory JRE TR 5L S 2 43 (] ok (B
note receivable [ ZEi=)) 26 4,170 (41,429)
Impairment loss on interest in an associate — [ 5 5 N ) M 5 2 B (A S 4R 23 — (35,594)
Impairment loss on intangible assets BTV & P 2 WE 1R 20 (4,907) (1,728)
Impairment loss on goodwill PR W E s 1R 21 — (26,570)
LOSS FROM OPERATIONS K EE (28,764) (101,145)
Finance costs il B AR 8 (12,880) (15,180)
LOSS BEFORE TAXATION Io: 5 iy M5 1 9 (41,644) (116,325)
Taxation BiIA 12 (2,741) (7,770)
LOSS FOR THE YEAR FROM R 3 2 AR B R
CONTINUING OPERATIONS (44,385) (124,095)
DISCONTINUED OPERATIONS: CRIERE I
Loss for the year from discontinued operations £\ #% 1k #8 % S5 2 4F (A s 15 13 — (1,573)
LOSS FOR THE YEAR A I 7 (44,385) (125,668)
OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME FC At 2 THT Wi 2t
Item that may be reclassified subsequently to #[ #EPE & HH B EHIEZ
profit or loss: HH :
Exchange differences on translation of RIS R SE TS TS R 2R IR 11 B 5,
financial statements of foreign operations R 571 510
OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME AR P G A 2 T 2R
FOR THE YEAR 571 510
TOTAL COMPREHENSIVE EXPENSE AR N 43 THI BH 32 A
FOR THE YEAR (43,814) (125,158)
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF PROFIT OR LOSS AND OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME
Ao 7 8 A B LAl 4 i W 4 R

For the year ended 31 March 2022 #( % =& —~ "4 = H =+ —H IL4

2022 2021
TR - s
Notes HK$°000 HK$’000
B 51 Tt T
Loss for the year attributable to owners of S/ &) B A MEAL 4E N G4 -
the Company: B
— from continuing operations — A& A A T (43,888) (126,010)
— from discontinued operations — R H B AL R — (1,367)
Loss for the year attributable to owners of A0S A HEA N A A A 48
the Company (43,888) (127,377)
(Loss)/profit for the year attributable to I e Je WE 25 WAL 42 9 (5 18)
non-controlling interests: Al
— from continuing operations — R H RS T (497) 1,915
— from discontinued operations — RE DI REEY — (206)
(Loss)/profit for the year attributable to T 72 W 2 B A 4 A (s 9) 7
non-controlling interests Yai Al 497) 1,709
(44,385) (125,668)
Total comprehensive (expense)/income LR N A A (B SZ),
attributable to: We s 484
Owners of the Company Zfigﬁji?ﬁﬁk (43,4006) (126,757)
Non-controlling interests I P A £ (408) 1,599
(43,814) (125,158)
Total comprehensive expense attributable to A< 2 w] #E A A B4 2 T BH 32
owners of the Company: A B
— from continuing operations — & A A BT (43,4006) (125,390)
— from discontinued operations — KB DS T — (1,367)
(43,406) (126,757)
Loss per share attributable to owners of the A</ & #Ef A JEAl4E N A3 %
Company for the year: 5iH ¢
From continuing and discontinued R A M T IR R R
operations
— basic (HK cents) — R (AL 15 (1.53) (4.97)
— diluted (HK cents) — 3 GBAL) 15 (1.53) (4.97)
From continuing operations R B AR
— basic (HK cents) — A (L) 15 (1.53) (4.91)
— diluted (HK cents) — B B 15 (1.53) (4.91)
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION
# 1 W B5IR D R

Asat31 March 2022 A —F "4 =H=+—H

2022 2021
TR R4
Notes HK$’000 HK$’000
R T T TH#TT
Non-current assets IR B &
Property, plant and equipment W~ BRJE Kk 17 70,450 74,738
Right-of-use assets o R RE 19 2,403 2,876
Intangible assets I A 20 2,210 8,380
Goodwill R 21 — —
Interest in an associate A — [ A N ) B B A 23 67,036 =
Prepayments and deposits TE A 3O Je 4% 4 25 26,691 459
168,790 86,453
Current assets W
Inventories & 24 19,835 25,465
Trade and other receivables JARE M e R L At JRE i 5 T 25 20,720 57,717
Promissory note receivable JRE T 7R b, 22 4 26 — 1,430
Tax recoverable aJ i [m] B TR 2,152 611
Cash and cash equivalents Bl R B4 5 E Y 28 35,276 36,652
77,983 121,875
Current liabilities T N= R
Trade and other payables JARE AT PR R B Al B A5k 3 TR 29 19,819 28,254
Contract liabilities HHAER 30 255 407
Bank and other borrowings SRAT e FoAth 1 3Kk 32 99,993 92,281
Bank overdrafts RATIE S 28 18,964 —
Lease liabilities T A & 33 2,371 1,511
Convertible bonds CEJIdE2 34 — 52,587
Refund liabilities B 35 1,395 1,145
Tax payable JRE A 3 3 1,018 3,419
143,815 179,604
Net current liabilities R A A (65,832) (57,729)
Total assets less current liabilities A8 % DU B AR 102,958 28,724
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION
A 1 S 5IR Dl 3

Asat31 March2022 A —E "4 =H=+—H

2022 2021
TR HE - s
Notes HK$°000 HK$’000
B 51 Tt T
Non-current liabilities i By £
Other borrowings HoAth & 3K 32 _ 7,000
Lease liabilities ViEN==E 33 208 1,527
Amounts due to non-controlling interests JREAST I 422 JHE 4 3 IH 31 60 60
Deferred tax liabilities 0 4 B I A 36 35 1,100
303 9,687
Net assets jegi 2l 102,655 19,037
Equity REAS
Share capital il &N 37 7,770 6,413
Reserves Tt Hi 97,389 14,641
Equity attributable to owners of the Company A/l #E A A E AL A 45 105,159 21,054
Non-controlling interests IF 2 e 75 (2,504) (2,017)
Total equity HE £ 48 7 102,655 19,037

The consolidated financial statements on pages 81 to 235 were approved and 5581 E235H M A MBEHRER —~F - —F A
authorised for issue by the Board of Directors on 30 June 2022 and are  — |- H &8 i & S5 @ Lol R AE )88 > iy N 513

signed on its behalf by: HAREE
Wang Xihua Lai Wei Lam, William
2 AR fREAR
Director Director
£ HH
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY
for 13 B ik 58 B 3

For the year ended 31 March 2022 # % ~ZF ~ " 4F=H =+ —H L £

At 31 March 2020 REF_FE=A=+-H 6.388 293,022 (10) 462 (330) 16,299 4942 (178,060) 142,713 (9.900) 132,813
Loss for the year B — — — — — — — (23 23m) 1709 (125,668)
Other comprehensive income/ b2/ () -

(expense):

Exchange differences on translation SN B MR NE

of financial statements of foreign ERER
operations = = = = 620 = = = 620 (110) 510
Total comprehensive income/(expense) 4% & 45 /(5 3) S

for the year = = = = 620 = = (127377) (126,757 1,599 (125,158)
Recognition of equity-settled TR LA PR 25 B A R S 2

share-based payments B3 e e e e e 4912 e e 4912 e 4912
Share options lapsed CR AU = = = = = (1,265) = 1,265 — — —
Shares issued upon exercise of share 7 (£ B HE A 5 17 0

options (note 37(i)) (H3E376)) 25 3,581 — — — (906) — — 2,700 — 2,700
Redemption of convertible bonds Ji I TS AR (HE2E34)

(note 34) - - - - - - (2289) (225) (2514) - (2514)
Disposal of subsidiaries i E A

(notes 38(a), (b) and (c)) (HH3E38(2)  (b) K (c)) = = = = = = = = = 6,284 6,284
At 31 March 2021 REFZ-E=A=+-H 6413 296,603 (10) 462 290 19,040 2,653 (304,397) 21,054 (2,017) 19,037
Loss for the year R - - - - - - - (43,388) (43,388) (497) (44,385)
Other comprehensive expense: K2R :

Exchange differences on translation AN SE B BB SRR Y

of financial statements of foreign ERER
operations - - - - 482 - - - 482 89 51
Total comprehensive expense for the 4 /4 il 3 A4

year - - - - 482 - - (43,388) (43,406) (408) 43814
Recognition of equity-settled TERR DA RS 30 DAL O S A 2

share-based payments b3 - - - - - 100 - = 100 - 100
Step acquisition of a subsidiary I o — A A - - - - - - - (321) (321) (19) (400)
Share options lapsed BRI e - - - - - (13,638) — 13,638 — — —
Shares issued upon exercise of share 7 (4 B HE A% % 17 B 1

options (note 37(i)) (WF3E376) 75 7,087 - - - (1,162) - - 6,000 - 6,000
Shares issued upon acquisition of an Ut —MBE A A BT

associate (note 23) (3£23) 1,282 120,807 - - - - - - 122,089 - 122,089
Redemption of convertible bonds A W S B (W 3E34)

(note 34) - - - - - - (2,653) 2,296 (357) - (357)
At 31 March 2022 REFZZHF=ZA=+—H 7,170 424,497 (10) 462 m 4340 - (332,672) 105,159 (2,504) 102,655
Notes: fff T -

(a) Merger reserve represents the difference between the nominal values of the ordinary (a) B F R AS 2N T B 84T T 2 M 2 T R B 9 A AR 48

shares issued by the Company and the share capital of subsidiaries acquired through an

exchange of shares pursuant to the group reorganisation prior to the listing of the

Company’s shares on the GEM of the Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited.

A T LA A 7 Y T 5 o T A TR 24 R GEMLLE 1l
il 2 52 0 AL 5 48 P i S R 2 ) 2 B A 2 2
H o
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY

For the year ended 31 March 2022 # % — % — "4 =H =+ —H IL4FZ

Notes: (Continued)

(b)

86

Pursuant to the Articles of Association of the Company’s subsidiaries established in the
People’s Republic of China (the “PRC”) and relevant PRC laws and regulations, these
subsidiaries are required to transfer at least 10% of their profit after taxation, which is
determined in accordance with the PRC accounting rules and regulations, to a statutory
reserve fund (including the general reserve fund and enterprise expansion fund, where
appropriate). Transfer to this statutory reserve fund is subject to the approval of the
respective board of directors, and is discretionary when the balance of such fund has
reached 50% of the registered capital of the respective company. Statutory reserve

fund can only be used to offset accumulated losses or to increase capital.
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS
i Bl R

For the year ended 31 March 2022 #( 2 — & " " 4E=H =+ —H L4

2022 2021
—B AR B
Notes HK$°000 HK$’000
R 5 T TH#TT
OPERATING ACTIVITIES RERE
Loss before taxation I ol il Jis 18
From continuing operations A B A A 2B (41,644) (116,325)
From discontinued operations R H A& L5 2B — (1,922)
Adjustments for: AT & JH BT AF o 5
Finance costs Rl A 12,880 15,189
Write-down of inventories o A7 & 3,782 4,137
Share of (profit)/loss of an associate JRE A — P B o 2 ) (i ) 7
i 48 23 (349) 11,689
Depreciation of property, plant and W~ B A s
equipment 17 4,205 6,053
Depreciation of right-of-use assets i P RE G A AT A 19 2,392 4,158
Amortisation of intangible assets A T S 20 1,263 3,185
Impairment loss on intangible assets TV R (E A 1R 20 4,907 1,728
Impairment loss on goodwill T DRk (A 18 21 — 26,570
Impairment loss on interest in an associate — [A1 W /8 2 ) B0 HE 45 2 (L
5 48 23 — 35,594
(Reversal of)/impairment loss on promissory JRE SR B0 SRR (Il B (E
note receivable i 18 (4,170) 41,429
Gain on disposal of promissory note H B R AR B0 S R A i A
receivable (25,000) =
Written off of trade receivables JREE 0 e Sl 522 —
(Reversal of)/impairment loss on trade and JARE WA R S L A R kg 5 T
other receivables (B 1E]) i (E s 48 (958) 1,422
Bank interest income SRATF Bl A 7 ) (6)
Interest income from promissory note JRE Wi 7 5, S 4 8 Rl A
receivable _ (9,396)
Net loss on disposal of subsidiaries L R 2 D ) e 4R A — 740
Net loss on disposal of property, plant and HEYE - R R i
equipment Jhe 48 i 5 2,565
Loss arising from termination of leases #ALEEENEER — 27
Loss on modification of promissory note 16 Bl TR WAL S, 22 45 119 i 48
receivable _ 2,275
Fair value change of an investment property id <L/ E VNS L =X 18 — 2,000
Fair value change of contingent consideration SR AR A T (52 )
receivable 27 — 28
Equity-settled share-based payments DA B &5 55 DA 03 S A5 2
B 32 9(a) 100 4,912
Waiver of other payables A o L Ah B A R IE 7 (4,227) =
Loss/(gain) on early settlement of convertible — $& F. &5 {5 7] # & 2 W 5 18,
bonds (W 4s) 7 105 (697)
Fair value change of the Company’s shares SIS — [ W6 7 2 w) T 35 AT
issued in relation to acquisition of an N Ay 2 N TSR )
associate 23 55,402 =
Operating cash flows before movement T 4 SR T I 2 KR B A T
in working capital 9,206 35,355

Shunten International (Holdings) Limited M & 2 B (¥ 1) 4 FR 23 W] 87



CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS
i Bl B AR

For the year ended 31 March 2022 #( % =& —~ "4 = H =+ —H IL4

2022 2021
TR - s
Note HK$°000 HK$°000
B 51 Tt T
Changes in working capital BEEGEE)
Decrease in inventories s TR 1,848 1,729
Decrease in trade and other receivables JRE AT B 3 % JHL At JEE A 32 T Sk 20 11,201 19,793
Decrease in trade and other payables JRE AT R S % L Al M AsF 35 T i (4,140) (20,829)
Decrease in contract liabilities Az’]ﬁ WD (152) (210)
Increase/(decrease) in refund liabilities A, () 250 (113)
Cash generated from operations R AR S I B4 18,213 35,725
Hong Kong Profits Tax refunded OB 7w ) 15 1,236 600
Hong Kong Profits Tax paid &% g Ry IS (8,984) (5,150)
NET CASH FROM OPERATING PERS-& 3 JiE TR RtE
ACTIVITIES 10,465 31,175
INVESTING ACTIVITIES BREWEE
Purchase of property, plant and equipment W Y2 - WUE Bt 17 3) (120)
Proceeds from disposal of property, plant and W~ K B )
equipment REY (@5 86 =
Proceeds from disposal of an investment B R W E I T A5 K E
property — 1,500
Direct costs attributable to the purchase of W S o A B A L B RS
right-of-use assets 2) —
Bank interest received B Ui SR 17 F B 9 6
Consideration received for disposal of B ) 2 W Y 2 i AU
subsidiaries, net of cash disposed ke EH 4 — 1,428
Proceeds from disposal of promissory note B TR MSOR S, SRR T A 3RO
receivable 25,000 o
Proceeds from early settlement of promissory 1 T B IR A L S AR 1 T 45
note receivable AIE 5,600 1,400
Step acquisition of a subsidiary IG5 B W i — i) o )8 2 ) (400) —
NET CASH FROM INVESTING 2 H 3% B Bl 4 A
ACTIVITIES 30,285 4,214
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS
i Bl R

For the year ended 31 March 2022 #( 2 — & " " 4E=H =+ —H L4

2022 2021
TR - ey
Note HK$°000 HK$’000
ft 2k T e Tt
FINANCING ACTIVITIES il 5 % 78
Repayment of bank borrowings IR ERAT K (67,324) (47,126)
Repayment of other borrowings 7 At A K (109,000) (33,750)
Proceeds from new bank borrowings B SRAT 1 35T 15 5K IH 77,036 73,800
Proceeds from new other borrowings 0 At 18 BT 15 3K I 100,000 11,250
Repayment of lease liabilities R R A (2,551) (4,050)
Interest paid E AT FLE (14,821) (14,552)
Payment for early redemption and/ upon LU ) % 5 AR AT A
maturity of convertible bonds 5 25 BT 3K (51,000) (44,000)
Proceeds from shares issued under share AR 5 4 A e ) A A7 T 03 T A%
options scheme A 6,000 2,700
NET CASH USED IN FINANCING R 7 5 ) 1) B 4
ACTIVITIES eIl (61,660) (55,728)
NET DECREASE IN CASH AND CASH B4 T B & T WA 5 A
EQUIVALENTS (20,910) (20,339)
Effect of foreign exchange rate changes [V 238 5% ) 1Y) 5 288 570 143
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AT A0 1 B 4 I B4 A
BEGINNING OF YEAR 36,652 56,848
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS ER MBS R BLEEEY
AT END OF YEAR DL B & T 5 7 16,312 36,652
Represented by 18
Bank balances and cash SRAT 45 0% KB 4 35,276 36,652
Bank overdrafts SRITIE L (18,964) —
16,312 36,652
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
Ao 1 S 25 R I

For the year ended 31 March 2022 # % — % — "4 =H =+ —H IL4FZ

90

GENERAL INFORMATION

Shunten International (Holdings) Limited (the “Company”) is a public
limited company incorporated and domiciled in the Cayman Islands as
an exempted company with limited liability on 5 December 2011 under
the Companies Act of the Cayman Islands. The Company’s shares are
listed on the Main Board of The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong
Limited (the “Stock Exchange”). The addresses of the registered office
and principal place of business of the Company are disclosed in the
Corporate Information section of the annual report.

The Company is an investment holding company and its subsidiaries
(collectively referred to as, the “Group”) are principally engaged in the
sale, marketing and distribution of health and beauty supplements and
products in Hong Kong and e-commerce promotion business.

The consolidated financial statements are presented in Hong Kong
dollars (“HKS$”), which is also the functional currency of the Company.

Annual Report 2021/2022 4 #i

— & B

Yt fs I % (HEJBE) AR AR (TAA®] ) 27—
B =% ——F+ AL REHSS
ISR 22 BN R (— LS — 4613 &
B RAERT) 7 B 2 1R 5 5F ML 3 L B
S TE IS S S L 2 R N R RA T o
A 7] 2 AR A A e W 2 o T A PR A R
([ 22 i 1) TR 7T o AN R 2 RE M ke
8 % - A 2 ot B 11 b hE B R A AS AR R A
A B R o

AN T J B AR I ) B FE B R A R (5
MR ITARKE ) EZR AR FHE -
B G PR 5 2 ) iy B ok DA KRR T
[EE RIS

R BB R A T ([ ]) 241 > BLih
Ry AN F R T RE L o



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

fo o1 U 5 e o P

For the year ended 31 March 2022 # % ~ & " " 4F=H =+ —H L4

APPLICATION OF AMENDMENTS TO HONG
KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING
STANDARDS (“HKFRSs”)

Amendments to HKFRSs that are mandatorily effective for
the current year
In the current year,
References to the Conceptual Framework in HKFRS Standards and the
following amendments to HKFRSs issued by the Hong Kong Institute
of Certified Public Accountants (“HKICPA”) for the first time, which
are mandatorily effective for the Group’s annual period beginning on

the Group has applied the Amendments to

1 April 2021 for the preparation of the consolidated financial
statements:

Amendment to HKFRS 16 Covid-19-Related Rent Concessions

Amendment to HKFRS 16 Covid-19-Related Rent Concessions

beyond 30 June 2021

Amendment to HKFRS 9,
HKAS 39, HKFRS 7,
HKFRS 4 and HKFRS 16

Interest Rate Benchmark Reform
— Phase 2

The application of the Amendments to References to the Conceptual
Framework in HKFRS Standards and the amendments to HKFRSs in
the current year had no material impact on the Group’s financial
positions and performance for the current and prior years and/or on the
disclosures set out in these consolidated financial statements.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Bk B S 285 A B

For the year ended 31 March 2022 # % — % — "4 =H =+ —H IL4FZ

2. APPLICATION OF AMENDMENTS TO HONG
KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING
STANDARDS (“HKFRSs”) (CONTINUED)

New and amendments to HKFRSs in issue but not yet

effective

The Group has not early applied the following new and amendments to

HKFRSs that have been issued but are not yet effective:

HKFRS 17

Amendments to HKFRS 3

Amendments to HKFRS 10 and

HKAS 28

Amendments to HKAS 1

Amendments to HKAS 1 and

HKFRS Practice Statement 2

Amendments to HKAS 8

Amendments to HKAS 12

Amendments to HKAS 16

Amendments to HKAS 37

Amendments to HKFRSs

Accounting Guideline 5
(Revised)
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Insurance Contracts and the related
Amendments?

Reference to the Conceptual
Framework'

Sale or Contribution of Assets
between an Investor and its

Associate or Joint Venture?

Classification of Liabilities as
Current or Non-current and related
amendments to Hong Kong
Interpretation 5 (2020)*

Disclosure of Accounting Policies?

Definition of Accounting Estimates*

Deferred Tax related to Assets and
liabilities arising from a Single
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APPLICATION OF AMENDMENTS TO HONG 2.

KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING
STANDARDS (“HKFRSs”) (CONTINUED)
New and amendments to HKFRSs in issue but not yet

effective (Continued)
! Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2022

2 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2023
3 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after a date to be determined
4 Effective for common control combinations that occur on or after beginning of

the first annual period on or after 1 January 2022

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF 3.

CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AND SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

3.1 Basis of preparation of consolidated financial

statements

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared in
accordance with HKFRSs issued by the HKICPA. For the
purpose of preparation of the consolidated financial statements,
information is considered material if such information is
reasonably expected to influence decisions made by primary
users. In addition, the consolidated financial statements include
applicable disclosures required by the Rules Governing the
Listing of Securities on The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong
Limited (“Listing Rules”) and by the Hong Kong Companies

Ordinance.
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BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AND SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

31

Basis of preparation of consolidated financial

statements (Continued)

During the year ended 31 March 2022, the Group incurred a net
loss of approximately HK$44,385,000 and, as of that date, the
Group had net current liabilities of approximately
HK$65,832,000. The Group’s bank balances and cash as at 31
March 2022 amounted to approximately HK$35,276,000 as
compared to the Group’s bank and other borrowings and bank
overdrafts of totaling approximately HK$118,957,000, of which
are repayable within the next twelve months from the end of the
reporting period. The directors of the Company have given
careful consideration to the future liquidity of the Group when
preparing the consolidated financial statements. In order to
improve the Group’s financial position, the directors of the
Company have been implementing following various measures:

@) taking active measures to facilitate the collection of the
trade receivables to improve operating cash flows and its
financial position, of which subsequent to the end of the
reporting period, the Group has collected approximately
HK$8,007,000 up to the date of this report;

(i)  reviewing its investment and actively considering to realise
it in order to enhance the cash flow position of the Group
whenever it is necessary, of which the interest in an
associate is disposed subsequent to the end of the
reporting period and the sales proceeds of HK$66,000,000
is received by the Group before the date of this
consolidated financial statements are authorised to issue;
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BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AND SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)
3.1 Basis of preparation of consolidated financial
statements (Continued)
(iii) negotiating with respective lenders to renew and extend the
existing borrowings upon their maturities, of which the
Group has pledged its leasehold land and buildings held
for own use with carrying amount of approximately
HK$68,865,000 (2021: HK$71,658,000) to banks to secure
banking facilities granted to the Group (note 32). The
directors of the Company have evaluated the relevant facts
and are of the opinion that the Company is in compliance
with the bank borrowings’ covenants. There is no
indication that the bank will require immediate repayment
of the outstanding banks borrowings in the coming twelve
months; and

(iv) implementing an active cost-saving measures to control

administrative costs.

The directors of the Company have also carried out detail review
on the Group’s cash flow projections prepared by management.
The cash flow projections cover a period of not less than twelve
months from the end of the reporting period. In preparing the
cash flow projections, the directors have considered historical
cash requirements of the Group as well as other key factors,
including the availability of the source of finance (including the
banking and other facilities) which may impact the operations of
the Group during the next twelve-month period. They are of the
opinion that, taking into account the above-mentioned plans and
measures, the Group would have sufficient working capital to
finance its operations and to meet its financial obligations as and
when they fall due within the next twelve months from the end
of the reporting period.

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared on the
historical cost basis except for financial instruments that are
measured at fair values at the end of the reporting period, as
explained in the accounting policies set out below.

o P55 0 B B e B e J K
nf B (48)

3.1 AAR A I R B (D)

(i) ERARBHSRARER > fEBLA 1Y
HEN BB > A
b LA TR T 0
68,865,000%5 7T (—F ——4F ¢
71,658,000%5 J6) 19 F A&
Tt AR T 8RAT > DASE
33T A S 1 (9 SR AT il & (Bt
#E32) o AR ) FE B RN AR
WFE - BAERAFFE BT
fERHE o MEMEHE 5 R B4RAT
1R A 1218 A ﬁq%ﬂ‘zj I
98 R AR M BRAT 15 3K

(v)  BORERR AR A B A it > 42
47 B AR o

A T TR R A A R A
A 4 ) B A T o B oA T
=R AR A DR A
1 IR ] o A A BB B O T > 3
Y & U EEES T 5 Y
Be FoAt R 8 R 3R > B0 AT RE R BER
S EAE R AR A A H R
AU (BLAE SR AT A EAL B ) 4 TR
Do AR > BB Lk 5t A
- A S A A A B
Ry R RB A > 0 AE e 45 AR
R A AR A KB AT HL B S B
BRAL

BRI IR 2 NP ERH R 2 S
TR - &ia BB IR R T REE L
JAR S e A R A ST R & B
i FE)

Shunten International (Holdings) Limited M & 2 B (¥ 1) 4 FR 23 W] 95



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
Ao 1 S 25 R I

For the year ended 31 March 2022 #( % =& —~ "4 = H =+ —H IL4

96

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AND SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

3.1

Basis of preparation of consolidated financial

statements (Continued)
Historical cost is generally based on the fair value of the

consideration given in exchange for goods and services.

Fair value is the price that would be received to sell an asset or
paid to transfer a liability in an orderly transaction between
market participants at the measurement date, regardless of
whether that price is directly observable or estimated using
another valuation technique. In estimating the fair value of an
asset or a liability, the Group takes into account the
characteristics of the asset or liability if market participants
would take those characteristics into account when pricing the
asset or liability at the measurement date. Fair value for
measurement and/or disclosure purposes in these consolidated
financial statements is determined on such a basis, except for
share-based payment transactions that are within the scope of
HKFRS 2 Share-based Payment, leasing transactions that are
accounted for in accordance with HKFRS 16 Leases (“HKFRS
16”), and measurements that have some similarities to fair value
but are not fair value, such as net realisable value in HKAS 2

Inventories or value in use in HKAS 36 Impairment of Assets.

A fair value measurement of a non-financial asset takes into
account a market participant’s ability to generate economic
benefits by using the asset in its highest and best use or by
selling it to another market participant that would use the asset in

its highest and best use.
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BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AND SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

3.1

Basis of preparation of consolidated financial

statements (Continued)

For financial instruments and investment property which are
transacted at fair value and a valuation technique that
unobservable inputs is to be used to measure fair value in
subsequent periods, the valuation technique is calibrated so that
at initial recognition the results of the valuation technique equals

the transaction price.

In addition, for financial reporting purposes, fair value
measurements are categorised into Level 1, 2 or 3 based on the
degree to which the inputs to the fair value measurements are
observable and the significance of the inputs to the fair value

measurement in its entirety, which are described as follows:

. Level 1 inputs are quoted prices (unadjusted) in active
markets for identical assets or liabilities that the entity can

access at the measurement date;

. Level 2 inputs are inputs, other than quoted prices included
within Level 1, that are observable for the asset or

liability, either directly or indirectly; and

. Level 3 inputs are unobservable inputs for the asset or

liability.
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BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AND SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

3.2

Significant accounting policies

Basis of consolidation

The consolidated financial statements incorporate the financial
statements of the Company and entities controlled by the

Company and its subsidiaries. Control is achieved when the

Company:
. has power over the investee;
. is exposed, or has rights, to variable returns from its

involvement with the investee; and

. has the ability to use its power to affect its returns.

The Group reassesses whether or not it controls an investee if
facts and circumstances indicate that there are changes to one or

more of the three elements of control listed above.

Consolidation of a subsidiary begins when the Group obtains
control over the subsidiary and ceases when the Group loses
control of the subsidiary. Specifically, income and expenses of a
subsidiary acquired or disposed of during the year are included in
the consolidated statement of profit or loss and other
comprehensive income from the date the Group gains control

until the date when the Group ceases to control the subsidiary.

Profit or loss and each item of other comprehensive income are
attributed to the owners of the Company and to the
non-controlling interests. Total comprehensive income of
subsidiaries is attributed to the owners of the Company and to the
non-controlling interests even if this results in the

non-controlling interests having a deficit balance.
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BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AND SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

3.2

Significant accounting policies (Continued)

Basis of consolidation (Continued)

When necessary, adjustments are made to the financial statements
of subsidiaries to bring their accounting policies in line with the

Group’s accounting policies.

All intragroup assets and liabilities, equity, income, expenses and
cash flows relating to transactions between members of the

Group are eliminated in full on consolidation.

Non-controlling interests in subsidiaries are presented separately
from the Group’s equity therein, which represent present
ownership interests entitling their holders to a proportionate share

of net assets of the relevant subsidiaries upon liquidation.

Changes in the Group’s interests in existing subsidiaries

Changes in the Group’s interests in subsidiaries that do not result
in the Group losing control over the subsidiaries are accounted
for as equity transactions. The carrying amounts of the Group’s
relevant components of equity and the non-controlling interests
are adjusted to reflect the changes in their relative interests in the
subsidiaries, including re-attribution of relevant reserves between
the Group and the non-controlling interests according to the

Group’s and the non-controlling interests’ proportionate interests.

Any difference between the amount by which the non-controlling
interests are adjusted, and the fair value of the consideration paid
or received is recognised directly in equity and attributed to

owners of the Company.
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BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AND SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

3.2

Significant accounting policies (Continued)

Changes in the Group’s interests in existing subsidiaries
(Continued)

When the Group loses control of a subsidiary, the assets and
liabilities of that subsidiary and non-controlling interest (if any)
are derecognised. A gain or loss is recognised in profit or loss
and is calculated as the difference between (i) the aggregate of
the fair value of the consideration received and the fair value of
any retained interest and (ii) the carrying amount of the assets
(including goodwill), and liabilities of the subsidiary attributable
to the owners of the Company. All amounts previously
recognised in other comprehensive income in relation to that
subsidiary are accounted for as if the Group had directly
disposed of the related assets or liabilities of the subsidiary (i.e.
reclassified to profit or loss or transferred to another category of
equity as specified/permitted by applicable HKFRS Standards).
The fair value of any investment retained in the former
subsidiary at the date when control is lost is regarded as the fair
value on initial recognition for subsequent accounting under
HKFRS 9 Financial Instruments (“HKFRS 9”) or, when
applicable, the cost on initial recognition of an investment in an

associate or a joint venture.

Business combinations

Acquisitions of businesses are accounted for using the acquisition
method. The consideration transferred in a business combination
is measured at fair value, which is calculated as the sum of the
acquisition-date fair values of the assets transferred by the
Group, liabilities incurred by the Group to the former owners of
the acquiree and the equity interests issued by the Group in
exchange for control of the acquiree. Acquisition-related costs are

generally recognised in profit or loss as incurred.
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BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AND SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)
3.2 Significant accounting policies (Continued)

Business combinations (Continued)

At the acquisition date, the identifiable assets acquired and the

liabilities assumed are recognised at their fair value, except that:

o deferred tax assets or liabilities, and assets or liabilities
related to employee benefit arrangements are recognised
and measured in accordance with HKAS 12 Income Taxes

and HKAS 19 Employee Benetits respectively;

. liabilities or equity instruments related to share-based
payment arrangements of the acquiree or share-based
payment arrangements of the Group entered into to replace
share-based payment arrangements of the acquiree are
measured in accordance with HKFRS 2 Share-based
Payment at the acquisition date (see the accounting policy

below);

. assets (or disposal groups) that are classified as held for
sale in accordance with HKFRS 5 Non-current Assets Held
for Sale and Discontinued Operations are measured in

accordance with that standard; and

. lease liabilities are recognised and measured at the present
value of the remaining lease payments (as defined in
HKFRS 16) as if the acquired leases were new leases at
the acquisition date, except for leases for which the lease
term ends within 12 months of the acquisition date. Right-
of-use assets are recognised and measured at the same
amount as the relevant lease liabilities, adjusted to reflect
favourable or unfavourable terms of the lease when

compared with market terms.
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BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AND SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

3.2

Significant accounting policies (Continued)

Business combinations (Continued)

Goodwill is measured as the excess of the sum of the
consideration transferred, the amount of any non-controlling
interests in the acquiree, and the fair value of the acquirer’s
previously held equity interest in the acquiree (if any) over the
net amount of the identifiable assets acquired and the liabilities
assumed as at acquisition date. If, after re-assessment, the net
amount of the identifiable assets acquired and liabilities assumed
exceeds the sum of the consideration transferred, the amount of
any non-controlling interests in the acquiree and the fair value of
the acquirer’s previously held interest in the acquiree (if any), the
excess is recognised immediately in profit or loss as a bargain
purchase gain.

Non-controlling interests that are present ownership interests and
entitle their holders to a proportionate share of the relevant
subsidiary’s net assets in the event of liquidation are initially
measured at the non-controlling interests’ proportionate share of
the recognised amounts of the acquiree’s identifiable net assets or
at fair value.

When the consideration transferred by the Group in a business
combination includes a contingent consideration arrangement, the
contingent consideration is measured at its acquisition-date fair
value and included as part of the consideration transferred in a
business combination. Changes in the fair value of the contingent
consideration that qualify as measurement period adjustments are
adjusted retrospectively. Measurement period adjustments are
adjustments that arise from additional information obtained
during the “measurement period” (which cannot exceed one year
from the acquisition date) about facts and circumstances that
existed at the acquisition date.

The subsequent accounting for the contingent consideration that
do not qualify as measurement period adjustments depends on
how the contingent consideration is classified. Contingent
consideration that is classified as equity is not remeasured at
subsequent reporting dates and its subsequent settlement is
accounted for within equity. Contingent consideration that is
classified as an asset or a liability is remeasured to fair value at
subsequent reporting dates, with the corresponding gain or loss
being recognised in profit or loss.
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BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AND SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

3.2

Significant accounting policies (Continued)

Goodwill

Goodwill arising on an acquisition of a business is carried at cost
as established at the date of acquisition of the business less

accumulated impairment losses, if any.

For the purposes of impairment testing, goodwill is allocated to
each of the Group’s cash-generating units (or group of
cash-generating units) that is expected to benefit from the
synergies of the combination, which represent the lowest level at
which the goodwill is monitored for internal management

purposes and not larger than an operating segment.

A cash-generating unit (or group of cash-generating units) to
which goodwill has been allocated is tested for impairment
annually or more frequently when there is indication that the unit
may be impaired. For goodwill arising on an acquisition in a
reporting period, the cash-generating unit (or group of
cash-generating units) to which goodwill has been allocated is
tested for impairment before the end of that reporting period. If
the recoverable amount is less than its carrying amount, the
impairment loss is allocated first to reduce the carrying amount
of any goodwill and then to the other assets on a pro-rata basis
based on the carrying amount of each asset in the unit (or group

of cash-generating units).

On disposal of the relevant cash-generating unit or any of the
cash-generating unit within the group of cash-generating units,
the attributable amount of goodwill is included in the
determination of the amount of profit or loss on disposal. When
the Group disposes of an operation within the cash-generating
unit (or a cash-generating unit within a group of cash-generating
units), the amount of goodwill disposed of is measured on the
basis of the relative values of the operation (or the
cash-generating unit) disposed of and the portion of the
cash-generating unit (or the group of cash-generating units)
retained.

The Group’s policy for goodwill arising on the acquisition of an

associate is described below.
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BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AND SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

3.2

Significant accounting policies (Continued)
Investments in associates

An associate is an entity over which the Group has significant
influence. Significant influence is the power to participate in the
financial and operating policy decisions of the investee but is not
control over those policies.

The results and assets and liabilities of associates are
incorporated in these consolidated financial statements using the
equity method of accounting. The financial statements of
associates used for equity accounting purposes are prepared using
uniform accounting policies as those of the Group for like
transactions and events in similar circumstances. Under the equity
method, an investment in an associate is initially recognised in
the consolidated statement of financial position at cost and
adjusted thereafter to recognise the Group’s share of the profit or
loss and other comprehensive income of the associate. Cost of
investment in an associate upon initial recognition in exchange
for an issue of the Company’s shares is based on the fair value
of the associate measured at the acquisition date, any excess of
fair value of the consideration transferred over the fair value of
the interest in associate acquired are recognised in profit or loss
with reference to HKFRS 2 Share based payment. Changes in net
assets of the associate other than profit or loss and other
comprehensive income are not accounted for unless such changes
resulted in changes in ownership interest held by the Group.
When the Group’s share of losses of an associate exceeds the
Group’s interest in that associate (which includes any long-term
interests that, in substance, form part of the Group’s net
investment in the associate), the Group discontinues recognising
its share of further losses. Additional losses are recognised only
to the extent that the Group has incurred legal or constructive
obligations or made payments on behalf of the associate.

An investment in an associate is accounted for using the equity
method from the date on which the investee becomes an
associate. On acquisition of the investment in an associate, any
excess of the cost of the investment over the Group’s share of
the net fair value of the identifiable assets and liabilities of the
investee is recognised as goodwill, which is included within the
carrying amount of the investment. Any excess of the Group’s
share of the net fair value of the identifiable assets and liabilities
over the cost of the investment, after reassessment, is recognised
immediately in profit or loss in the period in which the
investment is acquired.
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BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AND SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

3.2

Significant accounting policies (Continued)
Investments in associates (Continued)

The Group assesses whether there is an objective evidence that
the interest in an associate may be impaired. When any objective
evidence exists, the entire carrying amount of the investment
(including goodwill) is tested for impairment in accordance with
HKAS 36 as a single asset by comparing its recoverable amount
(higher of value in use and fair value less costs of disposal) with
its carrying amount. Any impairment loss recognised is not
allocated to any asset, including goodwill, that forms part of the
carrying amount of the investment. Any reversal of that
impairment loss is recognised in accordance with HKAS 36 to
the extent that the recoverable amount of the investment

subsequently increases.

When the Group ceases to have significant influence over an
associate, it is accounted for as a disposal of the entire interest in
the investee with a resulting gain or loss being recognised in
profit or loss.

In addition, the Group accounts for all amounts previously
recognised in other comprehensive income in relation to that
associate on the same basis as would be required if that associate
had directly disposed of the related assets or liabilities.
Therefore, if a gain or loss previously recognised in other
comprehensive income by that associate would be reclassified to
profit or loss on the disposal of the related assets or liabilities,
the Group reclassifies the gain or loss from equity to profit or
loss (as a reclassification adjustment) upon disposal/partial
disposal of the relevant associate.
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BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AND SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

3.2

Significant accounting policies (Continued)

Revenue from contracts with customers

The Group recognises revenue when (or as) a performance
obligation is satisfied, i.e. when “control” of the goods or
services underlying the particular performance obligation is

transferred to the customer.

A performance obligation represents a good or service (or a
bundle of goods or services) that is distinct or a series of distinct

goods or services that are substantially the same.

Control is transferred over time and revenue is recognised over
time by reference to the progress towards complete satisfaction
of the relevant performance obligation if one of the following

criteria is met:

. the customer simultaneously receives and consumes the
benefits provided by the Group’s performance as the

Group performs;

. the Group’s performance creates or enhances an asset that

the customer controls as the Group performs; or

. the Group’s performance does not create an asset with an
alternative use to the Group and the Group has an
enforceable right to payment for performance completed to
date.

Otherwise, revenue is recognised at a point in time when the

customer obtains control of the distinct good or service.

A contract liability represents the Group’s obligation to transfer
goods or services to a customer for which the Group has
received consideration (or an amount of consideration is due)

from the customer.
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BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AND SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

3.2

Significant accounting policies (Continued)

Revenue from contracts with customers (Continued)

Over time revenue recognition: measurement of progress towards
complete satisfaction of a performance obligation

Output method

The progress towards complete satisfaction of a performance
obligation is measured based on output method, which is to
recognise revenue on the basis of direct measurements of the
value of the goods or services transferred to the customer to date
relative to the remaining goods or services promised under the
contract, that best depict the Group’s performance in transferring

control of goods or services.

As a practical expedient, if the Group has a right to
consideration in an amount that corresponds directly with the
value of the Group’s performance completed to date, the Group
recognises revenue in the amount to which the Group has the

right to invoice.

Refund liabilities
The Group recognises a refund liability if the Group expects to
refund some or all of the consideration received from customers.

Sale with a right of return
For a sale of products with a right of return, the Group

recognises all of the following:

(a) revenue for the transferred products in the amount of
consideration to which the Group expects to be entitled
(therefore, revenue would not be recognised for the
products expected to be returned/exchanged);

(b)  a refund liability/contract liability; and
(c) an asset (and corresponding adjustment to cost of sales) for

its right to recover products from customers and are

presented as right-of-return assets.
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BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AND SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

3.2

Significant accounting policies (Continued)

Revenue from contracts with customers (Continued)

Principal versus agent

When another party is involved in providing goods or services to
a customer, the Group determines whether the nature of its
promise is a performance obligation to provide the specified
goods or services itself (i.e. the Group is a principal) or to
arrange for those goods or services to be provided by the other

party (i.e. the Group is an agent).

The Group is a principal if it controls the specified good or

service before that good or service is transferred to a customer.

The Group is an agent if its performance obligation is to arrange
for the provision of the specified good or service by another
party. In this case, the Group does not control the specified good
or service provided by another party before that good or service
is transferred to the customer. When the Group acts as an agent,
it recognises revenue in the amount of any fee or commission to
which it expects to be entitled in exchange for arranging for the

specified goods or services to be provided by the other party.

Leases

Definition of a lease

A contract is, or contains, a lease if the contract conveys the
right to control the use of an identified asset for a period of time

in exchange for consideration.

For contracts entered into or modified on or after the date of
initial application, the Group assesses whether a contract is or
contains a lease based on the definition under HKFRS 16 at
inception, modification date or acquisition date, as appropriate.
Such contract will not be reassessed unless the terms and

conditions of the contract are subsequently changed.
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BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AND SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

3.2

Significant accounting policies (Continued)

Leases (Continued)

The Group as a lessee

Allocation of consideration to components of a contract

For a contract that contains a lease component and one or more
additional lease or non-lease components, the Group allocates the
consideration in the contract to each lease component on the
basis of the relative stand-alone price of the lease component and
the aggregate stand-alone price of the non-lease components.

The Group applies practical expedient not to separate non-lease
components from lease component, and instead account for the
lease component and any associated non-lease components as a
single lease component.

Short-term leases

The Group applies the short-term lease recognition exemption to
leases that have a lease term of 12 months or less from the
commencement date and do not contain a purchase option. Lease
payments on short-term leases are recognised as expense on a
straight-line basis or another systematic basis over the lease
term.

Right-of-use assets
The cost of right-of-use asset includes:

. the amount of the initial measurement of the lease liability;

. any lease payments made at or before the commencement
date, less any lease incentives received;

Except for those that are classified as investment properties and
measured under fair value model, right-of-use assets are
measured at cost, less any accumulated depreciation and
impairment losses, and adjusted for any remeasurement of lease
liabilities.

The Group presents right-of-use assets that do not meet the
definition of investment property as a separate line item on the
consolidated statement of financial position. Right-of-use assets
that met the definition of investment property are presented
within “investment property”.
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BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AND SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

3.2

Significant accounting policies (Continued)

Leases (Continued)

The Group as a lessee (Continued)

Refundable rental deposits

Refundable rental deposits paid are accounted under HKFRS 9
and initially measured at fair value. Adjustments to fair value at
initial recognition are considered as additional lease payments

and included in the cost of right-of-use assets.

Lease liabilities

At the commencement date of a lease, the Group recognises and
measures the lease liability at the present value of lease
payments that are unpaid at that date. In calculating the present
value of lease payments, the Group uses the incremental
borrowing rate at the lease commencement date if the interest

rate implicit in the lease is not readily determinable.
The lease payments include:

. fixed payments (including in-substance fixed payments) less

any lease incentives receivable;

. payments of penalties for terminating a lease, if the lease
term reflects the Group exercising an option to terminate

the lease.

After the commencement date, lease liabilities are adjusted by

interest accretion and lease payments.

The Group presents lease liabilities as a separate line item on the

consolidated statement of financial position.
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BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AND SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

3.2

Significant accounting policies (Continued)

Foreign currencies

In preparing the financial statements of each individual group
entity, transactions in currencies other than the functional
currency of that entity (foreign currencies) are recognised at the
rates of exchanges prevailing on the dates of the transactions. At
the end of the reporting period, monetary items denominated in
foreign currencies are retranslated at the rates prevailing at that
date. Non-monetary items carried at fair value that are
denominated in foreign currencies are retranslated at the rates
prevailing on the date when the fair value was determined. Non-
monetary items that are measured in terms of historical cost in a

foreign currency are not retranslated.

Exchange differences arising on the settlement of monetary
items, and on the retranslation of monetary items, are recognised

in profit or loss in the period in which they arise.

For the purposes of presenting the consolidated financial
statements, the assets and liabilities of the Group’s operations are
translated into the presentation currency of the Group (i.e. Hong
Kong Dollar) using exchange rates prevailing at the end of each
reporting period. Income and expenses items are translated at the
average exchange rates for the period, unless exchange rates
fluctuate significantly during that period, in which case the
exchange rates at the date of transactions are used. Exchange
differences arising, if any, are recognised in other comprehensive
income and accumulated in equity under the heading of
translation reserve (attributed to non-controlling interests as

appropriate).

On the disposal of a foreign operation (that is, a disposal of the
Group’s entire interest in a foreign operation, or a disposal
involving loss of control over a subsidiary that includes a foreign
operation), all of the exchange differences accumulated in equity
in respect of that operation attributable to the owners of the

Company are reclassified to profit or loss.

o B 5o B B iR R R K
& ah BOR (4)

3.2 EREFFEOR ()

Vi

A A% S T R AR 2 B S R R LU
% H M2 R B DU 2 B (S
W) EAT IO 2 5 9 IR 28 5y HI 30 I
Z MEARFERE o AWl WK > DUANE
i 2 BREIH FH DUE H 2 S
5 o DS RHE M 1% AT EF 2
FEWHA IR THEHEEEHZ
ME RO o DISMIEIRE AR 2
FEWIHA RN P EIRHA -

A5 £ I I R S
I 7 1 2 B 32 8 1 A Y
L35 o AR ©

MRS MBS WRT E - AL H
S B K BRI A o
RZMERGE BAEE 2 25 &%
(RI#ETT) o WA B BH S 3 A Y 45 3
A1 S 4 T 5 40 - B I 309 70 B 6 oy
BLE R PR - &R BE IR - o
B2 5 0 TEZE o B i A T S 22
AT ) R At 2 ThT WA o il s Al
Tl A T i P 2 5 (BB R
e g > W) -

Tt B Vg S0 S (B 5 A 42 B A Vi
HRETSH A2 R ME 2R - B RO o B
BLAE 83 S0 S5 119 T 2 ) 4 o RE G
) B > BAS A AR B A %
5 T 7 W i A1 2 &R B AT REE St 22 3R
TyE BB R -

Shunten International (Holdings) Limited M & 2 B (¥ 1) 4 FR 23 W] 111



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
Ao 1 S 25 R I

For the year ended 31 March 2022 # % — % — "4 =H =+ —H IL4FZ

112

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AND SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

3.2

Significant accounting policies (Continued)

Borrowing costs

Borrowing costs which are not capitalised to qualifying assets are
recognised in profit or loss in the period in which they are

incurred.

Government grants

Government grants are not recognised until there is reasonable
assurance that the Group will comply with the conditions
attaching to them and that the grants will be received.

Government grants related to income that are receivable as
compensation for expenses or losses already incurred or for the
purpose of giving immediate financial support to the Group with
no future related costs are recognised in profit or loss in the
period in which they become receivable. Such grants are

presented under “other income”.

Employee benefits

Retirement benefit costs

Payments to defined contribution retirement benefit plans are
recognised as an expense when employees have rendered service
entitling them to the contributions.

Short-term employee benetits

Short-term employee benefits are recognised at the undiscounted
amount of the benefits expected to be paid as and when
employees rendered the services. All short-term employee
benefits are recognised as an expense unless another HKFRS
requires or permits the inclusion of the benefit in the cost of an
asset.

A liability is recognised for benefits accruing to employees (such
as wages and salaries, annual leave and sick leave) after
deducting any amount already paid.
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BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AND SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

3.2

Significant accounting policies (Continued)
Share-based payments

Equity-settled share-based payments transactions

Share options granted to employees

Equity-settled share-based payments to employees and others
providing similar services are measured at the fair value of the
equity instruments at the grant date.

The fair value of the equity-settled share-based payments
determined at the grant date without taking into consideration all
non-market vesting conditions is expensed on a straight-line basis
over the vesting period, based on the Group’s estimate of equity
instruments that will eventually vest, with a corresponding
increase in equity (share option reserve). At the end of each
reporting period, the Group revises its estimate of the number of
equity instruments expected to vest based on assessment of all
relevant non-market vesting conditions. The impact of the
revision of the original estimates, if any, is recognised in profit
or loss such that the cumulative expense reflects the revised
estimate, with a corresponding adjustment to the share option
reserve. For share options that vest immediately at the date of
grant, the fair value of the share options granted is expensed
immediately to profit or loss.

When share options are exercised, the amount previously
recognised in share option reserve will be transferred to share
premium. When the share options are forfeited after the vesting
date or are still not exercised at the expiry date, the amount
previously recognised in share option reserve will be transferred
to accumulated losses.
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BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AND SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

3.2

Significant accounting policies (Continued)
Taxation
Income tax expense represents the sum of the tax currently

payable and deferred tax.

The tax currently payable is based on taxable profit for the year.
Taxable profit differs from loss before taxation because of
income or expense that are taxable or deductible in other years
and items that are never taxable or deductible. The Group’s
liability for current tax is calculated using tax rates that have
been enacted or substantively enacted by the end of the reporting

period.

Deferred tax is recognised on temporary differences between the
carrying amounts of assets and liabilities in the consolidated
financial statements and the corresponding tax bases used in the
computation of taxable profit. Deferred tax liabilities are
generally recognised for all taxable temporary differences.
Deferred tax assets are generally recognised for all deductible
temporary differences to the extent that it is probable that taxable
profits will be available against which those deductible temporary
differences can be utilised. Such deferred tax assets and
liabilities are not recognised if the temporary difference arises
from the initial recognition (other than in a business
combination) of assets and liabilities in a transaction that affects
neither the taxable profit nor the accounting profit. In addition,
deferred tax liabilities are not recognised if the temporary

difference arises from the initial recognition of goodwill.

Deferred tax liabilities are recognised for taxable temporary
differences associated with investments in subsidiaries and
associates, except where the Group is able to control the reversal
of the temporary difference and it is probable that the temporary
difference will not reverse in the foreseeable future. Deferred tax
assets arising from deductible temporary differences associated
with such investments and interests are only recognised to the
extent that it is probable that there will be sufficient taxable
profits against which to utilise the benefits of the temporary
differences and they are expected to reverse in the foreseeable

future.
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BASIS OF PREPARATION OF 3. WMMGSTMBRmERELEKR
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 5Bk (4)

AND SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

3.2 Significant accounting policies (Continued) 32 EREFBUR ()
Taxation (Continued) BE (%)
The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is reviewed at the end % A0 ol I R TR (A IR R
of each reporting period and reduced to the extent that it is no BIRELEH > RAAFATRREH
longer probable that sufficient taxable profits will be available to FE ) JRE AR B A [ A S = A
allow all or part of the asset to be recovered. JEE IR A Y 3 3 o
Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured at the tax rates R SOE B I A K B T i TE A A
that are expected to apply in the period in which the liability is 7 1R T L ) 2 B R
settled or the asset is realised, based on tax rate (and tax laws) PP (FERE MR B AN EY LB
that have been enacted or substantively enacted by the end of the R 2 B E (KB RHHE) o

reporting period.

The measurement of deferred tax liabilities and assets reflects the R SE B IE B K I FEE R
tax consequences that would follow from the manner in which A (9] R 1A 2R T A i [ A
the Group expects, at the end of the reporting period, to recover 7 L R B R I R T (1 B S AR
or settle the carrying amount of its assets and liabilities. R e

For the purposes of measuring deferred tax for investment MERH AT EEG R EWEZ
properties that are measured using the fair value model, the RAEBLIAT & R I A B B e 1L
carrying amounts of such properties are presumed to be o 75 RIR% S W 2 2 BR T (E A R e
recovered entirely through sale, unless the presumption is 7l A A o G ]
rebutted. The presumption is rebutted when the investment e ELARYE B ) B bE e AL A (7 JE
property is depreciable and is held within a business model B ) R E SN B K RER
whose objective is to consume substantially all of the economic oy RSP 4 2 SEB MR A > BllR%
benefits embodied in the investment property over time, rather B & Bl L] > e gk A E RE b BR
than through sale, except for freehold land, which is always Ah > Ho— E R E S R s A ik
presumed to be recovered entirely through sale. [ o

For the purposes of measuring deferred tax for leasing it A AR (B e R R A
transactions in which the Group recognises the right-of-use assets HAEAENHERS W ER
and the related lease liabilities, the Group first determines TH > A4 [ w0 1 e B
whether the tax deductions are attributable to the right-of-use St B ok D e P o

assets or the lease liabilities.
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BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AND SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

3.2

Significant accounting policies (Continued)

Taxation (Continued)

For leasing transactions in which the tax deductions are
attributable to the lease liabilities, the Group applies HKAS 12
Income Taxes requirements to the leasing transaction as a whole.
Temporary differences relating to right-of-use assets and lease
liabilities are assessed on a net basis. Excess of depreciation on
right-of-use assets over the lease payments for the principal
portion of lease liabilities resulting in net deductible temporary

differences.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are offset when there is a
legally enforceable right to set off current tax assets against
current tax liabilities and when they relate to income taxes levied

to the same taxable entity by the same taxation authority.

Current and deferred tax are recognised in profit or loss.

Property, plant and equipment

Property, plant and equipment are tangible assets that are held for
use in the production or supply of goods or services, or for
administrative purposes. Property, plant and equipment are stated
in the consolidated statement of financial position at cost less
subsequent accumulated depreciation and subsequent accumulated

impairment losses, if any.

When the Group makes payments for ownership interests of
properties which includes both leasehold land and building
elements, the entire consideration is allocated between the
leasehold land and the building elements in proportion to the
relative fair values at initial recognition. To the extent the
allocation of the relevant payments can be made reliably, interest
in leasehold land is presented as “right-of-use assets” in the
consolidated statement of financial position. When the
consideration cannot be allocated reliably between non-lease
building element and undivided interest in the underlying
leasehold land, the entire properties are classified as property,

plant and equipment.
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BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AND SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

3.2

Significant accounting policies (Continued)

Property, plant and equipment (Continued)

Depreciation is recognised so as to write off the cost of assets
less their residual values over their estimated useful lives, using
the straight-line method. The estimated useful lives, residual
values and depreciation method are reviewed at the end of each
reporting period, with the effect of any changes in estimate
accounted for on a prospective basis.

An item of property, plant and equipment is derecognised upon
disposal or when no future economic benefits are expected to
arise from the continued use of the asset. Any gain or loss
arising on the disposal or retirement of an item of property, plant
and equipment is determined as the difference between the sales
proceeds and the carrying amount of the asset and is recognised

in profit or loss.

Investment properties
Investment properties are properties held to earn rentals and/or
for capital appreciation.

Investment properties are initially measured at cost, including
any directly attributable expenditure. Subsequent to initial
recognition, investment properties are measured at fair value,
adjusted to exclude any prepaid or accrued operating lease

income.

Gains or losses arising from changes in the fair value of
investment properties are included in profit or loss for the period

in which they arise.

An investment property is derecognised upon disposal or when
the investment property is permanently withdrawn from use and
no future economic benefits are expected from its disposal. Any
gain or loss arising on derecognition of the property (calculated
as the difference between the net disposal proceeds and the
carrying amount of the asset) is included in profit or loss in the

period in which the property is derecognised.
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BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AND SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

3.2

Significant accounting policies (Continued)

Intangible assets

Intangible assets acquired separately

Intangible assets with finite useful lives that are acquired
separately are carried at costs less accumulated amortisation and
any accumulated impairment losses. Amortisation for intangible
assets with finite useful lives is recognised on a straight-line
basis over their estimated useful lives. The estimated useful life
and amortisation method are reviewed at the end of each
reporting period, with the effect of any changes in estimate being
accounted for on a prospective basis. Intangible assets with
indefinite useful lives that are acquired separately are carried at
cost less any subsequent accumulated impairment losses.

Internally-generated intangible assets — research and development
expenditure
Expenditure on research activities is recognised as an expense in

the period in which it is incurred.

An internally-generated intangible asset arising from development
activities (or from the development phase of an internal project)
is recognised if, and only if, all of the following have been
demonstrated:

. the technical feasibility of completing the intangible asset

so that it will be available for use or sale;

. the intention to complete the intangible asset and use or
sell it;

. the ability to use or sell the intangible asset;

. how the intangible asset will generate probable future
economic benefits;

. the availability of adequate technical, financial and other
resources to complete the development and to use or sell

the intangible asset; and

. the ability to measure reliably the expenditure attributable
to the intangible asset during its development.
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BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AND SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

3.2

Significant accounting policies (Continued)

Intangible assets (Continued)

Internally-generated intangible assets — research and development
expenditure (Continued)

The amount initially recognised for internally-generated
intangible asset is the sum of the expenditure incurred from the
date when the intangible asset first meets the recognition criteria
listed above. Where no internally-generated intangible asset can
be recognised, development expenditure is recognised in profit or

loss in the period in which it is incurred.

Subsequent to initial recognition, internally-generated intangible
assets are reported at cost less accumulated amortisation and
accumulated impairment losses (if any), on the same basis as

intangible assets that are acquired separately.

Intangible assets acquired in a business combination

Intangible assets acquired in a business combination are
recognised separately from goodwill and are initially recognised
at their fair value at the acquisition date (which is regarded as

their cost).

Subsequent to initial recognition, intangible assets acquired in a
business combination with finite useful lives are reported at costs
less accumulated amortisation and any accumulated impairment
losses, on the same basis as intangible assets that are acquired
separately. Intangible assets acquired in a business combination
with indefinite useful lives are carried at cost less any

subsequent accumulated impairment losses.
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BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AND SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

3.2

Significant accounting policies (Continued)

Intangible assets (Continued)

Intangible assets acquired in a business combination (Continued)
An intangible asset is derecognised on disposal, or when no
future economic benefits are expected from use or disposal.
Gains and losses arising from derecognition of an intangible
asset, measured as the difference between the net disposal
proceeds and the carrying amount of the asset, are recognised in

profit or loss when the asset is derecognised.

Impairment on property, plant and equipment, right-of-use
assets and intangible assets other than goodwill

At the end of the reporting period, the Group reviews the
carrying amounts of its property, plant and equipment, right-of-
use assets, intangible assets with definite useful lives to
determine whether there is any indication that these assets have
suffered an impairment loss. If any such indication exists, the
recoverable amount of the relevant asset is estimated in order to
determine the extent of the impairment loss (if any). Intangible
assets with indefinite useful lives are tested for impairment at
least annually, and whenever there is an indication that they may

be impaired.

The recoverable amount of property, plant and equipment, right-
of-use assets, and intangible assets are estimated individually.
When it is not possible to estimate the recoverable amount
individually, the Group estimates the recoverable amount of the

cash-generating unit to which the asset belongs.

In testing a cash-generating unit for impairment, corporate assets
are allocated to the relevant cash-generating unit when a
reasonable and consistent basis of allocation can be established,
or otherwise they are allocated to the smallest group of cash
generating units for which a reasonable and consistent allocation
basis can be established. The recoverable amount is determined
for the cash-generating unit or group of cash-generating units to
which the corporate asset belongs, and is compared with the
carrying amount of the relevant cash-generating unit or group of

cash-generating units.
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For the year ended 31 March 2022 # % ~ & " " 4F=H =+ —H L4

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AND SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

3.2

Significant accounting policies (Continued)
Impairment on property, plant and equipment, right-of-use
assets and intangible assets other than goodwill (Continued)
Recoverable amount is the higher of fair value less costs of
disposal and value in use. In assessing value in use, the
estimated future cash flows are discounted to their present value
using a pre-tax discount rate that reflects current market
assessments of the time value of money and the risks specific to
the asset (or a cash-generating unit) for which the estimates of
future cash flows have not been adjusted.

If the recoverable amount of an asset (or a cash-generating unit)
is estimated to be less than its carrying amount, the carrying
amount of the asset (or a cash-generating unit) is reduced to its
recoverable amount. For corporate assets or portion of corporate
assets which cannot be allocated on a reasonable and consistent
basis to a cash-generating unit, the Group compares the carrying
amount of a group of cash-generating units, including the
carrying amounts of the corporate assets or portion of corporate
assets allocated to that group of cash-generating units, with the
recoverable amount of the group of cash-generating units. In
allocating the impairment loss, the impairment loss is allocated
first to reduce the carrying amount of any goodwill (if
applicable) and then to the other assets on a pro-rata basis based
on the carrying amount of each asset in the unit or the group of
cash-generating units. The carrying amount of an asset is not
reduced below the highest of its fair value less costs of disposal
(if measurable), its value in use (if determinable) and zero. The
amount of the impairment loss that would otherwise have been
allocated to the asset is allocated pro rata to the other assets of
the unit or the group of cash-generating units. An impairment
loss is recognised immediately in profit or loss.

Where an impairment loss subsequently reverses, the carrying
amount of the asset (or cash-generating unit or a group of cash-
generating units) is increased to the revised estimate of its
recoverable amount, but so that the increased carrying amount
does not exceed the carrying amount that would have been
determined had no impairment loss been recognised for the asset
(or a cash-generating unit or a group of cash-generating units) in
prior years. A reversal of an impairment loss is recognised
immediately in profit or loss.
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BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AND SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

3.2

Significant accounting policies (Continued)
Inventories

Inventories are stated at the lower of cost and net realisable
value. Costs of inventories are determined on a first-in, first-out
method. Net realisable value represents the estimated selling price
for inventories less all estimated costs of completion and costs
necessary to make the sale.

Financial instruments

Financial assets and financial liabilities are recognised when a
group entity becomes a party to the contractual provisions of the
instrument. All regular way purchases or sales of financial assets
are recognised and derecognised on a trade date basis. Regular
way purchases or sales are purchases or sales of financial assets
that require delivery of assets within the time frame established
by regulation or convention in the market place.

Financial assets and financial liabilities are initially measured at
fair value except for trade receivables arising from contracts with
customers which are initially measured in accordance with
HKFRS 15 Revenue from Contracts with Customers (“HKFRS
15”). Transaction costs that are directly attributable to the
acquisition or issue of financial assets and financial liabilities
(other than financial assets or financial liabilities at fair value
through profit or loss (“FVTPL”)) are added to or deducted from
the fair value of the financial assets or financial liabilities, as
appropriate, on initial recognition. Transaction costs directly
attributable to the acquisition of financial assets or financial
liabilities at FVTPL are recognised immediately in profit or loss.

The effective interest method is a method of calculating the
amortised cost of a financial asset or financial liability and of
allocating interest income and interest expense over the relevant
period. The effective interest rate is the rate that exactly
discounts estimated future cash receipts and payments (including
all fees and points paid or received that form an integral part of
the effective interest rate, transaction costs and other premiums
or discounts) through the expected life of the financial asset or
financial liability, or, where appropriate, a shorter period, to the

net carrying amount on initial recognition.
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BASIS OF PREPARATION OF 3. MMGTMBERERERLEKR
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 5Bk (4)

AND SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

3.2 Significant accounting policies (Continued) 32 EREFBUR ()

Financial instruments (Continued) s TR ()

Financial assets il & E

Classification and subsequent measurement of financial assets B RE E I B R AR R

Financial assets that meet the following conditions are TF A DA WA 1 4 & 7 AR

subsequently measured at amortised cost: S AR FH R

. the financial asset is held within a business model whose . F5A 4 e M FEBS A H
objective is to collect contractual cash flows; and HE A M A # B 5 ]

. the contractual terms give rise on specified dates to cash C B HRRA IR E HBIE AR
flows that are solely payments of principal and interest on Bl Ui AR 2y SAT AR 4 B AR AR
the principal amount outstanding. BAEHFE

All other financial assets are subsequently measured at fair value. AT At 4 il E AR AP E

oo

1) Amortised cost and interest income 1 e £ 1l AR AR A

Interest income is recognised using the effective interest A AR T 8 LA T 11 4 P
method for financial assets measured subsequently at BEM S o AL
amortised cost. Interest income is calculated by applying FIRIETERR o FLE AN B
the effective interest rate to the gross carrying amount of ) 25 R A 46 il 7 R TR A
a financial asset, except for financial assets that have FHEE o ME AR R 15 B E Y
subsequently become credit-impaired. For financial assets BRVEERSN o SEHAA A E
that have subsequently become credit-impaired, interest S ENSREEN S > FlE
income is recognised by applying the effective interest rate WA B P R 22 JEE 7 B
to the amortised cost of the financial asset from the next e L T Y 4 b 8 A
reporting period. If the credit risk on the credit-impaired AR o M5 B (E 5 Al TR
financial instrument improves so that the financial asset is HofE SR ek > DABGE
no longer credit-impaired, interest income is recognised by il AN T AR (R - R
applying the effective interest rate to the gross carrying IS TE 188 A S A
amount of the financial asset from the beginning of the 5 B E - I ERE RIS
reporting period following the determination that the asset T R BE GA AR R Y A R
is no longer credit-impaired. 7 W T ARL(EL R o
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BASIS OF PREPARATION OF 3. MG SMBERERE TR
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS & 5HBOR (48)

AND SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)
3.2 Significant accounting policies (Continued) 3.2
Financial instruments (Continued)
Financial assets (Continued)
Classification and subsequent measurement of financial assets
(Continued)
(i) _ Financial assets at FVTPL

Financial assets that do not meet the criteria for being

measured at amortised cost or fair value through other
comprehensive income (“FVTOCI”) or designated as
FVTOCI are measured at FVTPL.

Financial assets at FVTPL are measured at fair value at
the end of each reporting period, with any fair value gains
or losses recognised in profit or loss. The net gain or loss
recognised in profit or loss include any dividend or
interest earned on the financial asset and is included in the

“other income, gains and losses” line item.

Impairment of financial assets

The Group performs impairment assessment under expected
credit loss (“ECL”) model on financial assets (including trade
receivables and other receivables, promissory note receivables
and bank balances) which are subject to impairment assessment
under HKFRS 9. The amount of ECL is updated at each
reporting date to reflect changes in credit risk since initial

recognition.
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For the year ended 31 March 2022 # % ~ & " " 4F=H =+ —H L4

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AND SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

3.2

Significant accounting policies (Continued)

Financial instruments (Continued)

Financial assets (Continued)

Impairment of financial assets (Continued)

Lifetime ECL represents the ECL that will result from all
possible default events over the expected life of the relevant
instrument. In contrast, 12-month ECL (“12m ECL”) represents
the portion of lifetime ECL that is expected to result from
default events that are possible within 12 months after the
reporting date. Assessments are done based on the Group’s
historical credit loss experience, and factors that are specific to
the debtors, general economic conditions and an assessment of
both the current conditions at the reporting date as well as the

forecast of future conditions.

The Group always recognises lifetime ECL for trade receivables.

For all other instruments, the Group measures the loss allowance
equal to 12m ECL, unless there has been a significant increase in
credit risk since initial recognition, in which case the Group
recognises lifetime ECL. The assessment of whether lifetime
ECL should be recognised is based on significant increases in the

likelihood or risk of a default occurring since initial recognition.
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3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AND SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

3.2 Significant accounting policies (Continued)
Financial instruments (Continued)
Financial assets (Continued)
Impairment of financial assets (Continued)

i Significant increase in credit risk
In assessing whether the credit risk has increased
significantly since initial recognition, the Group compares
the risk of a default occurring on the financial instrument
as at the reporting date with the risk of a default occurring
on the financial instrument as at the date of initial
recognition. In making this assessment, the Group
considers both quantitative and qualitative information that
is reasonable and supportable, including historical
experience and forward-looking information that is

available without undue cost or effort.

In particular, the following information is taken into
account when assessing whether credit risk has increased

significantly:

. an actual or expected significant deterioration in the
financial instrument’s external (if available) or

internal credit rating;

. significant deterioration in external market indicators
of credit risk, e.g. a significant increase in the
credit spread, the credit default swap prices for the
debtor;

. existing or forecast adverse changes in business,
financial or economic conditions that are expected
to cause a significant decrease in the debtor’s

ability to meet its debt obligations;

. an actual or expected significant deterioration in the

operating results of the debtor;

126  Annual Report 2021/2022 4E

GRS 2 T VT DN

& wtBUR ()

3.2

R & wFBOR ()

SR (4)
A E ()

<6 O M (7D

() e B A R 3%

TR A 5 B R 1 40 46 RS LA
AR RIS > 52 B
A 0 < T B A Y
A JE gy BELA) e e . ) S <
TR 8 AR 1 7 4 R B A7 B
B o POEAT AT > AR
F R84 M H B IPEN E 8 KT
PEEORL -GS A R 22
ASESS g B AT REAT 48 1 KB

R s o el Sab s
KR IE NS €25 8 DL T EOR)

. B T RSN (A

B A A AT A B
BT B AL

. B T 3 £ B gt 15 A
B HR AL > A fE AT
ISE-PNIE DIV E Tt UN
HA A5 R A 3 R A%

. TR B AME R
(EE 3PN TN CibE S
5~ s sl AR DL Y
A SN FI 52 B

c i N AR S TR
CAEEIEE
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BASIS OF PREPARATION OF 3. MMGTMBERERERLEKR
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 5Bk (4)

AND SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

3.2 Significant accounting policies (Continued) 32 EREFBUR ()
Financial instruments (Continued) s TR ()
Financial assets (Continued) 2l G ()
Impairment of financial assets (Continued) Sl 7 ok L (A8
(i) Significant increase in credit risk (Continued) 1 A B0 g S Wi 1 (4
. an actual or expected significant adverse change in c R R A
the regulatory, economic, or technological e K R BEAE B A
environment of the debtor that results in a B R R AT B B
significant decrease in the debtor’s ability to meet 7B I B TR A ORI
its debt obligations. B o
Irrespective of the outcome of the above assessment, the Ay bt AL &S AR A > E A
Group presumes that the credit risk has increased )4 Foam BB 30 H o A4k
significantly since initial recognition when contractual I BIMER S A B g B )25 R
payments are more than 30 days past due, unless the DIARCLBEE RN - B JE A [
Group has reasonable and supportable information that T A E A R 2 R R
demonstrates otherwise. S A H B A B o
The Group regularly monitors the effectiveness of the 7 B2 [ 5 1 B 5 A LB
criteria used to identify whether there has been a A A K B 0 F R YR B 2
significant increase in credit risk and revises them as ETI (N R RV AR R
appropriate to ensure that the criteria are capable of D e A Y R i A il
identifying significant increase in credit risk before the A B R B K R g

amount becomes past due.

(ii) _ Definition of default (i) L) EFE

For internal credit risk management, the Group considers TR RS SRR T A
an event of default occurs when information developed EETRE > BA)FAAE N F S
internally or obtained from external sources indicates that FE B A A1 TR ) R R
the debtor is unlikely to pay its creditors, including the BB NS K AT R 7% B ) LA
Group, in full (without taking into account any collaterals N (BLFEAS AL ) 43k CRET &
held by the Group). A 8 BT 5 A AT R AT ) R
H oo

Irrespective of the above, the Group considers that default AN b SO R s A 4R R
has occurred when a financial asset is more than 90 days By o BRI G A B 0 A
past due unless the Group has reasonable and supportable 90K IRF#E A4 » BRIE AL H A
information to demonstrate that a more lagging default A3 H LR R N 0
criterion is more appropriate. 15 1 7 #) A HE TR Sy A5 o
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BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AND SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)
3.2 Significant accounting policies (Continued)
Financial instruments (Continued)
Financial assets (Continued)
Impairment of financial assets (Continued)
(iii) _ Credit-impaired financial assets
A financial asset is credit-impaired when one or more
events that have a detrimental impact on the estimated
future cash flows of that financial asset have occurred.
Evidence that a financial asset is credit-impaired includes

observable data about the following events:

(a)  significant financial difficulty of the issuer or the

borrower;

(b) a breach of contract, such as a default or past due

event;

(c) the lender(s) of the borrower, for economic or
contractual reasons relating to the borrower’s
financial difficulty, having granted to the borrower
a concession(s) that the lender(s) would not

otherwise consider; and

(d) it is becoming probable that the borrower will enter

bankruptcy or other financial reorganization.

(iv)  Write-off policy

The Group writes off a financial asset when there is
information indicating that the counterparty is in severe
financial difficulty and there is no realistic prospect of
recovery, for example, when the counterparty has been
placed under liquidation or has entered into bankruptcy
proceedings. Financial assets written off may still be
subject to enforcement activities under the Group’s
recovery procedures, taking into account legal advice
where appropriate. A write-off constitutes a derecognition
event. Any subsequent recoveries are recognised in profit

or loss.
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BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AND SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

3.2 Significant accounting policies (Continued)

Financial instruments (Continued)

Financial assets (Continued)

Impairment of financial assets (Continued)

)

Measurement and recognition of ECL

The measurement of ECL is a function of the probability
of default, loss given default (i.e. the magnitude of the
loss if there is a default) and the exposure at default. The
assessment of the probability of default and loss given
default is based on historical data and forward-looking
information. Estimation of ECL reflects an unbiased and
probability-weighted amount that is determined with the

respective risks of default occurring as the weights.

Generally, the ECL is the difference between all
contractual cash flows that are due to the Group in
accordance with the contract and the cash flows that the
Group expects to receive, discounted at the effective

interest rate determined at initial recognition.

Lifetime ECL for certain trade receivables are considered
on a collective basis taking into consideration past due
information and relevant credit information such as

forward looking macroeconomic information.
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BASIS OF PREPARATION OF

CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AND SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(CONTINUED)

3.2 Significant accounting policies (Continued)
Financial instruments (Continued)
Financial assets (Continued)

Impairment of financial assets (Continued)

(v)  Measurement and recognition of ECL (Continued)

For collective assessment, the Group takes into

consideration the following characteristics when

formulating the grouping:

. Past-due status;
. Nature, size and industry of debtors; and
. External credit ratings where available.

The grouping is regularly reviewed by management to

ensure the constituents of each group continue to share

similar credit risk characteristics.

Interest income is calculated based on the gross carrying
amount of the financial asset unless the financial asset is

credit-impaired, in which case interest income is calculated

based on amortised cost of the financial asset.
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BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AND SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

3.2

Significant accounting policies (Continued)
Financial instruments (Continued)
Financial assets (Continued)

Impairment of financial assets (Continued)

() Measurement and recognition of ECL (Continued)

The Group recognises an impairment gain or loss in profit
or loss for all financial instruments by adjusting their
carrying amount, with the exception of trade and other
receivables where the corresponding adjustment is

recognised through a loss allowance account.

Derecognition/modification of financial assets

The Group derecognises a financial asset only when the
contractual rights to the cash flows from the asset expire, or
when it transfers the financial asset and substantially all the risks

and rewards of ownership of the asset to another entity.

On derecognition of a financial asset measured at amortised cost,
the difference between the asset’s carrying amount and the sum
of the consideration received and receivable is recognised in

profit or loss.

A modification of a financial asset occurs if the contractual cash

flows are renegotiated or otherwise modified.

‘When the contractual terms of a financial asset are modified, the
Group assesses whether the revised terms result in a substantial
modification from original terms taking into account all relevant
facts and circumstances including qualitative factors. If
qualitative assessment is not conclusive, the Group considers the
terms are substantially different if the discounted present value of
the cash flows under the new terms, including any fees paid net